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Chairman'’s Statement
TERES

On behalf of the Board of Directors of CNNC International Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), |
present the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31st
December, 2022 (the “Year”). | am pleased to report, due to the
significant increase in revenue generated from the trading of
uranium corresponded to sales of natural uranium and the
facilitation of trades of natural uranium during the Year, the Group

has substantially improved its profit position for the Year.

The year of 2021 (“2021" or the “2021 Year”) was a difficult year
for the Group. Trading in the shares had been suspended with
effect from 9:00 a.m. on 30th April, 2021, pending the publication
of the audited consolidated results of the Company for FY2020. | am
pleased to report that all the resumption guidance, which were
imposed on the Company by the Stock Exchange as disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 28th May, 2021 and 29th
November, 2021, in the
announcement of the Company dated 17th October, 2022. Trading
in the shares of the Company has since been resumed at 9:00 a.m.
on 18th October, 2022.

have been fulfilled as disclosed

CNNC International Limited 2022 Annual Report
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BUSINESS

During the Year, the Group has continued its business of trading of
uranium products in its normal and usual course of business. The
Company has been focusing and developing its uranium products
trading business, and to actively seek high-quality uranium resources
with
complement the development of its parent group, as well as to

projects, intended focus on in-production projects, to
leverage on the strengths of the parent group in the field of nuclear

energy.

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 23rd
February, 2022, 26th May, 2022 and 23rd June, 2022, and circular
of the Company dated 31st May, 2022, the Company (for itself and
on behalf of each of its subsidiaries) and China National Uranium
Limited (FE#MZEAR A F) (“CNUC”), an indirect
holding company of the Company, (for itself and on behalf of each
of its subsidiaries (other than the Group) (“CNUC Group"”)) entered
into a continuing connected transactions framework agreement
("FA"™),
prioritised supplier of CNUC Group for its short term demand for

Corporation,

pursuant to which the Group agreed to i) act as the

natural uranium products and the regional sole supplier of CNUC
Group for its medium-to-long-term demand for natural uranium
products; and ii) act as the exclusive authorised distributor for the
sale and distribution of uranium products produced by the Rossing
uranium mine (being indirectly owned by CNUC as to approximately
68.62%), for on-sale to third party customers in all countries and
regions around the world except the PRC. On 23rd June, 2022, the
FA, the transactions contemplated thereunder, and the proposed
annual caps under the Continuing Connected Transactions have
been approved by the independent shareholders of the Company at
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

The substantial increase in trading volume during the Year was
attributable to,
performance of the uranium market in general, the upward trend of

among other factors, the improved market
uranium market price during the Year as well as the Group’s efforts
in developing its uranium trading business, including the execution
of uranium trading transactions with CNUC under the FA (as
supplemented, modified or otherwise amended from time to time),
which constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Company. The uranium market has been notably improved during
the Year, which contributed to the significant increase in the overall
gross profit for the Year as the Group concluded considerably
sizeable uranium transactions in the Year.

Chalrman’S Statement (continued)
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Chairman’s Statement (ontines
TEHREE

VIEWS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE AND THE
BOARD ON THE AUDITORS’ OPINION

As set out in the report of the auditor of the Company (the
“Auditor”) for the 2022 financial statements, the Auditor’'s opinion
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the Year was
qualified because of the possible effects of the mentioned matter as
set out in the Auditor’s opinion on the comparability of the current
year’s figure and the corresponding figure for the year ended 31st
December, 2021 in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the year ended 31st December,
2022 and the related disclosures relating to the discontinued
operation in these financial statements.

For the views of the audit committee of the Company and the
Board on the qualified opinion on the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31st December, 2022, please refer to
the paragraph headed “Views of the Audit Committee and the
Board on the Auditor's Opinion” of the final results announcement
of the Company for the year ended 31st December, 2021 dated 9th
September, 2022.

RESULTS

For the Year, the Group generated revenue from trading of uranium
of approximately HK$891,506,000 (2021 Year: approximately
HK$280,639,000), corresponding to sales of approximately 2.53
million pounds of natural uranium (of which approximately 2.00
million pounds were sold under trades with independent third
parties and approximately 0.53 million pounds were sold to the
parent group under the FA. For the Year, the Group also initiated
facilitation of trades of 1.80 million pounds of natural uranium for
Rdssing uranium mine under the FA, which brought in commission
income of approximately HK$14,224,000 (2021 Year: Nil) for the
Group in the four-month period after the approval of the FA.
During the Year, the Group has substantial improvement in its
business of trading uranium products and recorded a gross profit of
approximately HK$102,792,000 (2021 Year: approximately
HK$20,610,000).

The Group has substantially improved its profit position and
reported a net profit for the Year of approximately HK$80,843,000
(2021 Year: approximately HK$2,389,000), mainly driven by, among
other things: (i) a gross profit of approximately HK$102,792,000
(2021 Year: approximately HK$20,610,000) from the continuing
operations of the trading of uranium products; (i) a share of profit
from an associate of approximately HK$25,084,000 (2021 Year:
approximately HK$15,065,000); and (iii) a reduction in finance costs
to approximately HK$8,602,000 (2021 Year: approximately
HK$9,834,000). The total comprehensive income for the Year
attributable to owners of the Company has increased to
approximately HK$56,953,000 (2021 Year: approximately
HK$25,588,000).

CNNC International Limited 2022 Annual Report

EEZEEREERH A
ERBORR

BN R EZEA ([(ZEMmD 2=
HHERODAENRSEME  ZBMEAEER
RAFENGEVHEBREBFREER - JhH
RIZERMERMRLNSEIE e Z22#
ET - FF+A=T—HIEFENLEE
BalkHEMmrERERANAFEEHT LA
EE - FF+ A=+ —HLEFEHEEH
FTROAULEARZETEREREEC KR LEE
THH R -

BRAARRERZECEREZRMBE_ZT
T CFT A=t HIEFESEMBRE
MRBERZAER H2HAHAR-ZT_—
FANANBZARBBE-T-_—F+=-A
St BLFERFRERATRNIERERER
SEREERYURBMERNER| —K-

¥i5
ARFEE REERBERZDPESHORALE
#891,506,000L (= T — — & : f9 B &

280,639,0007T) * 18 & 7 85 & %92,530,000%%
%%ﬁm(ﬁﬂiﬂmooooooa%m%ﬁ;ﬁiﬁj%:
FHR 5% 49530,000% 18 1 1E 28 1 3%

HEFERRIER - AFE - ZLVEEIME%F
ER % E F AR FMBEEA1,800,0008 X
R Z RIEERBEEMEEZIBEAR -

B B R 4 814,224,000 (= &
——F ENASKRA - ANEE  AEER
HEMESEB A EARANNRE  58E
F #4978 #102,792,000C (Z T = —F : 4978
#20,610,0007T) °

AREBEENRRKRERE  NFEEHREH

478 %£80,843,0007C (ZZF = —4F : 48K
2,389,0007T) ' Jh £ B /A R (H B B 3E) ()R
AR EGEEBNRAHMEZNEFNLNBE
102,792,000t (= & = — F: 4 & &
20,610,0007T): (i) fE 15 5%%/&75’955&%%’9;‘%
125,084,000 (= & = — F: 4 & &
15,065,0007T) : (i) Bf 7 Bk Z< 35k 4> &= 49 %
#8,602,000c( = & = — F: 4 & &
9,834,0007T) - AFEM AR A HESE AEL

2 | A B K8 N E %) 7% #56,953,0007T
(ZZ ——1F . %45 %25,588,0007T) °



BUSINESS PROSPECTS

The Group has recorded substantial increase in trading volume
during the Year, and will continue to devote its available resources
to the development of the uranium products trading business and to
actively seek high-quality uranium resources projects, with an
intended focus on in-production projects, to complement the
development of its parent group, as well as to leverage on the

strengths of the parent group in the field of nuclear energy.

The Group believes the transactions contemplated under the FA are
in line with the Group’s strategic pursuit of becoming CNUC
Group’s major platform in overseas uranium resources exploration,
development and trading, and would facilitate the Group in further
strengthening its uranium trading business and expand its reach into
the PRC and worldwide market, which in turn would enhance the
Group's profitability in the long run. The continuing connected
transactions contemplated under the FA are expected to occur on a
regular and continuing basis and in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group.

Being a member of CNUC Group and having considered the
competitive edges of the Group, the Group would be considered to
be in a better strategic position to be designated as the
procurement arm of CNUC Group in the international uranium
market. To further enlarge its business scale of the Group, the
Group will continue to actively participate in international market
bidding, increase its market exposure, and explore various financing
channels and possible investment opportunities in uranium resources
to complement the expansion of uranium trade.

Wang Cheng
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30th March, 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEHRR DM

MARKET AND BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Results

For the Year, the Group has recorded a significant increase in
revenue of approximately 223% to approximately HK$905,730,000
(2021 Year: approximately HK$280,639,000), while gross profit has
increased by 399% to approximately HK$102,792,000 (2021 Year:
approximately HK$20,610,000) as compared to the 2021
Please refer to the section “Operations Review” below for detailed

Year.

explanations of the significant increase.

Market and Business Overview

During the Year, the global natural uranium market has experienced
multiple geopolitical
continuously impacted by the growing uncertainty of the Russian

events and the spot market has been

Ukraine conflict, global inflation and recessionary concerns, and the
emergence of investors’ interest in natural uranium. The spot market
has ushered in the “bull market” during the Year and the spot price
of natural uranium had soared to its historically high level at over
US$63/lb U0, since the Fukushima accident. Subsequently, the spot
price. of natural uranium fluctuated between US$45/lb U0, and
US$55/Ib U0, in the second half of the Year, and settled at
approximately US$48/lb U,O, at the end of the Year. The uranium
term market has remained steady, with the long-term uranium
contracting price of natural uranium hovered around US$40/lb U0,
at the beginning of the Year, and gradually rose to US$51/Ib U0,
at the end of the Year.

CNNC International Limited 2022 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis conined
BEEBNRR I @

During the Year, the Group has continued its business of trading of
uranium products in its normal and usual course of business. The
Company has been focusing and developing its uranium products
trading business, and to actively seek high-quality uranium resources
projects to complement the development of its parent group, as well
as to leverage on the strengths of the parent group. The Group has
benefited from both the improved market performance of the
natural uranium market in general and the upward trend of uranium
market price during the Year as mentioned above. For the Year, the
Group generated revenue from trading of uranium of approximately
HK$891,506,000 (2021 Year: approximately HK$280,639,000),
corresponding to sales of approximately 2.53 million pounds of
natural uranium (of which approximately 2.00 million pounds were
sold under trades with independent third parties and approximately
0.53 million pounds were sold to the parent group under the
continuing connected transactions framework agreement which took
effect from June 2022). For the Year, the Group also initiated
facilitation of trades of 1.80 million pounds of natural uranium for
Rossing uranium mine under the continuing connected transactions
framework agreement, which brought in commission income of
approximately HK$14,224,000 (2021 Year: Nil) for the Group in the
four-month period after the approval of the continuing connected
transactions framework agreement.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 13th
November, 2020, the Group was unsuccessful in the appeal to the
lawsuit relating to the Mongolian Mining Project. However, on 29th
October, 2020, a working committee (“Committee”) including,
amongst others, representatives from the Mineral Resources and
Petroleum Authority of Mongolia (“MRPAM", the respondent of the
lawsuit) was set up with a view to help resolve the disputes
regarding the expiry of the exploration licenses of the Group. The
management believes it is a positive sign of the MRPAM's intention
towards resolving the disputes, though at this stage, there is no
guarantee that the matter shall be resolved in favour of the Group.
The Company is closely monitoring the progress of the lawsuit and
the work of the Committee and will make further announcement(s)
as and when appropriate.

The associate of the Group (Société des Mines d'Azelik S.A.
(“Somina™)) is still facing severe cash flow problems and will not be
able to resume production within a short period of time. The Group
will closely monitor the situation and continue to work with the
other shareholders of Somina for its future plans.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (ontines
BEEENRR DM

Operations Review

During the Year, the Group had “Revenue” and “Cost of Sales”
from the continuing operations of the trading of natural uranium of
approximately HK$905,730,000 (2021 Year: approximately
HK$280,639,000) and HK$802,938,000 (2021 Year: approximately
HK$260,029,000) respectively, an increase of approximately 223%
for “Revenue” and 209% for “Cost of Sales”, which resulted in
“Gross Profit” of approximately HK$102,792,000 (2021 Year:
approximately HK$20,610,000) as compared to the 2021 Year. The
significant increase in revenue was primarily attributable to the
trading of uranium of approximately HK$891,506,000,
corresponding to sales of approximately 2.53 million pounds of
natural uranium (of which approximately 2.00 million pounds were
sold under trades with independent third parties and approximately
0.53 million pounds were sold to the parent group), and facilitating
the trades of 1.80 million pounds of natural uranium for Rossing
uranium mine which brought in commission income of
approximately HK$14,224,000 for the Group. The increased trading
volume was attributable to, among other factors, the improved
market performance of the uranium market in general, the upward
trend of uranium market price during the Year as well as the
Group's efforts in developing its uranium trading business, including
the execution of uranium trading transactions with CNUC under the
FA (as supplemented, modified or otherwise amended from time to
time), which constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Company. The uranium market has been notably improved during
the Year, which contributed to the significant increase in the overall
gross profit for the Year as the Group concluded considerably
sizeable uranium transactions in the Year.
The Group has substantially improved its profit position and
reported a net profit for the Year of approximately HK$80,843,000
(2021 Year: approximately HK$2,389,000) as compared to the 2021
Year, mainly driven by, among other things: (i) a gross profit of
approximately HK$102,792,000 (2021 Year: approximately
HK$20,610,000) from the continuing operations of the trading of
natural uranium; (i) a share of profit from an associate of
approximately HK$25,084,000 in the Year (2021 Year: approximately
HK$15,065,000);
approximately HK$8,602,000 in the Year (2021 Year: approximately
HK$9,834,000).

and (iii) a reduction in finance costs to

“Other income and gains and losses, net”, of approximately
HK$3,938,000 (2021 Year: approximately HK$3,240,000), was mainly
due to the increase of bank interest income for the Year.

CNNC International Limited 2022 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis conined
BEEENWR DM

“Net exchange (losses) gains” of losses of approximately
HK$2,339,000 were recorded during the Year (2021 Year: gains of
approximately HK$892,000) which were mainly attributable to the
differences resulting from the depreciation in Renminbi against Hong
Kong dollars on the carrying amount of assets denominated in
Renminbi.

“Selling and distribution expenses” has increased by approximately
149% to approximately HK$1,593,000 (2021 Year: approximately
HK$639,000) due to higher overall uranium trading activities in the
Year as compared to the 2021 Year.

“Administrative expenses” amounted to approximately
HK$31,190,000 (2021 Year: approximately HK$26,255,000), which
has increased by approximately 19%, as the Group had incurred
additional professional fees during the Year for concluding the
independent review on the causes of the loss on inventory write-
down in relation to the discontinued supply chain business (with the
last transaction entered into in late 2020 and discontinued in first
half of 2021), combined with the increase of total staff costs during
the Year as compared to the 2021 Year.

Following the merger of our associate, CNNC Financial Leasing
Company Limited (“CNNC Leasing”), with another financial leasing
company within our parent group in December 2020, our interest in
the associate was diluted to approximately 11.36% (of the enlarged
capital). The Group recorded “share of result of an associate” of
profits of approximately HK$25,084,000 (2021 Year: approximately
HK$15,065,000), an increase of approximately 67%, as the financial
results of the associate have shown significant improvement since
the merger.

During the Year, the Group incurred “Finance costs” of
approximately HK$8,602,000 (2021: approximately HK$9,834,000)
mainly arising from interests incurred on “Loan from immediate
holding company” utilized in the investment in an associate, a
moderate reduction of approximately 13% due to a decrease in
interest expenses charged to the Group.

During the Year, “Income tax expense”
HK$7,247,000 was (2021
HK$2,457,000). The increase was primarily attributable to the
increase in taxable profit and the PRC withholding tax paid on

of approximately

provided Year: approximately

dividend received from an associate.
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TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE
YEAR

Summing up the combined effects of the foregoing, net income for
the Year amounted to approximately HK$80,843,000 (2021 Year:
approximately HK$2,389,000). After having taken into account of
the other comprehensive expense of approximately HK$23,890,000
(2021 Year: income of approximately HK$23,199,000) relating to
exchange differences arising from the translation to presentation
currency, and share of exchange difference of an associate, the total
comprehensive income for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$56,953,000 (2021 Year: approximately HK$25,588,000).

FUTURE STRATEGIES

As set out in the sub-section headed “Market and Business
Overview” above, The Group focuses on and will continue to devote
its available resources to the development of the uranium products
trading business, and to actively seek high-quality uranium resources
with

complement the development of its parent group, as well as to

projects, intended focus on in-production projects, to
leverage on the strengths of the parent group in the field of nuclear

energy.

“BUSINESS” on
page 5 of the Chairman’s Statement, the Company and CNUC

As set out in the aforementioned section headed
entered into a continuing connected transactions framework
agreement.

The Group believes the transactions contemplated under the FA are
in line with the Group’s strategic pursuit of becoming CNUC
Group’s major platform in overseas uranium resources exploration,
development and trading, and would facilitate the Group in further
strengthening its uranium trading business and expand its reach into
the PRC and worldwide market, which in turn would enhance the
Group's profitability in the long run. The continuing connected
transactions contemplated under the FA are expected to occur on a
regular and continuing basis and in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group.
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Being a member of CNUC Group and having considered the
competitive edges of the Group, the Group would be considered to
be in a better strategic position to be designated as the
procurement arm of CNUC Group in the international uranium
market. To further enlarge its business scale of the Group, the
Group will continue to actively participate in international market
bidding, increase its market exposure, and explore various financing
channels to complement the expansion of uranium trade. During the
Year, the Group has been actively exploring trading opportunities
with new business partner(s) with the aim of further expanding our
collaborating business partner base and continuously growing our
uranium trading business.

In relation to the Group’s Mongolian Mining Project, the Group will
continue to be engaged in the discussion with the Mongolian
Authority to resolve the expiry issue of the exploration licenses of
the Group's investment in its uranium resources project in Mongolia.
The project has not been, to a material extent, adversely affected by
its slow progress.

In the long run, the Group also aims to expand and diversify its
business by leveraging on the strengths of CNUC Group, in the field
of nuclear energy, to develop projects with reasonable returns and
continues to explore possible investment opportunities in uranium
resources considering the financial health of the Company, the
overall global uranium market supply and demand dynamics.

The Company will inform shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) on any major development of the business of the
Group in a timely manner and in accordance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
As at 31st December, 2022, the Group employed 23 (2021 Year:
22) full-time employees of whom 5 (2021 Year: 5) were based in
Hong Kong, 14 (2021 Year: 13) were based in the PRC and 4 (2021
Year: 4) were based in Mongolia. Total staff costs incurred during
the Year amounted to approximately HK$18,691,000 (2021 Year:
approximately HK$16,260,000).

Remuneration policies and packages for the Group’s employees are
based on their performance, working experiences and conditions
prevailing in the industry. Depending on the financial results of the
Group and the performance of individual employees, eligible staff
may also be granted discretionary performance bonuses, in addition
to basic salaries, retirement schemes and medical benefit schemes.
To raise work quality and management abilities of its employees, the
Group provides job rotation, in-house training and external training
courses to employees.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
The Group recorded a net cash
HK$14,980,000 (2021 Year: net cash outflow of approximately
HK$23,847,000) during the Year, which was mainly due to the
receipt of cash dividend from an associate and the income earned

inflow of approximately

from operating activities. The working capital of the Group was
generally financed by bank balance and cash. The Group’s cash on
hand and bank balances increased from approximately
HK$120,625,000 as at 31st December, 2021 to approximately
HK$130,732,000 as at 31st December, 2022. The Group’s financial
position remained healthy in the Year.

As at 31st December, 2022, the Group had net current assets
amounting to approximately HK$134,991,000 (as at 31st December,
2021: approximately HK$96,234,000)
amounting to approximately HK$73,318,000 (as at 31st December,
2021: approximately HK$40,016,000). As at 31st December, 2022,
the Group had no trade receivable (as at 31st December, 2021: Nil)
Nil).
expenditures on property, plant and equipment were approximated
HK$224,000 during the Year (2021
HK$281,000).

and current liabilities

and no trade payable (at 31st December, 2021: Capital

Year: approximately
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Total shareholders’ funds increased from approximately
HK$334,655,000 as at 31st December, 2021 to approximately
HK$391,608,000 as at 31st December, 2022, mainly due to the total
comprehensive income during the Year. The gearing ratio, in terms
of total debts to total assets, decreased to 0.40 (as at 31st
December, 2021: 0.44) as at 31st December, 2022 due to a partial
repayment in amount due to an immediate holding company during
the Year.

On 17th June, 2022, CNNC Treasury Management Co. Limited
("CNNCTM") (the
Agreement”) with the Company, pursuant to which CNNCTM

entered into a loan agreement “Loan
agreed to provide a revolving loan for a maximum principal amount
of US$50,000,000 (the “Trade Loan”) to the Company with a
drawdown period of one year, during which the Company can make
multiple drawdowns in accordance with the terms of the Trade
CNNCTM

Corporation (“CNNC", together with its subsidiaries but excluding

Loan. is a subsidiary of China National Nuclear

the Group, the “Parent Group”), which in turn is the ultimate
controlling shareholder (has the meaning ascribed to it under the
Listing Rules) of the Company holding an indirect interest in
approximately 66.72% of the issued share capital of the Company.
As such, the Trade Loan constituted a connected transaction for the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule
14A.90 of the Listing Rules, financial assistance received by the
Company from a connected person is fully exempt if it is conducted
on normal commercial terms or better and it is not secured by the
assets of the Group.

Under the terms of the Loan Agreement, the interest rate of any
amount drawn down from the Trade Loan shall be subject to an
interest rate charge of LIBOR + 1.60% per annum, which is the
same as the interest rate under similar bank facilities the Group had
obtained in recent years (prior to the repayment in full of its last
outstanding trade loan in November 2020), and shall be utilized
solely for the purpose of the Group’s uranium trading business. No
financial or other covenants are required to be given by the Group,
and the Trade Loan would not be secured by assets of the Group.
As such, the Trade Loan is fully exempt from all disclosure, annual
review, circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The Trade Loan demonstrates the commitment and full support of
the Parent Group towards the Group in its future development in
the uranium trading business. The Directors believed the Trade Loan
would provide financial support to the Group to enlarge its uranium
trading business.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, Mainland China, and

Mongolia. The Group’s income, expenditure for operation,
investment, and borrowings are mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollar, Renminbi, United States dollar, and Mongolian Tugrik. The
Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management will monitor foreign exchange exposure and
consider hedging significant currency exposure should the need

arise.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no significant change in the capital structure of the
Group since 31st December, 2021.

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED
COMPANIES

There were no material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and
associated companies for the Year.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

The 37.2% of the share capital in Somina held by a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, Ideal Mining Limited, was pledged to a
bank for banking facilities granted to Somina.

Apart from the above, there was no other charge on the Group’s
assets during the Year and the 2021 Year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

During the Year, the Group did not hold any significant investment
in equity interest in any other company.

PURCHASE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SHARES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR

There are no other important events occurred subsequent to the
Year.
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SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

This is the sixth Environment, Social and Governance Report
published by the Group, which highlights the Group’s overall
performance in the environmental, social and governance aspects.
The Report was prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide set out in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules and Guidance on

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Unless otherwise stated, this environmental and social report covers
the overall performance of Hong Kong headquarter, Shenzhen
office, Beijing office, and Mongolia office for the year ended 31st

December, 2022 in the two main areas: environmental and social.

Reporting Principles
This ESG Report is based on the following four reporting principles:

Materiality: Stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment
were conducted to identify material ESG issues, and to ensure that
these issues are addressed in the report.

Quantitative: Data presented in this ESG Report have been collected
prudently. Please refer to the environmental and social performance
data for standards and methodologies used for calculation of key
performance indicators.

Balance: Both positive and negative sides of the performance have
been presented in a transparent manner.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the disclosures, data collection
and calculation methods have remained consistent throughout the
years to facilitate comparability over time.
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ENGAGING OUR STAKEHOLDERS

The Group has made every effort to engage all of its stakeholders,

HihERFSE
ARE-ERNEFERBERTFAE
hRERRRREE BT BP HEH
REBAEBHE BRI REET®E BAR
HE UERTRERENRS -

Bk

including shareholders and investors, employees, customers, suppliers
and business partners, government and regulators, the environment
and the community to achieve sustainable development.

A. Environmental A.
Types of emissions the Group has involved in the reporting

=
AEBRBREBEETESRENRK
REPWER - REB 2 EBIL D
MXBFERERMREZ EERHA
ZZRCKERLHITER

period were mainly electricity and paper. The Group's business
does not involve in production-related air, water, and land
pollutions which are regulated under national laws and

regulations.

AEBZEEEMEARISFEHK(ZE
Z—F:33B3FFK)-EAFP BHERL
BRI EE SRR EERS S
PREENEZEEES B A14TFFT K
130F 75 oK ~ 22F 5K R89F oK (=
T —F:114F T K 130F 5K
22F K 89F 5 K) e

Total floor area coverage for the Group was 355 sgq.m (2021:
333 sg.m). Of which the floor area coverage for Hong Kong
headquarter, Shenzhen office, Beijing office, and Mongolia
office was 114 sgq.m, 130 sg.m., 22 sg.m. and 89 sq.m (2021:
114 sq.m., 130 sq.m., 22 sq.m. and 89 sg.m.) respectively.

Greenhouse Gas Emission

il E F A2 B

18

Scope of greenhouse
gas emission

Emission sources

Emission
(in tonnes of CO,e)

Total emission
(in percentage)

HERE HHWE
BERBHEREE HE UK R (W S (LB E Eat) (BqLE)
2022 2021 2022 2021
—®'=-= T —®'=-= - —4F
Scope 1
#EN
Indirect emission Purchased electricity
4 BE BHR 9.88 10.94 89.36% 92.87%
Scope 2
#[E?2
Other indirect emission Paper consumption
H Ath, ] 5 BE AR5k H R 1.18 0.84 10.64% 7.13%
Total
e Et 11.06 11.78 100% 100%
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A. Environmental (continved) A. IR\
Greenhouse gas emission intensity mEREHBEE
Unit 2022 2021
B (i —T-= T
Total greenhouse gas MERBETNE() tCO,e
emission (a) WS IRE 2 11.05 11.78
Total floor area of FTBEZE ZREEMBED) sq.m
coverage (b) K 355 355
Emission intensity (c)=(a)/(b) HE % [Z (c)=(a)/(b) tCO,e/sq.m
5 KR
—RtRE=R 0.03 0.03

There were approximately 11.05 tonnes (2021: 11.78 tonnes)
of carbon dioxide equivalent greenhouse gases emitted from
the Group’s operation in the reporting period. The annual
emission intensity was approximately 0.03 tCO,e/sq.m (2021:
0.03 tCO,e/sq.m).

Electricity

The electricity consumption by the Group was approximately
14,068 kWh (2021: 15,580 kWh), contributing to
approximately 9.88 tonnes (2021: 10.94 tonnes) of carbon
dioxide equivalent.

The Group always uses energy savings electrical equipment,
encourages employees to save energy and enhances electrical
equipment efficiency.

AEBEBRREPHEZEZTREH
MEH B0 (—ZT ——4F:11.78
W) —afbEE FEHRBENR
B H KOO —EbirEE(ZE
T F 00 _RILREE) -

)
REBZHEEENA14,068TEE (=
T — 4 :15580F BB) - 15 — &1t
REEZH9.88ME(ZF = —4 : 10.94
M) o

AEBRNFEAEERARE L
BEIHNER ReERELAK
R-BHHBBEERE -

FREBEARAR T _FFR

19



Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance Report oniines
RIZ- HEREEERBE @

A. Environmental (continved) A REw
Paper Hik
A total of approximately 0.27 tonne (2021: 0.2 tonne) of AEBHELERBHKERLN K027
paper was used for daily office operations by the Group in the ZEZ—F:020)  EZE iRE
reporting period, contributing to approximately 1.18 tonne BZHN8ME (T = —4F : 0.84MF) °
(2021: 0.84 tonne) of carbon dioxide equivalent.

RNE BB EACH D BEAKRE
ERETHRAE@MINED -

The Group encourages paperless office environment, reducing
the paper usage and requests double-sided printing. FA B8R
Reduction target of energy and paper HEREAZTENEBE
consumption intensity

Environmental Indicators Reduction Target Baseline Year Status
RIRER LRSI BEEF ik &
Energy consumption intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2027 2022 In progress
HeemE ZEZEFRRA2% —T-— TR
Paper consumption intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2027 2022 In progress
REETE “ECEFRRA2% S EITH
The Environment and Natural Resources IRE AER

$%I§§Eﬂ’£\%§1@,\ 2 B A R FR 2 Y

The Group encourages all employees to participate in different

20

kinds of recycling activities and minimise the use of natural
resources. In the Year, there is no significant impact on the
environment and natural resources arising from the operations
of the Group, in particular, the office.

Climate Change

The business activities of the Company are intended for the
solution to combat the effect of the climate change as the
Company is involved in the provision of uranium products to
nuclear power plants. Nuclear power had already been proven
to be means of clean energy which is a measure to control
carbon dioxide emission as compared to power generated by
fossil fuel.

Awareness over climate change continues to grow and is one
of the most discussed topics among companies. The Group is
of no exception, having increasing concerns over the potential
impact from climate change on the Group’s business and
operation. The Group regularly reviews global and local
government policies, regulatory updates and market trends to
identify potential climate-related risks which may have impact
on the Group’s business operation.
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A.

Environmental (continued)

Climate Change (continued)

In accordance with the reporting framework developed by the
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, there are
two major categories of climate-related risks, physical and
transition risks. The Group will immediately develop a response
plan such as changing the business strategy and modifying the
development plan in order to reduce the negative impacts of
such climate-related risks.

The Group will continuously incorporate sustainable practices in
its business operations and prepare and maintain sufficient
resources for managing identified climate-related risks and
studying the potential remediation measures.

During the Year, there is no climate-related risk, including
physical and transitional risks, which have significant impact to
the Group.

Social

(1) Employment and labour practices
In its ongoing pursuit of the aim of “Taking People as
the Foremost”, the Group strictly abides by the
requirements stipulated in the relevant employment laws
and regulations regarding compensation, benefits and
dismissal, such as the Labour Law of the PRC ({/ # A
RHEMBEI L EE)), Labour Contract Law of the PRC
KhZEARKXMEL S A [ L)), the Employment
Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Employees’
Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong.
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B.

Social (continued)
(1) Employment and labour practices (continued)

As an equal opportunity employer, all job applicants with
relevant professional qualifications and working
experience receive equal consideration for employment,
regardless of nationality, gender, age, race, religion or
disability. After the job applicants accept the offers,
identification checks are performed to ensure no child
labour is employed. To prevent forced labour,
employees’ employment period, working hours, leave
entitlement and job position are clearly stated in the
employment contract and/or code of conduct of the
Group. The working hours of employees are set in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations
relating to working hours, so as to provide employees
with sufficient rest. The Group has strictly complied with
national and regional regulations in terms of statutory
holidays that employees are entitled to, including annual
leave, wedding leave, funeral leave, maternity leave,
paternity leave and so on. In addition, certain
non-statutory required leaves are created to motivate
employees, for example, employees can apply for
additional annual leaves according to their number of
years of working in the Group.

Furthermore, the Group provides competitive
remuneration package to employees and conducts annual
remuneration reviews based on prevailing market
standards and their working performance. Employees
with outstanding performance in the appraisal will also
be given promotion opportunities. The Group follows the
local labour laws and social security laws and regulations
to provide social security benefits for all employees. For
example, the Group contributes to various social
insurance scheme (endowment insurance, medical
insurance, unemployment insurance, work injury
insurance and maternity insurance) and housing
provident fund for the employees in Mainland China;
and contributes to the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme for the employees in Hong Kong. Upon receipt
of resignation letter from employees, exit interview will
be arranged to understand their reasons of resignation
and payment of the outstanding wages will be made in
a timely manner as required by relevant laws.
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Social (continued)

(1)

Employment and labour practices (continued)
Employment

The Group had a total number of 23 (2021: 22) full
time employees as of 31st December, 2022.

B HERERERRE @

B. #&

(1) EERELEH =

IE 17

N-_EBE-_—F#+-_A=+—0"
rEBEHRABB3HREE(ZEZ Z—

F:22%) 2HREBES -
Employee’s location distribution Hong Kong PRC Mongolia
EERESDH &t T E )
No. Percentage No. Percentage No. Percentage
N 1t N 1kt A# 14
2022
g 5 22% 14 61% 4 17%
2021
—E-—F 5 23% 13 59% 4 18%
Employee’s sex distribution Male Female
&S M5 57 B it
No. Percentage No. Percentage
N 11’4 AH -1’4
2022
—E-- 12 52% 1" 48%
2021
—E-—F 9 41% 13 59%
Employee’s age distribution 26-35 36-45 46-55 56 & above
EEERSH 26-35 36-45 46-55 56% L E
No.  Percentage No. Percentage No. Percentage No.  Percentage
N | 1174 N | fhbt N 11174 N | 1174
2022
—ZT-Z 12 52% 6 26% 4 17% 1 4%
2021
T F 9 1% 6 27% 6 27% 1 5%
hRERERAR —T-—F#F% 23
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B. Social (continued) B. ?“ig(%)
(1) Employment and labour practices (continued) (1) EBERETEH =
Employment (continued) 1 18 )
The Group's employee turnover rate during the Year is REBRAFENREERKEXS
stated as follows (Note 1): T (f5ET) -
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E—-—4F
Turnover rate by gender =R E 9 B KR
Male B 18% 33%
Female g 8% —
Turnover rate by age RERE DMK E
<35 years old 35 KA T 8% 1%
36-45 years old 36E455% — 33%
46-55 years old 46E555% 50% —
>56 years old 565% 5k A I — —
Turnover rate by geographical
region e & o Bk &
Hong Kong BB — 20%
PRC H 21% 15%
Note 1: The employee turnover rate is calculated based on the number of employees M1 BERAEDREBERAAFESER O
who cease employment in each category during the Year divided by the BE B ABR AZIER M FEEE AR
average number of employees in that category. BT -
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#HE @
(1) EERELEH =

B. Social (continued) B.
(1) Employment and labour practices (continued)

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations
The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong,
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong,
Labour Law of the PRC ({FPZEARKMEL %)),
Labour Contract Law of the PRC ({2 A R 2L A E 44
& [RJE)), and other applicable laws and regulations that
has a significant impact relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare on the
Group during the Year. In addition, no significant fine or
non-monetary sanction for non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations has been reported in the Year.

Health and Safety

The Group attaches great importance to the protection
of the health and safety of the employees and strictly
complies with the laws and regulations in relation to
labour protection, such as the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases ({# #
ARKEFIE B E B 4%)) and the Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong.

To ensure the health and safety of employees, they are
required to undergo physical examination and attend
occupational health and safety trainings to better
understand the health and safety practices of the Group.
In order to safeguard the health of employees and safety
of properties, accident handling procedures have been
set up in case of emergency.

& TR AR ZH
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cag—4e)
(1) EBRELEH =

B. Social (continued) B.
(1) Employment and labour practices (continued)

26

Health and Safety (continued)

Due to the outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019, the
Group strictly adopted various prevention policies such as
(i) maintaining air circulation in office area during
working hours; (ii) personal health management; (iii)
frequent cleaning of office area; (iv) wearing masks by all
staff before entering office area; and (v) measuring the
body temperature of staff and guest before entering
office area. Besides, the Group arranges flexible working
hours and adopts work-from-home policies by using a
virtual private network to access the system of the
Group remotely.

There were no work-related fatalities reported for the
prior three years ended 31st December 2019, 2020 and
2021. During the Year, no lost days due to work injury
were noted.

Development and training

The Group pays great attention to staff development and
training to enhance their technical skills and
professionalism. The Group provided its employees with
multiple external and internal training opportunities in
professional skills, management, linguistics and business.
During the Year, a total of 1,093 training hours (2021:
706 hours) in professional semiars and courses were
conducted.
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B. Social (continued) B. ?‘i%’(@)
(1) Employment and labour practices (continued) (1) ERRETER =
Development and training (continued) F ' K1 )

RARFEEAR ZIREBD LR
SES LR IRS Sl 2

During the Year, the percentage of employees trained
and the average training hours completed per employee

are as follows: TR
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—%F
Percentage of employees trained = #Il1E 8 B %t (K 3E1)
(Note 1) 74% 55%
Percentage of employees trained ZMRI&E D 2 ZIMEEE H
by gender (Note 2) (BF5F2)
Male 2 53% 50%
Female 7 41% 50%
Percentage of employees trained % 1E BRI &5 2 ZFlEE
by employee category B9 (M EE2)
(Note 2)
Senior management mRERE 24% 42%
Middle management HRERRE 47% 25%
General staff —®RET 24% 33%
Average training hours T & E BT X I T 19 R &
completed per employee (MF7E3) 48 hours 31 hours
(Note 3) 4A8IMNEF 31/
Average training hours RUERIE D 2 B % E B TK
completed per employee A 19 R 25 (Bt 51 4)
by gender (Note 4)
Male B 60 hours 37 hours
60/]\ BF 37/
Female g 37 hours 26 hours
37/ ¥ 26/)N B
Average training hours LZEEHENESD 2 EREER
completed per employee by 52 Ak A T 15 R (B 5E4)
employee category (Note 4)
Senior management mRERE 85 hours 73 hours
85/ EF 73/ B
Middle management RREEE 57 hours 22 hours
57/NBF 22/
General staff —®ET 24 hours 16 hours
24/ BF N
hREBRERAR —E-—F#F&8 27
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B.

Social (continued)
(1) Employment and labour practices (continued)

Development and training (continued)
Note 1: Percentage of employees trained is calculated by dividing the number of
employees who took part in training by the number of employees.

Note 2: Percentage of employees trained by category is calculated based on the
number of employees trained in each category during the Year divided by
the number of employees who took part in training.

Note 3: Average training hours per employee is calculated by dividing the total number
of training hours by the number of employees.

Note 4: Average training hours by categories is calculated by dividing the total number
of training hours for such category by the number of employees in the
corresponding category.

Employees’ communication

The Group strongly believes employees are the most
important assets of the Group and plays a key role in
the development of the Group. The Group, through
various communication channels, motivates its employees
in the reporting period. The Group adopts weekly
meetings to exchange working ideas, plans and to build
up effective communication channels among employees
and management. The Group also organizes group
functions, team meetings to enhance loyalty and staff
relationship.

Labour Standards

In line with the local employment laws and relevant
provisions of the International Labour Organisation, the
Group prohibits the employment of child labour or any
other form of forced and illegal labour.

According to the recruitment procedure, the Group
requires all candidates to provide identification
documents to determine if their age meets the legal age
requirements. Besides, the Group will conduct regular
reviews of the hiring practices to ensure that there is no
child labour in the workplace.

The Group strictly abides by the relevant labour
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong regarding
working hours and holidays to ensure the physical and
mental health of all employees. The Group has
established normal working hours of which are specified
in the employees’ handbook of the Group to encourage
employees to maintain a work-life balance.

CNNC International Limited 2022 Annual Report

B.

#HE

(1) EBRELEH =

R IE )

MiE1: SIEEBD LIRS MEINES A
HBIABE T ASE -

M2 BERNSENZIIEEESLIERR
AEENZENZIEE AEBR A2 M
EFImEE ABGTH -

M3 : BRE B ZINT 98 8T IR 8 S I 8
BRUAEE A

fiEa « HIARI )5 80T 19 R I BT IR Z A5
BRI BB ARBBERNER AL -

BT X0

REBEBRERERAREEZN
BE RAREBRAFERRN
BEBBMENAEES - KRG
THIEGE  REERERRE
ZERYRE AHNBEBRE
B AEENMERZ REBER
mE 225 RSEER

R EoaEBRIE -

LT ER

7 8 B8 18 0 07 1R 0 5 12 S L
B TABNERRT  ZIHER
B IR HMAE AR RIEES
T o

RIEREREF  AKEEXRMAA
EEERMK S D EAMF - AH
HxERDETEEF&K I
Sho REEETEMRTERE
BoRBRIESMYEET -

AEEBEBRETHELRBEET
R BRI EA AR S B R E
NREZEEENTORE - K
SEREREFMHAITAERT
B SBEEETI(EREEZME
RS F 1 -



Social (continued)

(1)

(2)

Employment and labour practices (continued)
Labour Standards (continued)

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of
any non-compliance with laws and regulations which
have a significant impact on employment and labour
practices, or occupational health and safety.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations
The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with Labour Law of the PRC, Provisions on the
Prohibition of Using Child Labour ({(ZE|t{FRZE T &
SE)), Law on the Protection of Minors of the PRC ({/
FARKLMBEARKF AREE)) and other applicable
laws and regulations that has a significant impact
relating to preventing child or forced labour on the
Group in PRC during the Year. In addition, there was no
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
resulted in significant fines or sanctions in the Year.

Operating practices

Trading in uranium

A strict tendering process is in place to provide an open,
fair and transparent platform for securing the suppliers
for procurement. The Group strictly follows the
procedures for supplier’s selection, decision making, and
contract signing to ensure the legality, reasonableness
and regulation of the process.

The main activities of the Group are trading in natural
uranium. The main suppliers or brokers range from the
USA, Europe, Kazakhstan, UK, and etc. The business
partners range top of their trade and are reputable
companies.

When purchasing materials and equipment, the Group
will comprehensively consider their environmental
performance. For example, when purchasing machines
and lighting systems, we will give priority to more
energy-efficient appliances on the basis of meeting the
technical parameters, with a view to integrating the
Group’s environmental vision into all aspects of the

supply chain.
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B.

Social (continued)
(2) Operating practices (continued)

Trading in uranium (continued)
During the Year, the number of suppliers of the Group
by geographical region is as follows:

B.

#HE @

2) BEEH»

HE 5 e
RARFEERN - R EE 5 HHE
EEB WM

Number of
suppliers
HrEmE A

Region &
Europe &M 1
Kazakhstan e BE 5 1
UK ES 2
USA ES 1

Product responsibility
The main business of the Group is not production of
products, thus this is not applicable.

Anti-corruption

The Group endeavours to uphold the integrity in its
business operation and complies with the laws and
regulations regarding anti-corruption. The Group has
adopted the whistle-blowing policy, which provides a
reporting channel for employees to disclose any
suspected bribery, corruption or other unlawful acts at a
meeting or in a written report. Upon receipt of a report,
the Group will handle the case by carrying out
inspection and taking preventive measures.

The Group regularly promotes anti-corruption for the
entire group. The Group would compile anticorruption
promotion materials by collecting the latest relevant
anti-corruption information, including recent major
corruption incidents in various industries and the
handling measures, etc.,, and combine them with the
analysis of the Group’s summarised business
characteristics. All the information will be compiled and
distributed to all employees for self-learning in order to
create a good anti-corruption environment within the
Group.

CNNC International Limited 2022 Annual Report

g B 1T
AEEXBHFEFEREE A
R A o

REG
AEBHNEFUBRBELER
B UBRBRABRESERE
Mo AKEDRMEBEBRBE 12
HERRE REEESHAE
EREPRBELMAERER B
AEEMIEETR ARERE
BER BHABESMHETHE
K ERERTERI HE B

AEEeERHHEEEAER
BREE RESFHAREEK
MEM  BRSTRINELEN
EAEREN RERES &
B 5 B X 15 B 1 AT 420 AT I 4R
HARBRSEER  BREEHE
NERBETAHS EKEEREE
RN RFEBERRE -



Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance Report onines
R HEREEERRE @

B. Social (continued)
(2) Operating practices (continued)
Ant/'—corruption (continued)
The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations on
the prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering, such as the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of
the People’s Republic of China. There was no violation
during the reporting period.

On 27th May, 2022, the Group invited Hong Kong
Independent Commission Against Corruption to provide
a seminar to the senior management and staff of the
Group on prevention against corruption and integrity
management, of which 18 staff members attended the
seminar on that date.

(3) Community

Community Investment

During the Year, the Group did not make charitable
donations. In prior years, the Mongolia office made
donations and arranged courtesy visits to support the
local community of Bayandun, Mongolia, and the Group
intends to, from time to time, participate in community
charity through channels of donations and courtesy visits
with the aim to support the lesser community and
improve their life quality.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company has complied with the code provisions laid down in
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) throughout the Year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Members of the Board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
are collectively responsible for overseeing the business and affairs of
the Company and its subsidiaries that aims at enhancing the
Company’s value for stakeholders. The Board is responsible for
making all major matters of the Company including: the approval
and monitoring of all major policies of the Group, monitoring
financial and operating performance, ensuring the integrity of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting systems, the declaration
of interim dividend, making recommendation of final dividend or
other distributions, overall strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management systems, notifiable and connected
transactions, nomination of directors and Company Secretary and
other significant financial and operational matters. The day-to-day
management, administration and operation of the Company are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions are
periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be obtained
from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by

the abovementioned officers.

The Board currently comprises a total of six members including one
executive director, two non-executive directors and three
independent non-executive directors (“INEDs"”), whose details are set
out in “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management”. Members of
the Board have different professional, industry experiences and
backgrounds so as to bring in valuable contributions and advices for
the development of the Group’s business. More than one-third of
the Board are INEDs and one of the INEDs has appropriate related
financial management expertise as required under the Listing Rules.
Directors have full access to accurate, relevant and timely
information of the Group through management and are able to
obtain independent professional advices on issues whenever deemed

necessary by the directors.

Regular meetings are held by the Board at least four times a year to

discuss strategies and business issues, including financial
performance of the Group, and additional meetings will be held
when necessary. The Company has held regular board meetings in
accordance with the Listing Rules, the CG Code and also the
Articles of Association of the Company, formal notice and board
meeting documents are also given in advance to all directors. During
the Year, the Board held four regular meetings. Members of the
Board can attend the meetings either in person or through
electronic means of communication. A record of the directors’

attendance at regular Board meetings is set out on page 51.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continved)

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
segregated in order to reinforce their independence and accountability.
Their respective responsibilities are clearly established and set out in
writing. The Chairman leads the Board’s workings and proceedings,
while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for implementing the
Group's strategies and policies and for conducting the Group’s
businesses.

THE TERM OF APPOINTMENT OF NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The term of office of each of the non-executive directors is the
period from his appointment to the time of retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company. (Please
refer to the Directors’ Report for specific terms of non-executive
directors.)

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
of the INEDs are

Listing Rules. The Company considers all

independent.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
(the "“Model Code")
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all

Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
the directors, all the directors confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code and the code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by directors adopted by

the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group. With the assistance of the
accounting department, which is under the supervision of the
management of the Company, the directors ensure that the financial
statements of the Group have been properly prepared in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The directors also ensure that the publication of the accounts of the
Group is in a timely manner.

A report of the independent auditor on the Group’s accounts is set
out in this annual report.

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed Director receives a comprehensive and formal
induction to ensure that he/she has an appropriate understanding of
(i) the business and operations of the Group; (ii) his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements; (iii) the corporate governance code of the
Code.
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the

Company and (iv) the Model The Directors may seek
Company’s expenses in order to assist them to perform their duties
to the Company.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory
and regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities. Continuing briefing and
professional development for Directors will be arranged at the
expenses of the Company whenever necessary. The Directors are
committed to complying with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code
on Directors’ training. All Directors have been updated on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
The Directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills and
provided their training records for the year ended 31st December,

2022 to the Company.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL AUDIT

The Board is responsible to ensure that adequate systems of internal
control and risk management are maintained within the Group, and
to review their effectiveness through the Audit Committee. The
internal control and risk management systems are designed to meet
the Group’s particular needs and the risks to which it is exposed,
and by their nature can only provide reasonable, but not absolute
assurance against misstatement or loss and to manage, but not to
eliminate, risks of failure in achieving the Group’s objectives.

identified in the
investigation reports which were summarised in the next section,

Save for the internal control deficiencies
practicable and effective internal control systems and procedures
and risk management systems have been implemented by the Group
to enhance internal control and risk management on an ongoing

basis.
The key objectives of the Control Systems include:
o safeguarding assets;

o ensuring completeness, accuracy and validity of financial records
and reports;

o promoting adherence to policies, procedures, regulations and
laws; and
o promoting effectiveness and efficiency of operations.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL AUDIT (continved)

MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS (“CONTROL

SYSTEMS")
Control structure
The Board .

Audit Committee e

The management e

responsible for the overall Control Systems
and reviewing their effectiveness;

oversee the Control Systems on an ongoing
basis with the assistance of Audit
Committee;

ensure the maintenance of appropriate and
effective Control Systems in order to
safeguard the shareholders’ investment and
assets of the Group;

define management structure with clear
lines of responsibility and limit of authority;
and

determine the nature and extent of
significant risk that the Company is willing
to take in achieving the strategic objectives
the
management strategies.

and formulate Group's risk

oversee the Control Systems of the Group;

review and discuss with the management
annually to ensure that the management
has performed its duty to have effective
Control Systems; and

consider major findings on internal control
matters and make recommendations to the
Board.

design, implement and monitor the Control
Systems properly and ensure the Control
Systems are executed effectively;

monitor risks and take measures to mitigate
risks in day-to-day operations;

give prompt responses to, and follow up the
findings on internal control matters; and

provide confirmation to the Board on the
effectiveness of the Control Systems.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL AUDIT (ontinuea

MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS ("CONTROL
SYSTEMS") (continued)

Control structure (continved)

Internal Audit o carry out the analysis and independent

Function appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Control Systems; and

o alert the management/Audit Committee/

Board on the audit review findings or
irregularities, if any, and advise them on the
implementation of necessary steps and
actions to enhance the internal controls of
the Group.

Control approach
The
evaluation and risk management measures.

risk management process includes risk identification, risk

The management conducted interviews with relevant staff members,
reviewing relevant documentation of the internal control system,
identifying and evaluating findings of any deficiencies in the design
of the Group’s internal control system, providing recommendations
for improvement and following up on the effectiveness of
implementation of such recommendations, where appropriate. The
scope and findings of review on the risk management and internal
control are reported to and reviewed by the Audit Committee
annually.

Procedure manuals and operational guidelines are in place to
safequard the assets against unauthorised use or disposition,
ensuring maintenance of proper accounting records in compliance
with the applicable laws, rules and regulations for the provision of
use and/or external

reliable financial information for internal

publication.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL AUDIT (continved)

During the Year, the Group conducted an independent investigation

of the circumstances arising from the Impairment Loss. During the

process, the Independent Expert identified a series of internal

control deficiencies of the discontinued operation of the Electronic
Products Business (with the last transaction entered into in late
2020 and discontinued in first half of 2021) as follows:

(a)

incomprehensive inspection policy established but not
followed — an “Electronic Product Inspection Policy” was
only formally established by the Company in November 2019
(more than one and half year since the commencement of the
Electronic Products Business). Even so, relevant procedural
guidelines as well as the inspection checklist were not
stipulated to govern the quality check process in detail. Also,
it was noted that the inspection policy was not fully complied
with, more particularly the requirement to inspect and test
incoming goods (notwithstanding the absence of relevant
procedural guidelines), and, in the case where there were any
practical difficulties, the requirement to complete physical

verification;

no independent inspection organisation was engaged by
the Company for product verification — it was noted that
no independent inspection organization had been shortlisted
for the arrangement prescribed in the “Electronic Product
Inspection Policy” to verify whether the technical details of the
products align with the specifications. Despite so, the
Independent Expert also conceded that there were no qualified
third-party testing service providers being reasonably identified

in Hong Kong;

no proofs of originality of suppliers were obtained for
verification — as per the selected samples of the Independent
Expert, it was noted that relevant proofs of originality of some
vendors were not obtained for verification;

no regular suppliers’ evaluation was conducted to assess
the performance of suppliers — it was noted that regular
not conducted to assess the

suppliers’ evaluation s

performance of suppliers;
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INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL AUDIT (continved)

(e)  no authenticity verification documents were obtained to
avoid counterfeit products — despite research regarding the
prevailing market price would be performed to assess the
reasonableness of the offering price of the products in
question, as per the selected samples of the Independent
Expert, it was noted that relevant authenticity verification
documents were not obtained to avoid counterfeit products;

(f) lack of comparison of business plan — that the actual
operation of the Electronic Products Business was different
from the business plan, which was approved by the Board,
whereas these deviations from the business plan were not
formally reported to and approved by the Board;

(g) ignorance of red flags from the Risk Management
Department of the Company — that there were several risk
alerts raised by the Risk Management Department in the
course of the conducting of the Electronic Products Business.
However, the Operation Team disregarded the risk alerts and
continued to carry out business without formal explanations
and justifications; and

(h)  lack of due care on the part of the Operation Team — that
the Operating Team was not electronic products experts, who
relied on the customers’ recommendations on the choice of
suppliers. Lack of proper quotation process, failure to conduct
proper quality test on the products, and the non-appointment
of testing services providers by the Operation Team were
noted. As a result, the Group failed to identify the
substandard or refurbished products in a timely manner.

For further details of the above findings, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 15th August, 2022.

The Group also commissioned an independent Internal Control
Consultant to review the internal control of the Group covered,
amongst others, the following aspect of the Group:

—  Entity-level review under the internal control framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisation of the Treadway
Commission: control environment, risk assessment, control
activities, information and communication, and monitoring;
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INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL AUDIT (continvea

—  Activity-level review: financial close reporting process, revenue
and accounts receivable management, cost of services and
other operating expenses, inventory management, bank and

cash management, fixed assets management, human resources

and payroll process,

information technology general controls; and

taxation, insurance, and review on

—  Review of compliance procedures of certain Listing Rules and
Chapter 14
(notifiable transactions), Chapter 14A (connected transactions),

regulations: Chapter 13 (continuing obligations),

Appendix 14 (corporate governance code), Appendix 16
(financial information) of the Listing Rules, and Part XIVA of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (disclosure of inside

information).

For the period from 1st January, 2021 to 31st December, 2021 (with
a follow-up review from 1st January, 2022 to 5th July, 2022 for
assessing the remediation status of the deficiencies identified).

As the Electronic Products Business ceased in 2020, no recurring of
the above deficiencies will reappear. The Group with the assistance
from the Internal Control Consultant reviewed whether the above
deficiencies would exist in the existing business, the uranium trading
business. The Group continuously review and modify the internal
control procedures of its uranium trading business as and when is
needed.

As advised by the Internal Control Consultant, the follow-up review
of the Internal Control Review has been completed, upon which
nothing has come to their attention which makes them believe that
relevant internal controls and procedures of the Company in place
not being adequate.

Procedures have been designed for the business objectives,
safeguard asset against unauthorized use or disposition, ensure
proper maintenance of books and records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or publication, and to

ensure compliance with relevant legislations and regulations.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

deficiencies identified in the
investigation reports which were summarised in the earlier section,
During the year ended 31st December, 2022, the Board, through the

Audit Committee, has reviewed effectiveness of the Group’s systems

Save for the internal control

of internal control and risk management in respect of financial,
operational and compliance aspect annually and considers that the
systems are adequate and effective.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has also reviewed the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting functions, and consider that they are adequate.

Throughout the Year, the Board is satisfied that the Group has fully
complied with the code provisions on risk management and internal
control as set out in Section D.2 of the CG code.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the Year, the remuneration paid to the Company’s auditor,
Messrs BDO Limited, is set out as follows:

P &R 25 4% Bk e
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SAKEI  RERARHERBEER
AREBRGZAN  LRAFRATER
B

EXREEBRBERZEERIAURRAKHE
MEhMBERBEZER BITEER
B BIRELRBEEREN -

AEERN EZREM AEEZzEETE
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Services rendered

Fees paid/payable

P iR 14 AR 75 et EfEE
2022 2021
—®-C —T-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
EET T BT IT
Audit services BT R 1,600 1,650

Non-audit services EEF R

(i.e. Taxation) (Bl - Bi%) 73 71
1,673 1,721
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company’s Audit Committee was first established in December
2002 and its terms of reference are available on the Company’s
website.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the
Group's financial reporting system, internal control procedures, risk
management, assessing the adequacy of the human resources of the
Group’s accounting and finance department and maintaining good
and independent communications with the management as well as
external auditor of the Company. Its current members include:

Mr. Chan Yee Hoi (Chairman of the Audit Committee)
Mr. Wu Ge

Mr. Cui Liguo

Mr. Zhang Lei

Three out of four members of the Audit Committee are the INEDs of
the Company. Mr. Chan Yee Hoi has appropriate related financial
management expertise as required under the Listing Rules. None of
them is employed by or otherwise affiliated with former or existing
auditor of the Company.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings and also
had two meetings with the management and external auditors of
the Company. The minutes of the Audit Committee meetings were
tabled to the Board for noting and for action by the Board where
appropriate. The attendance of each member is set out on page 51.

During the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed the Group’s interim
and annual report for the year ended 31st December, 2022 and the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group. The Audit
Committee also reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company's internal control system and made recommendations to
the Board.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company’s Remuneration Committee was established in

September 2005. Its current members include:

Mr. Cui Liguo (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)
Mr. Zhang Yi

Mr. Wu Ge

Mr. Chan Yee Hoi

Mr. Zhang Lei

Three out of five members of the Remuneration Committee are the

INEDs of the Company. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are available on the Company’s website.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continvea)

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of directors and reviewing their
specific remuneration package for directors and senior management,
including terms of salary, discretionary bonus scheme, benefits in
kind, pension rights, compensation payments and other long-term
incentive schemes by reference to market conditions, performance of
the Group and the individual and corporate goals and objectives as
set by the Board from time to time.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the Year.
The minutes of the Remuneration Committee meeting were tabled
to the Board for noting and for action by the Board where
appropriate. The attendance of each member is set out on page 51.
During the meeting, the committee members discussed the policy for
the remuneration of executive director and senior management and
assessed the performance of executives.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the Corporate Governance Code
set out in Part 2 of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management* by band
for the year ended 31st December, 2022 is set out below:
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Number of
Remuneration band Individual
77 B 28 1 A&
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z = % #1,000,0007T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 7 1,000,0017T & 7 1,500,000 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 75 #1,500,001 7T 2= /& #2,000,0007T —
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 75 2,000,001 7T & 4 #2,500,0007T —
* One of the members of the senior management is also a director of the Company whose * Hh— 2o RERERENRARRAES  EM2HR

remuneration is included herein.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the 5 highest paid
individuals are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
On 27th March, 2012, the Board approved the set up of the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Its current members

include:

Mr. Wang Cheng (Chairman of the Nomination Committee)
Mr. Zhang Yi

Mr. Chan Yee Hoi

Mr. Cui Liguo

Mr. Zhang Lei

Three out of five members of the Nomination Committee are the
INEDs of the Company and the Chairman of the committee is the
Chairman of the Board. The terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee are available on the Company’s website.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board
at least annually; making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy; identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; assessing the
independence of the INEDs; and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors and
succession planning for directors, in particular the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the Year. The
attendance of each member is set out on page 51.
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REVIEW OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
FUNCTIONS

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility of developing
and maintaining sound and effective corporate governance within
the Group and is committed to ensuring that an effective
governance structure is put in place to continuously review and
improve the corporate governance practices, including to review and
monitor the training and continuous professional development of
directors and senior management; within the Group in light of the

evolving operating environment and regulatory requirements.

The Group has adopted appropriate policies and practices on
corporate governance and the Board would make recommendations
to the Group by reviewing the operation of the Group from time to
time. The Group has adopted a code of conduct and compliance
applicable to The Board
confirmed that the Group has complied with the legal and

manual its employees and directors.
regulatory requirements and ensures the Group’s compliance with
the CG Code and disclosure regarding corporate governance.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company believes that the diversity of board members will be
beneficial to the Company. Therefore, the Company has taken on
the Board Diversity Policy of the Board of Directors, ensuring that
the Company will consider the diversity of board members in a
number of ways when setting up the Board, including gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnic, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and service tenure. All appointments to the Board
are based on the principle of meritocracy.

As of 31st December, 2022, save for gender diversity, the Board
skills,
background, and regional and industry experience. The Board will be

composition can fulfil the diversity requirements on
in search of potential candidates and achieve gender diversity with
the target of adding a director of the female gender by the end of
2024. Besides, the Company will proactively provide trainings to our
senior management and will take into account the factor of gender
diversity when recruiting suitable candidates for our senior
management in the future, so to develop a pipeline of potential
successors for the Board and enhance gender diversity in the Board

in the coming years.

For the detailed gender ratio in the workforce (including senior
management), please refer to the sub-section headed “Employment
and labour practices” in this annual report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
whereby the Company may pay dividends to the shareholders of the
Company by means of cash or shares. Any dividend distribution shall
be in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association of
the Company and shall be distributed in a continuous, stable and
sustainable nature. The proposal to pay any dividend depends on the
dividend
announcement is subject to the approval of the shareholders before

absolute discretion of the Board, and any final
it can be implemented. In making any dividend payment, the board
shall also consider:

1. Retained surpluses and distributable reserves of the Company
and its subsidiaries;

2. The Group’s operating capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

3. The Group’s liquidity position;

4. the overall economic situation, the business cycle of the Group's
business and the possible impact on the Company’s business,
the internal or external factors that make up the impact of
financial performance and positioning; and

5. Other factors that the Board considers relevant.

Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is no
guarantee that dividends will be presented or announced at any
given time.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Li Philip Sau Yan (“Mr. Li"), is responsible
to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and
Board activities are efficiently and effectively conducted. Mr. Li has been
appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company since 5th
November, 2008. Mr. Li is also responsible for ensuring that the Board
is fully appraised of the relevant corporate governance developments
relating to the Group and facilitating the professional development of
the directors.

Mr. Li confirmed that he has complied with all the required

qualifications, experience and training requirements under Rule 3.28
and Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS" RIGHTS

The Board and management shall ensure shareholders’ rights and all
shareholders are treated equitably and fairly. Pursuant to the Articles
of Association of the Company, any shareholder entitled to receive
notice of and to attend and vote at a general meeting of the
Company is entitled to appoint another person as his proxy to
attend and vote instead of him.

Chairmen of the various Board committees, or failing the Chairmen,
any member from the respective committees, must attend the
annual general meetings of the Company to address shareholders’
queries. External auditor shall also be invited to attend the
Company’s annual general meetings and are available to assist the
Directors in addressing queries from shareholders relating to the
conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of their
auditor’s report.

RIGHT TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETING AND PUT FORWARD
PROPOSALS

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, extraordinary general meetings can be convened on the
written requisition of any one or more members of the Company
deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or,
in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the
registered office, specifying the objects of the meeting and the
resolutions to be added to the meeting agenda, and signed by the
requisitionist(s), provided that such requisitionists held as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the voting
rights, on a one vote per share basis, of the issued shares of the
Company which as at that date carries the right to vote at general
meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days
from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene
the meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s)
themselves or any of them representing more than one-half of the
total voting rights of all of them, may convene the extraordinary
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that
in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any
meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.
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RIGHT TO PUT ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD
Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All
enquiries can be in writing and sent for the attention of the
Company Secretary in one of the following ways:

1. By post: CNNC International Limited
Unit 3009, 30th Floor
No. 118 Connaught Road West
Hong Kong
By facsimile: (852) 2598 6262
By email: info@cnncintl.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company regards high quality reporting as an essential element
The
Company always endeavour to provide relevant information to

in building successful relationships with its shareholders.

existing and potential investors, not only to comply with the
different requirements in force but also to enhance transparency
and communications with shareholders and the investing public.
Regular and publicly available disclosures about important issues,
including performance, fundamental business strategy, governance
and the management of risk are made through various channels.

CNNC International Limited 2022 Annual Report

[6E E SR HhE B HEF
BEAENEERRMEH - AT MWA
EEYRIRE - LA TIEA—ETREE
ATRE -

1. BE:PRBEERERQA

B
T 7R B PI1185%
30#£3009%
. {8H :(852) 2598 6262
3. FE#H : info@cnncintl.com

RAEAGRRERREE

ARAAB/BERZHRERTERRAETL
MAEZEELR - ARA—HBRNRARE R
BEREERFARER TETAREE
MZERRTE - MR RERE &R HE
BREREABREEZBB ARAMERRE
RE THEAHARBEERNEFE BEX
B BEARBRE BaRBEERRZIER:



B HERERERRE @

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND BREEFAGZREKREER »
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

(continued)

During the Year, the Company has improved its investor relationship AFEE » AR FEBEBE L BRNERES
management through online communication, included but not FEEIE BFEETERAETHNEER
limited to, the delivery and receipt of the instrument of proxies by EWRIBHEXE  FHE RS ELERRE
electronic means, and systematically optimised its information T AFE EREHFEBEBMBENHTE
disclosure. During the Year, the key works and outcomes of direct I {ENHEKRS ARE &yl
communications and liaison with Shareholders achieved satisfactory

results and are as follows:

Channels Key points
Extraordinary general ° Approved 1 ordinary resolution on 23rd June, 2022 in relation to the continuing
meeting connected transactions framework agreement; and

o Approved 1 special resolution on 23rd June, 2022 in relation to the proposed
amendments to the existing amended and restated memorandum and articles
of association of the Company and to adopt the second amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company in substitution for,
and to the exclusion of, the existing amended and restated memorandum and
articles of association of the Company

REFRIRE e RIZZZFARAZTZHHAELBEREZR AAEFHERBEHERHESR
e &

¢ RIFoCEAASTSABRBUANIREE NEEBUREEETRE
MR AERAMRERAUNRHET CABE-REETRERSHA
AEMAMREREA DERRFRRA ST RERNAAERAMR

4 A1
Annual general meeting Approved 10 ordinary resolutions on 16th December, 2022
BRBFEKRE RZEZZF+_ATNBHAEI0EERRAER
Regular reports and Released 51 announcements, 2 circulars and 3 regular reports throughout the Year
announcements
FHRERRSE REFZEMSIHD RS - 20k &35 E BmE

bRBEEERAT —T-o—a43%% 49



50

Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance Report onines
R HB8REEEREE @

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

(continued)
Channels Key points

REAEMABRERREER o

Company website Continuous maintenance:

(http//www.cnncintl.com)

o Company news and industry information
o Announcements and circulars
o Results and reports

o Analysts’ reports (if any)
N EHIE (http// SERE
www.cnncintl.com)

o ARTEMFHERITEEA

. SHTENE RS (0 A)
Office e-mail info@cnncintl.com

PN EH info@cnncintl.com

The Company maintains a website at www.cnncintl.com where the

Company’s announcements, circulars, notices, financial reports,
business developments, press releases and other information are

posted.

The Company is committed to ensuring that it is in full compliance
with disclosure obligations stipulated under the Listing Rules and
other applicable laws and regulations, and that all shareholders and
potential investors of the Company have an equal opportunity to
receive and obtain externally available information that is released by
the Group.

The Company always welcome shareholders’ views and input.
Shareholders and other stakeholders may at any time address their
concerns to the Company by mail to the Company’s principal office
in Hong Kong at Office Unit 3009, 30th Floor, No. 118 Connaught
Road West, Hong Kong, or email to info@cnncintl.com.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(continued)

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings for
substantially separate issues. The chairman of the 2022 EGM and
chairman/members of the Board committees had attended the 2022
With the
assistance of the company secretary, the chairman of the meeting

EGM to answer questions from the Shareholders.

had explained the procedures for conducting a poll voting during
the meeting.

There was no significant change in the constitutional documents of
the Company during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT BOARD,
AUDIT, REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION
COMMITTEES’ MEETINGS, GENERAL
MEETING

RAERFRERERRBER

EEABYEENENBREAS LIZ2E5)
RER T —_FREFHIAREZERERK
EEZEEgZER /KEHELE-_T ==
FREEFIASUBZEREZIRE - BEBA
AMECLHE REXRFRERKRE LHEEHE
TRERRZRE -

AEERARRZEBERXILE EAE
KEH -

EER -EREET  -FME
EERREZEETERRRE
KEZHFasx

Regular Other Audit Remuneration  Nomination  Extraordinary Annual
Board Board Committee Committee Committee General General
Meetings Meeting Meetings Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
R HHESE BHZEE FNZEg R&Z8E BRI REREE
EHER ik S S ik g XE
Total number of meetings held AFEENRITZEH 4 1 3 1 1 1 1
during the Year ot g
Number of meetings attended: P& K8
Chairman and Non-executive EREFUNTES
Director
Mr. Wang Cheng (appointed on IREER=Z== 1 (100%) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 1 (100%)
27th October 2022) TAZ+LELA) TER TEA TEA TiE A T#HA
Mr. Zhong Jie (resigned on ERNLERZTZZF  3(100%) 1 (100%) N/A N/A 1 (100%) 1 (100%) N/A
27th October 2022) +AZt+tB#E) TEA TEA TEA
Chief Executive Officer and TREEBHTES
Executive Director
Mr. Zhang Yi REFE 4 (100%) 1 (100%) N/A 1 (100%) 1 (100%) 1 (100%) 1 (100%)
TEfA
Non-executive Director FRTEE
Mr. Wu Ge ES it 4 (100%) 1 (100%) 3 (100%) 1 (100%) N/A 1 (100%) 1 (100%)
TER
Independent Non-executive BUFRTES
Directors
Mr. Cui Liguo EELE 4 (100%) 1(100%) 3 (100%) 1(100%) 1(100%) 1(100%) 1(100%)
Mr. Zhang Lei RELE 4 (100%) 1 (100%) 3 (100%) 1 (100%) 1 (100%) 1 (100%) 1(100%)
Mr. Chan Yee Hoi R IAG 4 (100%) 1 (100%) 3 (100%) 1 (100%) 1 (100%) 1 (100%) 1 (100%)
RRERERAR —E--FFH 5
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Risk Management

5\ B 1

In accordance with the Group’s development strategy, the Group has
established a risk management system covering all the business
segments to monitor, assess and manage various risks in the
Group's business activities.

The risk management system of the Group is established in line with
the global standard including the management of each business
unit, the risk management function of the Group and the internal
audit function.

The Board has identified the top risks of the Group and determined
how much risk the Board is willing to take to achieve the Group'’s
strategic objectives.
Management Policy based on the above risk and conduct regular
review of operational and financial risks as reported by each
business unit. Each business unit is required to identify risks on a
day-to-day basis, to report any major risk to the Group.

The Group has also prepared a Risk

Based on the risk profile of each business unit, and take into
account the management control and corporate oversight at Group's
level, the Audit Committee and Internal Audit would map out a risk-
based internal audit plan each year.

The Board establishes or renews financial and credit facilities and
undertakes financial and credit transactions in accordance with the
financial policy of the Group.

FINANCIAL RISK

(1) Interest rate risk
The Group's working capital and fixed assets investment, apart
from internal funds, rely on bank financing and issue of
convertible bonds. All convertible bonds were fully redeemed
by 2013. As at 31st December, 2022, the Group has a
shareholder loan from immediate holding company of
approximately HK$218,000,000 (as at 31st December, 2021:
approximately HK$230,000,000) which was being utilized to
fund the equity investment of CNNC Leasing. The Group did
not have any bank borrowings as at 31st December, 2022 (as
at 31st December, 2021: Nil). During the Year, the Group’s
variable-rate borrowings carry interest at a premium over Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate or London Interbank Offered Rate
or prevailing lending rate quoted by the People’s Bank of
China, as appropriate, which ranged from 2.60% to 7.29%
per annum. The fluctuation of the lending interest rates could
have substantial effect to the Group’s finance costs.
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(2) Currency risk

The Group’s currencies are mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollar ("HKD"), Renminbi (“RMB"), Mongolian Tugrigs ("MT")
and United States dollar (“USD"). The consolidated financial
statements of the Group are presented in HKD. However, the
income of the Group is mainly in USD, therefore, the
functional currency of the Group is set in USD. The Group has
to assess the fluctuations of the exchange rates of USD
against HKD, RMB and MT.

(A) USD vs HKD

HKD has a linked exchange rate system with USD. The
exchange rate has been kept for many years. Therefore
the risk in this area is relatively small. However, the
Group needs to consider the effect if the system is
removed. Nevertheless, the Group’s income and payment
to foreign suppliers are in USD which can compensate
the exchange risk should the system is removed.

(B) USD vs RMB

The Group has established offices in Shenzhen and
Beijing, its expenses are paid in RMB. In 2022, the
exchange rate of RMB decreased about 8.5% against
USD. The annual budget of the PRC offices are
approximately HK$10,000,000. The exchange rate risk
effect in RMB to be realized is considered insignificant to
the Group.

(C) USD vs MT

The exchange rate of MT against USD decreased
approximately 20% in 2022. The inflation rate in
December 2022 in Mongolia was approximately 13%.
The bank deposit of Mongolian project is mainly in USD.
The Mongolia office settles its expenses in MT.
Therefore, the fluctuation of exchange rate of USD
against MT did not have much negative effect to the
Group in 2022. The fixed assets of Mongolian project are
recorded in USD, so there has been little effect in
exchange rate. The amounts of payables and receivables
of Mongolian project which are denominated in MT are
relatively small, so as the exchange rate risk as
compensated by the inflation effect in this area.

(3) Counterparty exchange rate risk

The buying and selling of natural uranium transactions of the
Group are denominated in USD, therefore the Group does not
have any risk in foreign currency exchange in business
transactions.
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Risk Management conies
ERERE

OPERATIONAL RISK

(1)

(2)

Concentration risk

Currently, the income of the Group is derived from the natural
the
production of Somina’s uranium mine has been suspended and

uranium products trade. Of the projects in hand,
the mine is under maintenance care; the Mongolian uranium
project is still at the stage of application of mining license, no

products will be available in the near future.

The Group intends to focus on and will continue to devote to
the development of the uranium products trading business,
and will diversity its trading activities into different markets
worldwide. To cooperate with the business development of its
holding company, the Group will look for opportunities to
expand its business activities. The Group will also participate in
the natural uranium market events to obtain latest market
information and enlarge the suppliers and customers list,
avoiding the reliance on a small number of trading partners.

The Group has completed its investment in CNNC Leasing on
26th February, 2019 and CNNC Leasing would distribute no
less than 90% profit as dividends to the Group which would
have positive contributions to the cashflow of the Group.

Credit risk

The Group mainly confronted with credit risk resulting from
trade debtors that arising from sale of goods to customers.
The Group established credit policies and procedures to
analyse and identify the credit risks, set appropriate credit
limits and controls, monitor the risks on timely basis by means
of reliable management information systems. The Group
performs regular updates to enhance the credit policies in
order to cope with the changes in markets and practice of
credit risk management.

Individual credit assessments are performed on customers to
determine the applicable credit limits and terms. Regular
review on credit limits and terms are performed in order to
ensure those are comparable to the credit standing of

customers and the latest business environments.
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s.of Directors and Senior 'anagement
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chairman and Non-executive Director

Mr. Wang Cheng (“Mr. Wang”), aged 57, joined China National
Nuclear Corporation (“CNNC"), the ultimate holding company of the
Company, 216th Brigade (2 T% — — /X AKBX) (“216 Brigade”) in
1988, he has successively served as the team geological team leader,
technical leader, deputy team leader and deputy director of the
General Engineering Office concurrently serving as the deputy chief
geological engineer, deputy team leader, and team leader posts. He
was transferred to China Nuclear Geology (F E#Z L #iER)
("“CNG") in 2008 and has successively served as assistant director,
member of the Party Leader Group and deputy director. Mr. Wang
joined the CNNC Geology and Minerals Division (“GM Division”) in
2011, and successively served as the deputy director, a member of
the Party Leader Group, and the deputy director of the CNG. From
2014 to 2018, Mr. Wang served as the deputy director of the
planning and development department of China National Nuclear
Corporation (“CNNC"”), the ultimate holding company of the
Company, and from 2018 to 2020, he served as the deputy director
of the operation and management department of CNNC. Mr. Wang
joined China National Uranium Corporation, Limited. (“CNUC"), an
indirect holding company of the Company, in 2020 as the general
manager, deputy secretary of the Party Leader Group, deputy
director and deputy secretary of the Party Leader Group of CNG.
The 216 Brigade, CNG, GM Division and CNUC are all subordinate
units of CNNC. Mr. Wang graduated in 1988 from the Department
of Radioactive Mineral Geology of the Chengdu Institute of Geology
with a bachelor's degree. Mr. Wang has the title of senior
researcher.

Mr. Wang was appointed as Non-Executive Director and the
Chairman of the Board and Nomination Committee of the Company
with effect from 27th October, 2022. Mr. Wang signed a non-
executive director service contract with the Company for a period of
3 years on 26th October, 2022.

EERAE

FHERNITES
EFREETERED 575 R—HNANF
MAFBEZIXEEAERAR ((FZEE])
(KRR ZHEBRERRAA) - RNKAK
(TZ—=RKEK])  ERESBHWEAR - &
Mas BoBK IR TEREHLE
Bl Tz BABRK BERERK - X%
ER-_ZFF)\FHAAFEZTEWER ([
BRD ZrEREYE EEKEBEKER
R-ERER T ——FMATREEE
EXF(HEEX))  CREEET E
MRE RPBRIEMWERABRR K=
Z-NEE_T-N\F EREREPRE
EREBERBREEE: RRZE-N\FEZ
Z_ZTHE EETPREEKEEERNAE
F-EEER_Z_ZTFENATEMHEAR
AR(THE#EED(RRA zARZERA
A KR RZEIER  RERIERE
PREIBRR EZREILEFRBE - —— <K
B wER wEEXRALRFEMEH ST
REBTBEML EEER-NANANFEXE
RARERIE T A2 E B he = 2 WS ERE
B HRELEN -ETRLACABTREE
BHNSRAMEER 2B -

TEERZERARFFRITEEREER
RRRZBGXFE ERAHMAE-_T_—
TAZ+EtH-RZZB-__F+HA=-+RK
B EEERARREAFATEETRB S
- REB=%F-

TRZERAERRQA

— -4 §j



56

Profiles of Directors and Senior Management conines
EEREREEREEN @

Executive Director
Mr. Zhang Yi (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 40, was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company with effect from 4th May, 2020 and his
employment was subsequently extended to 4th May, 2026. He
joined CNUC (FhEISHZ A BR A Al) in 2007 and his roles included
external affairs, secretarial affairs, project management, deputy
director of the central administration department, supervisor of the
legal and audit department and vice chief legal adviser. Mr. Zhang
was transferred to the Geology and Mining Division of CNNC (7 #%
SEHIEE ) in the overseas development sector in 2012, and
was in charge of legal affairs and overseas development projects.
Mr. Zhang joined the Central Planning Department of the Company
in 2013, and worked as deputy manager, manager in legal affairs,
overseas development and administration works. He joined CNUC as
manager in 2017 in overseas development department. In April
2019, he was appointed as the general manager and director of
CNNC Overseas Limited (F #% /8 5N & BR & &) ("CNOL"), the
immediate holding company of the Company. In 2020, Mr. Zhang
ceased to be general manager of COUH, but remains as director of
CNOL.
Overseas Uranium Business Division of CNUC. Mr. Zhang is also a
director of CNUC (HK) Mining Corp., Limited (7 [ 3 (& 78)iE 2%
BR2AT]) (“CNUCHK") and Réssing Uranium Limited (“RUL").
CNUC, the Company, COUH, CNUCHK and RUL are subsidiaries of
CNNC. Mr. Zhang graduated from China Youth University of Political
Studies (Bl & F BUa £ Fr),

management, with a bachelor degree in management in 2004.

In January 2021, Mr. Zhang becomes general manager of

department of social work and

Mr. Zhang also graduated from Peking University Law School (it &
KEEERL) with a master degree in law in 2007. He was qualified
as an enterprise legal adviser and holds professional qualification in
law in the PRC.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wu Ge (“Mr. Wu"), aged 35, was appointed as Non-executive
Director of the Company with effect from 4th May, 2020 and his
employment was subsequently extended to 4th May, 2026. He
joined CNNC Northern Uranium Co., Ltd (Rt i E B R Q7))
(“CNNCNU") in 2010 as head of accounting department and
assistant director. Mr. Wu was transferred to CNUC in 2017 as head
of accounting and assistant director in the finance and capital
management department. CNNCNU and CNUC are subsidiaries of
CNNC. Mr. Wu graduated from Dongbei University of Finance and
Economics (B 1k B & K ) with a bachelor degree in accounting in
2010. He was qualified as an accountant in the PRC.

CNNC International Limited 2022 Annual Report
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cui Liguo (“Mr. Cui"”), aged 53, is currently a founding partner
of Guantao Law Firm which is a law firm in Beijing, PRC and the
Chairman of its Management Committee. Mr. Cui was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company with effect
from 11th November, 2008. His employment was subsequently
extended to 11th November, 2023. He has over 30 vyears of
experience in legal sector, and holds independent directorship in the
board of directors of several companies, such as APT Satellite
Holdings Ltd. (a corporation listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 01045), Frontier Services Group Limited (a corporation listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00500), Joincare Pharmaceutical
Group Industry Co., Ltd. (a corporation listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 600380), China Coal Xinji Energy Co., Ltd. (a
corporation listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:
601918), and Beijing Life Insurance Co., Ltd. Mr. Cui was an
Ltd. Mr. Cui
graduated from the China University of Political Science and Law

independent director of Essence Securities Co.,

with a bachelor degree in laws in 1991. He also holds a master
degree in laws from the same university.

Mr. Zhang Lei, aged 53, joined Hainan International Trust and
Investment Corporation in 1994. Mr. Zhang Lei was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company with effect
from 11th November, 2008. His employment was subsequently
extended to 11th November, 2023. He used to be the trading
manager of the Beijing sales department. In the same year, he was
certified as a trader and liquidator by Beijing Securities Exchange
Center. According to the requirements of the People’s Bank of
China, it was restructured into Great Wall Securities Co., Ltd in
1996, and then obtained the qualification of securities underwriting
and fund trading issued by the Securities Association of China. He
served successively as deputy General Manager of Beijing
Fuchengmen Sales Department of Great Wall Securities Co., LTD.,
Deputy General Manager of Beijing Fengtai Haiying Road Sales
Department, General Manager of Beijing Tonghu Street Sales
Department of Tongzhou City, general Manager assistant of Beijing
Haidian Zhongguancun Sales Department. Mr. Zhang Lei graduated
from Renmin University of China in 1996, majoring in business and
economic management. He has accumulated more than 26 years of

experience in the securities industry.
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Mr. Chan Yee Hoi (“Mr. Chan"),
experience in banking, corporate finance, capital markets, direct

aged 73, has over 40 years’

investment, asset management and financial management. Mr. Chan
was appointed as Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company on 9th March, 2020 and has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of 3 years commencing 9th
March, 2020 which was subsequently extended to 9th March, 2026.
Since 2013, Mr. Chan has been an independent non-executive
director of Hong Fok Land International Limited, an unlisted public
company incorporated in Hong Kong, which is principally engaged in
property development business. Prior to Mr. Chan’s retirement in
2019, he had worked with various American banks in Hong Kong,
investment banks, corporate finance advisory, securities and fund
management companies and had gained substantial financial
management expertise. Between 2004 and 2015, he served as an
independent non-executive director and chairman of the audit
committee of Winfoong International Limited (its name was changed
to China Graphene Group Limited in 2016), a company listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”), which was principally engaged in property
management and horticultural services. Mr. Chan graduated from
the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Social Science
degree in 1971, and was a licensed representative licensed under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance to engage in type 1 (dealing in
securities), type 4 (advising on securities), type 5 (advising on futures
contracts) and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Philip Sau Yan (“Mr. Li”), aged 64, is the Company Secretary
of the Company. Mr. Li joined the Company in November 2008. He
had over 40 vyears of experience in auditing, accounting and
financial management. Mr. Li is a fellow member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Li is
a graduate of Imperial College London and holds a Bachelor of
Science degree.

CNNC International Limited 2022 Annual Report

BRUAE (TR AED - 7358 REBTTE -
TrERE EAME EEREREETHE
LU ERETEEBBBAIOFLR - RiEA
RZZEZZEF=ANAEZEAARABEL
FERMITES  REAQFINERKEH F
HAZE-TSF-ANAARH=F  HAL
EHZ-ZZTE-R"F=-ANAB-BZF—=%
BoORELE—EECBRNEREERQ A
(—REBEMIELTARAA) BIBILIEHR
TEE ZARFERERHEREEL -
BRAERZZT—NFRIRZA - b BEERE
MEREBRRT RERTT CETBE
B EBFMESEBERRIIE THELE
HEEREEENSE E_SSNFE_T
—hAFHME MEETELEHEEER QA
(ZE-—REFEZRTBGAEEBERA
Al —RREBBERIBERAF ([BR
Fr)ER EMM AR MBI IERITESFR
EREZECEFE ZARIENEBHEETE
REERYE BREER—NE—FEERS
BARE - EBEHEREELEM  WERE
BHELHABGROBSEHARNFERE XS
EF—H(BEHRS) FREGELREER
) FREBEAOREER)MEAN
HORHEEEE)IHEEH -

BRERE

FRCEE(ERRAED 6458 BADAM
E-FEER_ZTENF+—ANMAKXRAT
REHEABIOFAEBZYE S5t RMBER
Ko FRAE BRI R BRI 5TAD
NEEFGEREAEHMAGEREE -
& £ 2 ¥ N R Blimperial College

London  EX/S BRI 28 T8



Directors’ Report

EERAREE

The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
December, 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, associates and a joint
operation are set out in notes 16, 17 and 31 to the consolidated
financial statements. The market and business review are set out in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 82.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the Year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital are set out in
note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31st December, 2022, the Company had no reserves available
for distribution. However, in the event that the subsidiaries of the
Group distribute its reserves to the Company, the Company will be
able to distribute the reserves of its subsidiaries to its shareholders.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date
of this report were:

Chairman and non-executive director
Mr. Wang Cheng (appointed on 27th October, 2022)
Mr. Zhong Jie (resigned on 27th October, 2022)

Executive director
Mr. Zhang Yi

Non-executive director
Mr. Wu Ge
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Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cui Liguo

Mr. Zhang Lei

Mr. Chan Yee Hoi

In accordance with Article 16.18 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. Zhang Yi, Mr. Cui Liguo and Mr. Chan Yee Hoi will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

Mr. Cui Liguo and Mr. Zhang Lei had entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years from 11th November,
2020 to 11th November, 2023. Mr. Chan Yee Hoi has entered into
a service contract with the Company for a term of 3 vyears
commencing 9th March, 2020 which was subsequently extended to
9th March, 2026. Mr. Zhang Yi has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of 3 years commencing 4th May,
2020 which was subsequently extended to 4th May, 2026. Upon
agreement of both parties the abovementioned service contracts
shall continue thereafter until terminated by either party giving to
the other party not less than three months prior written notice.

Mr. Wang Cheng signed a non-executive director service contract
with the Company for a period of 3 years on 26th October, 2022.
Upon agreement of both parties the abovementioned service
contract shall continue thereafter until terminated by either party
giving to the other party not less than three months prior written
notice.

Mr. Wu Ge signed a non-executive director service contract with the
Company with retrospective effect to 4th May, 2020 for a period of
18th March, 2022, Mr. Wu's service contract was
subsequently extended to 4th May, 2026. Upon agreement of both
parties the abovementioned service contract shall continue thereafter
until terminated by either party giving to the other party not less
than one month prior written notice.

3 years on

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

None of the directors has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

CNNC International Limited 2022 Annual Report
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31st December, 2022, none of the Directors or chief executive of
the Company had an interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporation which had been notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") (including interests and short
positions in which they were deemed or taken to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or was required to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme adopted on 11th December, 2002 (2002
11th
December, 2012. A new share option scheme was adopted by the
Company on 3rd June, 2013 (“2013 Share Option Scheme”) and its
particulars are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial

Share Option Scheme”) was expired and terminated on

statements.
Share Option Scheme and 2013 Share Option Scheme since their
adoption. The purpose of the 2002 Share Option Scheme and the

No share option had been granted under the 2002

2013 Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees, directors,
consultants, advisers and shareholders of the Group and to promote

the success of the business of the Group.

EERRSIT =
B B 1y o B B Y B
ZEZFE+ZA=1+—HB ARRESE
SR ST A BB E N AR sk BT ] A7 Bk

EEM B - MR XESFTRERER
%&%EM%U%%&%bﬁMD%W$%

X

7&%8"435%1 AN T K B A P HO B # Bk
ﬁ(@%*ﬂ%ﬁ?ﬁ#&ﬂ;ﬁ S GEBlE KX E
%ﬁ%ﬁ?%ﬂi”‘f’ﬁ%*ﬁZ% RARB)  HIBIE
BELBPEEOFEIGZ R TEAELRA
REFENECMOERIOXE - HAERE
THARESETEARINE LTINS

ARAREBMERZ AR DA ([H
Frl) MR sR B -

FR Rz st 21

RoBEFET B+ B2 B
B(=-F%= i%k%ﬁibﬁ z-—%
+ZAT—BEBREL - ARABR-T

—=f7X"A=H %%%W%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ&%?riﬂﬁ:%
—ZFBRERE))  HEBENKREMB

WARK 24 - ERB-_ZEZT _FHERE S
&_T—:iﬁﬁﬁxiféﬂrgﬂlfxﬁ  WEREAR
B EIRHERE - — 2T _FERETE
M-ZT-=FREREE R IR RE
BREASTRAAKEEET EF BEHEM
PR L MR U TR A R B A 75 o

TRZERAERRQA

—To—EER b



62

DIFeCtOFS' Re port (continued)
EERWEE ¢

The number of shares which may be issued under the schemes are
subject to the following limits:

(i)  the maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the share option scheme of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the total
number of issued shares of the Company from time to time;

(i) without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders, the
total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the share option scheme of the Company is not
permitted to exceed 48,916,830 shares, representing 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company at the date approving
the 2013 Share Option Scheme; and

(iii)  the number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the date of such grant.

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable upon acceptance of the
grant of the option. The exercise price is determined by the
directors of the Company and will be at least the higher of (i) the
average of the closing prices of the ordinary shares of the Company
for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the
grant; (ii) the closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company
on the date of the grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the ordinary
shares of the Company.

Any options granted under the scheme must be exercised during
such option period as may be determined and notified by the
directors of the Company, which shall not exceed 10 years from the
date of acceptance of the option.

As at 31st December, 2022, no options have granted under the
2013 Share Option Scheme since their adoption. The total number
of new shares of the Company available for grant under the scheme
mandate of the 2013 Share Option Scheme at the beginning and
the end of the year ended 31st December, 2022 are 48,916,830
shares and 48,916,830 shares, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other share scheme (as

defined under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules) in force at the end
of the Year and up to date of this report.

CNNC International Limited 2022 Annual Report
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME" above, at no time during the Year was the Company or
any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
which the Company or any of its holding companies or subsidiaries
was a party and in which a director of the Company or an entity
connected with a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at
any time during the Year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance for provision of services to
which the Company or its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which any Controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries had a material interest subsisting at the end of the Year
or at any time during the Year.

COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the directors and Controlling Shareholders of the Company
has any interest in business which competes, either directly or

indirectly, with the business of the Group under the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Continuing Connected Transactions — Entering into
a Framework Agreement in relation to the Uranium
Supply Transaction and the Uranium Purchase
Transaction with CNUC

On 23rd February, 2022, the Company (for itself and on behalf of
each of its subsidiaries) and CNUC entered into the FA pursuant to
which the Group agreed to i) act as the prioritised supplier of CNUC
Group for its short term demand for natural uranium products and
the regional sole supplier of CNUC Group for its medium-to-long-
term demand for natural uranium products (“Uranium Supply
Transaction”); and ii) act as the exclusive authorised distributor for
the sale and distribution of uranium products produced by the
Réssing uranium mine (being indirectly owned by CNUC as to
approximately 68.62%), for on-sale to third party customers in all
countries and regions around the world except the PRC (“Uranium
On 23rd June, 2022, the FA, the

transactions contemplated thereunder, and the proposed annual caps

Purchase Transaction”).

under the Continuing Connected Transactions have been approved
by the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

independent shareholders of the Company at the

CNNC Overseas Limited (“CNOL") is a controlling shareholder of the
Company holding approximately 66.72% Shares and hence a
connected person of the Company. Since CNOL is directly wholly
owned by CNUC, CNUC is regarded as an associate of CNOL and
hence a connected person of the Company. As such, the
transactions contemplated under the FA constitute continuing
connected transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios
under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules for each of the Uranium
Supply Transaction and the Uranium Purchase Transaction are, on an
annual basis, over 5%, and the respective highest proposed annual
caps exceed HK$10,000,000, the transactions contemplated under
the FA are subject to the reporting, announcement, independent
shareholders’ approval and annual review

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

requirements under
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The transaction amounts (“Annual Caps”) for the transactions RIFEERBZRETHORIREEZE_ZT T
contemplated under the FA for the three financial years ending 31st F+-_A=+—HLE=FEFHRFENZTZE
December, 2024 are set out as follows: BAIFELRDEIWOT :

Annual Caps for the year ended/
ending 31st December

BE+-A=+—-BHLEENEELR

2022 2023 2024

—E=-= —E-= —E=-m|m

Transaction HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
X5 BETT EETRT EETR
Uranium Supply Transaction R 5 1,000,000 1,300,000 1,700,000
Uranium Purchase Transaction B S 1,300,000 1,300,000 1,400,000

The actual transaction amounts of the Uranium Supply Transaction RAFEE#HEESSMMFTEESZIHEERER

and the Uranium Purchase Transaction for the year are as follows: SEFBEWT :
For the year
ended
31st December,
2022
B=E
—g=-=
+=A=+-—H
IEEE
HK$°000
EETT
— Uranium Supply Transaction — HEHERZS 205,764
— Uranium Purchase Transaction* — HERER S 696,982
* The uranium purchase transaction which facilitated the trades of natural uranium for a subsidiary * RAFEATEERAANNMBEBARNREBRAMZIHN
of intermediate holding company brought in commission income of approximately SR I 50 5 45 S 40 114,224,000 K R S A @

HK$14,224,000 for the Year.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 23rd B ZHE #H2EAQXIHBHA-_ZT - —

February, 2022, 26th May, 2022 and 23rd June, 2022, and circular —AZ+=B - ZZE-_—_F#FRA=-+HX

of the Company dated 31st May, 2022 for further details. TEZ_FRXAZTZANAE UEAR
AHBMAZTE-_—FAA -1+ —HMER-

RIZBEERARAT —T-—4FF3#% 65
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The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed and confirmed the above continuing connected
transactions have been entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2) on normal commercial terms;

(3) in accordance with the relevant agreements; and

(4) on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”
and with
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing

reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’'s Letter on
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

The Board has confirmed that the auditor has issued an unqualified
letter in respect of the aforesaid continuing connected transaction in
accordance with LR14A.56 under the Listing Rules and reported the
results in this letter to the Board, and a copy of the auditor’s letter
was submitted to the Stock Exchange. The letter stated that:

(1) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the relevant continuing connected transactions have not
been approved by the Board,

(2) in relation to the relevant continuing connected transactions
involving the supply of goods or services by the Group,
nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the transactions were not, in any material

respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

(3)  nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the relevant continuing connected transactions were not,
in any material respects, in accordance with the terms of the
relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(4)  nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the
exceeded the

relevant continuing connected transactions have
respective annual caps applicable to such

transactions.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with “related parties” as
defined under the applicable accounting standards. A summary of
the related party transactions entered into by the Group during Year
is contained in note 29 to consolidated financial statements.

All the other related party transactions constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company,
among which all such transactions are fully exempted connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions, as the case may
be, save for the Uranium Supply Transaction and the Uranium
Purchase Transaction.

The disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules have been complied in respect of the non-fully
exempted connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under announcements of the Company dated 23rd
February, 2022, 26th May, 2022 and 23rd June, 2022, and circular

of the Company dated 31st May, 2022.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31st December, 2022, the interests and short positions of the
then shareholders of the Company (other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company) in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO or which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company

“Directors’ Report continved
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Percentage of
Number of the issued

issued ordinary share capital of

Name of shareholder Capacity shares held the Company

FifEET EFATERT
B2 R & 78 5% LiEREE BRAE S
CNNC Overseas Limited Corporate interest 326,372,273 66.72%

("CNOL") (Note)
B INE R AR (T o) (T FE) NEER
China National Uranium Co., Ltd. (“CNUC") (Note) Corporate interest 326,372,273 66.72%
REIEAR QA (A D (M) NEER
China National Nuclear Corporation (“CNNC") (Note) Corporate interest 326,372,273 66.72%
PEZIEEEERAR(RZER]) (M) AGIE: F
PIZEBRERAR T _FFIR
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Note:  CNOL is the immediate holding company of the Company, which is wholly owned by CNUC,

whereas CNUC is a subsidiary of CNNC.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December, 2022, no person
(other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had an
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company that were required to be recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO or which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

PURCHASE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
shares.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS, EMPLOYEES AND OTHER
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers, employees and other
stakeholders to meet the Group’s immediate and long-term goals.
The Group’s purchases were made from a number of suppliers. The
Group intends to seek and negotiate with major uranium product
traders in the market with a view to expand its supplier and
customer base. So far as the directors are aware, at no time during
the Year have the directors, their close associates or any shareholder
of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors own
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in
the major suppliers and customers of the Group.

The Company creates a framework for motivating staff and an

formal communication channel in order to maintain healthy

relationships with its employees and other stakeholders.
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The percentage of purchases and sales attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers and customers for the Year are as follows:

S
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AEEAKETZEHERREFNRELHE
EBOLWT :

Purchases Sales

R HE

e the largest supplier: approximately 38% e the largest customer: approximately 38%

o HARMEN : £38% o HAREP :#138%

e the five largest suppliers: approximately 100% e the five largest customers: approximately 100%
o HAMER : £9100% o HAEF :#100%

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by
the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,

qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are recommended
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
directors and eligible employees, details of which are set out in
note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. The Group is
engaged in uranium resources business and one of its main
objectives is to become an environment friendly corporation.
Minimizing in consumption of resources and adopt of environmental
best practices across the Group’s businesses are the commitment of
the Group to conserve and improve the environment. The Group
shall make every endeavour to comply with laws and regulations
regarding environmental protection and adopt effective measures to
achieve efficient use of

resources, energy saving and waste

reduction.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to complying with the requirements under
the Companies Law (Revised) under the laws of Cayman Islands, the
Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance and the SFO under the laws
of Hong Kong. The subsidiaries in Mongolia and PRC are also
committed to complying with the requirements under the Law of
Mongolia and the Law of PRC respectively.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association of the Company, or the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association of the Company provide that every
director is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her
office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has taken out
and maintained directors’ liability insurance throughout the Year,
which provides appropriate cover for the Directors and directors of
the subsidiaries of the Company.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

The following circumstances giving rise to the obligations of
disclosure pursuant to Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules continue to

exist after the year ended 31st December, 2022.

(1) In March 2021, China Nuclear International Corporation as the
borrower (the “Borrower”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, accepted the terms of a general banking
facility of a banking institution for trade finance in the amount
of up to US$30,000,000 (the “Revised Facility”). Utilization of
the Facility is conditional upon the prior approval of the bank,
and each drawdown is repayable within 180 days.
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Pursuant to the Revised Facility, among other matters, the
Company and the Borrower undertake and procure with the
bank that, throughout the life of the Revised Facility: (i) The
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
(the “SASAC") of the

People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") shall maintain directly

Commission of the State Council

100% equity interest in China National Nuclear Corporation
(“CNNC"); (ii) CNNC shall maintain (directly or indirectly)
100% equity interest in China National Uranium Co., Ltd, a
company incorporated in the PRC which had provided a letter
of comfort in relation to the Revised Facility; and (iii) CNNC
shall maintain (directly or indirectly) not less than 51% equity
interest in the Company. Breach of the above obligations may
result in early repayment of all drawdowns of the Revised
Facility. There is no drawdown of the Revised Facility as of
December 31, 2022 and up to date of this report.

2019, China Nuclear International
“Borrower")

On 2nd September,
(the
wholly-owned subsidiary of CNNC International Limited (the

Corporation as the borrower, a direct
“Company”), entered into a general banking facility agreement
with a banking institution for the purchase of electronic
components or other goods acceptable to the bank for its
trading business in the amount of up to US$30,000,000 (the
“Facility”). The Facility is uncommitted facility and available
commitment may be cancelled by the bank at any time. Each

drawdown is repayable within 60 days.

Pursuant to the Facility, among other matters, early repayment
of the Facility may be required (together with interests accrued
thereon and other amounts payable thereunder) if China
National Nuclear Corporation (FEZ T X% B BR QA7)
(“CNNC") ceases to be the major shareholder and beneficially
own (directly or indirectly) at least 66.72% of the issued share
capital of the Company except for the prior written consent
from the bank, such consent not be unreasonably withheld. As
at the date of this annual report, the Company is owned as to
approximately 66.72% by CNNC Overseas Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of CNNC (which is wholly owned by
The State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the State Council (BB BEEEEBEEER
8 &) of the People’s Republic of China).

Breach of the above obligations may result in early repayment
of all drawdowns of the Facility. There is no drawdown of the
Facility as of 31st December, 2022 and up to date of this
report.
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AUDITOR = BBl

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year AARBE T -_—_F+_A=Z+—HIF
ended 31st December, 2022 were audited by BDO Limited. A EWGAVBRRACHBEB L EEZSTHM
resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general HEEATAR A AITEZ - KRR IGHEREKRE
meeting of the Company to re-appoint BDO Limited as auditor of BEBFAGREREE  BEEES I EExS

the Company. FREBAARARARRE 2 ZEE -
On behalf of the Board RERESR

ET

Wang Cheng ER/
Chairman FE
Hong Kong, 30th March, 2023 B —E-_=ZF=ZA=H
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CNNC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CNNC
International Limited (“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group”) set out on pages 82 to 184, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st December,
2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter
described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section of our report,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st December,
2022 and of
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with

its consolidated financial performance and its
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

As described in the Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had commenced the supply chain business (as defined in
Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements) as one of its
principal activities through the trading of electronics products
(“Electronics Products Business”) and dispersed metals (“Dispersed
Metals Business”) on a back-to-back basis. Goods were arranged to
be delivered to the Group’s warehouses by suppliers, certain of
whom were noted to be introduced by customers, for customers’
collections within an agreed timeframe.

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (continves)
As further
statements, the Group entered into several sale and purchase

disclosed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
transactions of electronics products with two customers (“Two
Customers”) and three suppliers (“Three Suppliers”) during October
2019 to February 2020. As at 31st December, 2019 and 1st
January, 2020, there were inventories amounting to HK$40,820,000
awaiting collection by the Two Customers and contract liabilities
amounting to HK$8,018,000
corresponding to these inventories. In early 2020, goods costing
HK$11,589,000 and customer’'s deposits of HK$5,370,000 were
further received by the Group and awaiting collection by the Two
Customers. These goods, with a total cost of HK$52,409,000,
however, were not collected by the Two Customers within the

representing customers’ deposits

agreed timeframe. During an inventory inspection exercise,
management noted that certain samples of the uncollected goods
might have quality issues. Further to the communication with one of
the Two Customers, management suspected that the intermediate
supplier and intermediate customer in one transaction chain might
be controlled by the same parties. The management resolved to and
subsequently identified and engaged a recognised independent
electronic component testing institution to carry out testing of those
inventories between December 2020 and February 2021. The
resultant testing reports revealed that these inventories were found
to include a mix of substandard, refurbished or counterfeit goods
("Problematic Goods”). Management of the Company determined to
write-down these Problematic Goods costing HK$52,409,000 in full
as expense and forfeited the deposits received of HK$13,388,000 as
revenue to consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income during the year ended 31st December, 2020.

The above incidents raised our concerns as to the reason for the
occurrence of the transactions related to the Problematic Goods
being supplied by three different suppliers which were introduced by
the Two Customers; and the relationships between the intermediate
suppliers and intermediate customers. Furthermore, it was noted that
the Dispersed Metals Business was also managed by the same
management team and was carried out in a similar manner and
These
circumstances led us to question the nature, business rationale and

trading terms as the Electronics Products Business.

commercial substance of the transactions carried out under the
supply chain business.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (continved)

We communicated our concerns to the board of directors (“the
Board”) during our audit for the financial year ended 31st
December, 2020 and requested explanations as to how our
concerns are considered in the determination of the accounting
treatments and related disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31st December, 2020. However, we
had not received sufficient information and explanations from the
Board that could satisfy ourselves as to the nature, business
rationale and commercial substance of the transactions carried out
under the supply chain business.

Based on the above, we issued a disclaimer of opinion on the
Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
December, 2020 as we were unable to perform sufficient audit
procedures to satisfy ourselves as to the nature, business rationale
and commercial substance of the transactions carried out under the
supply chain business and, as a consequence, we were unable to
ascertain whether the transactions carried out under the supply
chain business were fairly stated and properly accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
December, 2020. These includes:

—  revenue of HK$999,476,000, cost of sales of HK$1,026,211,000
(including the write-down of inventory of HK$52,409,000) and
other income of HK$2,277,000 recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31st December, 2020;

— inventories of HK$nil, trade receivables of HK$29,305,000, bills
payables of HK$nil and contract liabilities of HK$nil as at 31st
December, 2020; and

—  the related cashflows and disclosures thereof in the consolidated
financial statements.

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, as described in the
Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements, the supply chain
business were suspended with the last sale transaction entered into
in late 2020 and discontinued in first half of 2021. Because of this,
the results of the supply chain business are presented as
discontinued operation and the Group has recognised a profit for
the year from discontinued operation of HK$1,767,000 during the
year ended 31st December, 2021.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (continues

However, since the abovementioned limitation of scope remains
unresolved during the audit for the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31st December, 2021, we were unable to
determine whether the profit for the year from discontinued
operation of HK$1,767,000 during the year ended 31st December,
2021, the loss for the year from discontinued operation of
HK$36,506,000 during the year ended 31st December, 2020 and the
related disclosures relating to the discontinued operation are fairly
stated. Any adjustments to the profit for the year from discontinued
operation for the year ended 31st December, 2021, the loss for the
year from discontinued operation for the year ended 31st
December, 2020 and the related disclosures found necessary might
have consequential impact on the financial performance for the
and 2020 and the related
disclosures in these financial statements. Therefore, we issued a

years ended 371st December, 2021

qualified opinion on the consolidated statement of cash flows of the
Group for the year ended 31st December 2021.

Our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31st December, 2022
possible effects of the abovementioned matter on the comparability

is modified because of the

of the current year’s figure and the corresponding figure for the
year ended 31st December, 2021 in the consolidated statements of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended
31st December, 2022.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial

under those standards are further described

Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other

Group
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that

the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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Re p (0] rt (continued)
BIRUARE o

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. As described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion”
section above, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the nature, business rationale and
commercial substance of the transactions carried out under the
supply chain business; and whether the transactions carried out
under the supply chain business were fairly stated and properly
accounted for. Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or
not the other information is materially misstated with respect to this
matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These

judgement, were of most significance in our

matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
“Basis for

matters. In addition to the matter described in the

Qualified Opinion” section, we have determined the matters
described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in

our report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment on the interest in an
associate

Refer to Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements and the
significant accounting policies in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group has 11.36% equity interest in an associate, CNNC
Financial Leasing Company Limited (“CNNC Leasing”), which is a
limited liability company incorporated in the PRC. As at 31st
December, 2022, the interest in CNNC Leasing held by the Group is
approximately HK$438,257,000.

Following a review of the business, by considering the outlook for
the industry and the market conditions with the impact of the
Covid-19 pandemic, there is a risk of impairment in respect of the
interest in an associate; management has carried out the impairment
assessment on the interest in an associate.

We considered this a key audit matter because this involves a
significant degree of management judgement in respect of the
valuation methods and assumptions for the estimation of the
recoverable amount of the interest in CNNC Leasing.

How the matter was addressed in our audit
Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment on the
interest in an associate included:

— We have reviewed the management’'s assessment of the
indicators of impairment and understand and assess the
reasonableness of the methods and assumptions used in the
valuation model to estimate the recoverable amount of the
associate.

—  We have discussed and assessed the indicators of possible
impairment with the management and the component auditors
and, where such indicators were identified, assessed the
management’s impairment testing.

—  We have assessed the valuation methodology and compared
significant inputs to third party sources.

—  We have also understood and assessed the key assumptions and

critical judgement used by the management based on our
knowledge of the business and industry.
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Independe

BUBHRE

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
misstatement,

financial statements that are free from material

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are also responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists
the directors of the Company in discharging their responsibility in
this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and

have complied with relevant ethical requirements
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors of the Company,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
we determine that a matter should not be

communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of

circumstances,

doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Ng Wai Man
Practising Certificate Number P05309

Hong Kong
30th March, 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive InCome

AERERAMZERER

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 & = == [ = Ha e E Rl

2022 2021
—®g-= —E-—%F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BETT BT T
Continuing operations FEEEER
Revenue A 5 905,730 280,639
Cost of sales HEKRAK (802,938) (260,029)
Gross profit EH 102,792 20,610
Other income and gains and losses, net  E fth U A K U 25 A K2
B8 ¥ 7 3,938 3,240
Net exchange (losses) gains FIEN (B8E) ke (2,339) 892
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (1,593) (639)
Administrative expenses T (31,190) (26,255)
Share of result of an associate BB E N R EE 16 25,084 15,065
Finance costs B 75 B AR 8 (8,602) (9,834)
Profit before tax B 15 A& A 9 88,090 3,079
Income tax expenses FrisfiMx 10 (7,247) (2,457)
Profit for the year BELCEEBFHNEN
from continuing operations i 80,843 622
Discontinued operation RIEEEER
Profit for the year BIEREEBRN
from discontinued operation F N 11 — 1,767
Profit for the year FNm 80,843 2,389
Other comprehensive (expense) income fth 2 & (B %) Bt
Items that maybe reclassified subsequently {2 @ E 3 482
to profit or loss: BmZHAE -
Exchange differences arising on MEBINEEIES
translation of foreign operations K TE X =58 (4,896) 577
Share of exchange difference of Vg R/ NI
an associate ZEN =% (18,994) 22,622
Other comprehensive (expense) income — 4F A E 4 2 & (5 )
for the year A (23,890) 23,199
Total comprehensive income KRB HB ANEMLFER
for the year attributable to owners of 2HEKA L
the Company 56,953 25,588
Basic and diluted earnings per share BREREBERT 13
— Continuing operations —BEKREER HK16.5 cents HKO.1 cents
#&¥16.51U 75 #6011
— Discontinued operation — R R HK— cents HKO.4 cents
EE—L 710,410
HK16.5 cents HKO.5 cents
##516.51U 75 #0.51L
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o dated Statement of | an"'c'iﬂé'\_f Position

AEMBMRRE

ARBISEYEcem e 202280 ST i e el

2022 2021
—F=-= — - —4F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 BETR BT T
Non-current assets RBHEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERREE 14 360 345
Exploration and evaluation assets BRERETFEEE 15 — —
Interests in associates REERNF 2R 16 438,257 456,076
438,617 456,421
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 18 76,233 682
Other receivables and prepayments HAb EWHRIB A KRTE
KB 19 1,344 14,714
Prepaid tax IERNEEN — 229
Bank balances and cash RITHBRERS 20 130,732 120,625
208,309 136,250
Current liabilities mENE &
Other payables and accruals E th fE S
A A e EET R K 21 27,765 23,600
Amount due to immediate holding T EEZER AT
company KIE 29(a) 519 232
Amount due to an intermediate holding & — I /42 %
company NEIF S 29(a) 1,905 1,903
Amount due to ultimate holding JE T B B IR & A
company KIE 29(a) 1,977 1,977
Loan from immediate holding company R & HEEK A A
B E & 29(b) 36,000 12,000
Income tax payable FETFT S B 5,152 304
73,318 40,016
Net current assets RBEEZFE 134,991 96,234
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRHER 573,608 552,655
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position conined

At 31st December, 2022 RZ-ZZTE-_—_+=-A=+—H

2022 2021
—T-C —F-—F
NOTES HK$’'000 HK$'000
B & BETR BT T
Non-current liability EREEE
Loan from immediate holding company R & & EZ#EK A A
& % 29(b) 182,000 218,000
Net assets BEEEE 391,608 334,655
Capital and reserves BAREE
Share capital 1% 7 22 4,892 4,892
Share premium and reserves IR A0 B R 23 386,716 329,763
Equity attributable to owners EATHEANELER
of the Company 391,608 334,655

EREIBAAZHEAEYBRREN T =
FZA=ZTHEHESERAERTEERL
YHTIIEERERS:

The consolidated financial statements on pages 82 to 184 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 30th
March, 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

84

Wang Cheng Zhang Yi
ER 5 &
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF BEFE
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mERDEER

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—HLEFE

Non-
Share Share Capital distributable Merger  Statutory Translation Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
T4k

kE  RHEE EXHEE HiE AMEE ETHE ERRE  RHBE £
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETR BETR  B%Tr B%Tr BETr E%Tr  BNTn B%Tx

(Note 22)  (Note 23)  (Note 23) (Note 23)  (Note 23)  (Note 23)  (Note 23)

(M22)  (W323)  (Wsk23)  (W&23)  (W&R23)  (W&23)  (WER23)
At 1st January, 2021 R-%--%-8-H 4,892 868,805 80,827 16,584 127 635 21,399 (684,202) 309,067
Profit for the year FREF - - - - — — — 2,389 2,389
Exchange differences arising on translation HEE4EMHEZE - — — — — — 577 — 577

Share of exchange difference of an EEHENRZELER
associate — — — — — — 22,622 — 22,622
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ FRZE WA LE - — — — — — 23,199 2,389 25,588
Transfer of profits to statutory reserve ERRFEEERE - - - — — 2 — 92) —
At 31st December, 2021 R-B--£+-A=+-H 4,892 868,805 80,827 16,584 127 721 44,598 (681,905) 334,655
Profit for the year ERET - - — - — - - 80,843 80,843
Exchange differences arising on translation REE4EMHREEE - - - - - - (4,896) - (4,896)
Share of exchange difference of an EiEHERAZELRER
associate - - - - - - (18,994) - (18,994)
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ £AZEHAAE - - - - - - (23,890) 80,843 56,953
At 31st December, 2022 R-F-Z£+-A=+-8 4,892 868,805 80,827 16,584 127 727 20,708 (601,062) 391,608
PRERERAT —T-—#%# 85



Consolidated Statement of .Cash Flows

GERERER

For the year ended 31st December, 2022

2022 2021
—g=-= T —4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES K EIEE)
Profit before tax from FESE ETEHBR TR R T
continuing operations 88,090 3,079
Profit before tax from BRI E E B R A
discontinued operation bl — 1,899
Profit before tax B 15 B A 88,090 4,978
Adjustments for: KR
Depreciation of property, plant and W WEREZBITE
equipment 169 95
Depreciation of right-of-use asset TREEERE — 111
Amortisation of loan front-end fee EXEEE BE#E — 3,372
Share of result of an associate Vil /NI (25,084) (15,065)
Interest on bank borrowings RITIE R B — 5,413
Interest on loan from immediate holding E&EERAREZRNF B
company 8,602 1,047
Interest on lease liability HEARNE — 2
Interest income from overdue trade i B JE U B 5 BR SR Y
receivables B U A — (1,1701)
Interest income from banks R1TH B WA (1,541) (825)
Operating cash flows before movements  ZiE&E & ZEEFI 2 K&
in working capital 70,236 (1,973)
(Increase) decrease in inventories REREFECEMN) LD (75,552) 3,128
Decrease in other receivables and ot & W R IE LA N TE AN SRR R A
prepayments 13,366 31,185
Increase in other payables and accruals B JRE < FRIE DA B FE ST R BRI AN 1,302 1,555
Increase in amount due to immediate FET B B AR A B 5RIE 1S AN
holding company 287 232
Net cash generated from operations RKELLEZRE 9,639 34,127
Income tax paid T AHLIE (2,170) (3,176)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING REKLEEFH 2 H ¢ F5
ACTIVITIES 7,469 30,951
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f CaSh FIOWS (continued)
n-\éiﬁvﬁﬁéﬁ (&)

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HE-_ZT_-_—_F+_A=+—BHLEE

Consolidated State

2022 2021
—Eg=-= T —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BEF T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES WEEE

Release of restricted cash 5 B 2 PR Ml 3R & — 5,433
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BE k& E (224) (281)
Interest received from banks BUER1TF B 1,541 825

Interest received from overdue trade BE RN E SR

receivables B A — 1,101
Dividend received from associate BUEERRRE 23,909 —
NET CASH GENERATED FROM INVESTING HRE®REEEH 2R F5H

ACTIVITIES 25,226 7,078
FINANCING ACTIVITIES B & B
Repayments of bank borrowings EEIEITHER — (285,497)
Interest paid A F B (7,120) (5,476)
New borrowing from immediate holding  RE HZEIER A A2 FE XK

company — 230,000
Repayment of loan from immediate holding R B8 B £ A A8 XK

company (12,000) —
Advance from (repayment to) mM—&BaEHER(kg—%

a joint operator BEFBR) 1,405 (644)
Repayment to fellow subsidiaries BEEREMBARZEN — (140)
Interest elements of lease rental paid ENEEESNFNEHD — (2)
Capital elements of lease rental paid ENHEHSNE RS S — (117)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES FR{ERI & EEH 2 IR & F 5 (17,715) (61,876)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND & RIR & EEWHE O L)

CASH EQUIVALENTS N F EE 14,980 (23,847)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R—A—BREERASEEY

AT 1ST JANUARY 120,625 144,333
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE INEEXREFH 2 HE

CHANGES (4,873) 139
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Re R ﬁﬁfﬁ{ﬂ%

AT 31ST DECEMBER, represented +-—A=+—

by bank balances and cash R 1T *ﬁ%&fﬁﬁiﬂﬂi 130,732 120,625

hRBEBRERAR —T-—F4% 87



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE MR

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #H &

= SEaspe == O = ENIE A
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GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
General information

CNNC International Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company’s immediate holding company is CNNC Overseas
Limited (“CNNC Overseas”), a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the Company’s intermediate holding company
and ultimate holding company are F R Z G R 2 7 (China
National Uranium Co., Ltd.) and FEIZ T HXEEBEEFR QA
(China National Nuclear Corporation “CNNC"), a state-owned
entity in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"),
respectively.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries, associates and joint operation are
set out in Notes 31, 16 and 17 respectively.

The functional currency of the Company is United States
dollars (“US$”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") for the convenience
of the shareholders, as the Company is listed in Hong Kong.
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000")
unless otherwise indicated.

Problematic purchases in the supply chain
business segment (“Problematic Purchases”)

In 2018, the Group had commenced the supply chain business
as one of its principal activities through trading of electronics
products (“Electronics Products Business”) and dispersed metals
("Dispersed Metals Business”) on a back-to-back basis which
was managed under essentially the same management team.
Goods were arranged to be delivered to the Group’s
warehouses by suppliers, certain of whom were noted to be
introduced by customers, for customers’ collections within an
agreed timeframe. Both the Electronics Products Business and
Dispersed Metals Business were carried out in a similar manner
and trading terms. Details of the financial information of the
supply chain business segment were set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statement.
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No esto the Consolidated-F"’_

State me ntS (continued)
BAMBRRME

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—HLLEFE

GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
(continued)

Problematic purchases in the supply chain
business segment (“Problematic Purchases”)
(continued)

During the period between October 2019 and February 2020,
the Group entered into several transactions of electronics
products with Customers A and B (“Two Customers”) and with
Suppliers X, Y and Z (“"Three Suppliers”). As at 31st
December, 2019, there were inventories amounting to
HK$40,820,000 awaiting collection by the Two Customers and
contract liabilities amounting to HK$8,018,000 representing
customers’ deposits corresponding to these inventories. In early
2020, goods costing HK$11,589,000 and customers’ deposits
of HK$5,370,000 were further received by the Group and
awaiting collection by the Two Customers. These goods, with
a total cost of HK$52,409,000, however, were not collected by
the Two Customers within the agreed timeframe. During an
inventory inspection exercise, management noted that certain
samples of the uncollected goods might have quality issues.
Management of the Company resolved to and subsequently
identified and engaged a recognised independent electronic
component testing institution to carry out testing of those
inventories between December 2020 and February 2021. The
resultant testing reports revealed that those inventories were
found to include a mix of substandard, refurbished or
counterfeit goods (“Problematic Goods”). Management of the
Company determined to write-down the Problematic Goods
costing HK$52,409,000 in full as expense and forfeited the
received of HK$13,388,000 as
consolidated

deposits revenue to the

statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income during the year ended 31st December,
2020. As of the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, the Problematic Goods still remain in the

Group’s warehouse.

1.
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#40,820,000T M IF EE R & & P U
B DA K & %8 A 8,018,0007T M) &
HNEE BEZSTEHENRPR
T R_T_TFY AEEHER
BIpk AR A&7 #511,589,000T M & 5 K B
#5,370,000L M B FIES @ WEFM
EEFPWE - MEREFPILEL
WERBEABRZEERANABBE
52,409,000t K Emn © E R X EFIRE
ITHh BEEEZEINRKIMEME
BOEAREEEEME - AR AT
BEAEVEENEREZ -—RAR
MBLEFLHAHAKE RZ2F=
TF+ AR —F-AHMHAY
ZEBEFETAR - BHBRENER
BL BRZETEGAERETERE
£ SEEEIBEBREER(HESRE
@D  RRRBEEERERKAN BB
52,409,000 T 1) 1 R & & 2 BUMURL 72
A - WS WEUE13,388,0007T A
BRI REBEE-_Z-_ZF+ A
=St -HLFENGAEBmRMEM
2EHRERFINABWA - HEZFLH
AU BHREMERS BBREERMD
BEAEEMBEER -

TRERAERRQA

—T-o—EER 89



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontined
REVBRBRHEE @

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #H &

= SEaspe == O = ENIE A

90

GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
(continued)

Problematic purchases in the supply chain
business segment (“Problematic Purchases”)
(continued)

In light of the above circumstances, with consultation to its
legal advisor as to its right and obligations under the sales and
purchases contracts, the Group demanded refunds from the
Three Suppliers and pursued the collections by the Two
Customers concerning the Problematic Goods. During this
course, management of the Company noted the following:

i) Customer A had taken legal action against its on-sale
customer and the beneficiary of this on-sale customer for
breach of contracts and discovered relationship between
this on-sale customer and the supplier of Supplier X, who
was introduced by this on-sale customer, that they were
allegedly controlled and owned by the same individuals
("Problematic Purchase 1”); and

i) Supplier Y did not assist the Company to follow-up the
Problematic Goods with its supplier but referred the
Company to the representative of Customer B for the
matters in relation to the Problematic Goods. They are
not responsible for the Problematic Goods. (“Problematic
Purchase 2").

After seeking legal advice and having considered the results of
the laboratory testing reports, management of the Company
considered both Problematic Purchases 1 and 2 might involve
illegal acts perpetrated by the relevant customers and/or
suppliers, and therefore decided to report these suspicious
transactions to the law enforcement agencies in the PRC and
Hong Kong in 2021. However, no investigation was initiated by
these agencies due to lack of sufficient evidence.

With the recommendation of the audit committee (“AC"”) of
the Company, an independent director committee (“IDC"),
comprising all independent non-executive directors, was
established on 28th January, 2022 and the AC and IDC
engaged SHINEWING Financial Advisory Services Limited as the
independent expert (the “Independent Expert”) to perform an
independent review that aims at finding the facts in relation to
the Problematic Purchases and identifying the root cause(s) (the
“Independent Review").
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State me ntS (continued)
BAMBRRME

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—HLLEFE

GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
(continued)

Problematic purchases in the supply chain
business segment (“Problematic Purchases”)
(continued)

During the Independent Review, a number of limitations was
encountered by the Independent Expert. These limitations,
amongst others, included failure of interviewing the customers
and the suppliers of the Problematic Purchases 1 and 2 due to
their non-response to the interview invitations. The scope,
major procedures, findings and limitations of the Independent
Review were set out in the announcement made by the
Company dated 15th August, 2022.

To facilitate the Independent Review, an independent
corporate investigation and risk consulting firm was further
engaged to perform background investigations on the
customers and suppliers of the trading of electronics products
in the supply chain business and their directors and
shareholders. Based on the results of the background
investigations, the Independent Expert concluded that it was
very likely there existed a connection between:

(@) the alleged intermediate supplier and the alleged
intermediate customer identified by Customer A in
regards of Problematic Purchase 1; and

(b)  the Supplier Y and Customer B in regard of Problematic
Purchase 2.

Pursuant to the Independent Review report, the root causes
leading to the Problematic Purchases not being prevented and
detected comprised of, amongst others:

(i) significant internal control weaknesses, in terms of both
the control environment and the implementation;

(i) a lax risk management approach towards the conducts of
the business in favour of business growth having allowed
to persist, coupled with the lack of due care and skills
involved on the part of the operation team where risk
concerns raised and advices given by the risk

management department of the Company were at times

sidestepped and neglected by the operation team; and

(iii) imprudent business planning and design of business
model, which lacked consideration of all business risks
involved.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #HE-_T-_—_F+-_A=+—HIFE

GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
(continued)

Problematic purchases in the supply chain
business segment (“Problematic Purchases”)
(continued)

The IDC is of the view, which the AC and the management of
the Company concurred, that the combination of system and
human factors was the principal root causes leading to the
Problematic Purchases, which together contributed to the
failure on the part of the Company to detect and identify the
Problematic Purchases, and the failed system was then
exploited by the colluded customers and suppliers to conduct
transactions with suspicious commercial rationale through the
Group, leading to the Problematic Purchases.

Having evaluated, among other things, the financial and

inventory risks involved in the supply chain business,
particularly brought to light from incidents of the Problematic
Purchases as set out above, and the uncertainties on the
macro environment attributed by the COVID-19 pandemic,
management of the Company gradually reduced the scale of
the supply chain business in 2020. The supply chain business
was then suspended with the last sale transaction entered into

in late 2020 and discontinued in first half of 2021.

APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Adoption of new/amendments to HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following new/amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time in the current
year.

1.

—RERREHEE

14 P 88 52 75 5 BB B ) R 4R B
(TEE&RED e

BUYEEZEeRR(AEARAEKRE
BEeMEEEBNTRAE)  EMARE
ENEYHERBNIERER ME
EYARARAAREBERANEERER
B mblEXEBEERENT P MEHtE
BOBNE EBAEEETAER
REXEEANRS URHRBEER
8-

A (HERaE) HERZEB ML R
WA & R - 5B Rt 6y RS
BHEBERSEAORAR UEKE
COVID-19Z BT R B IR R A M K
B AXRBREEEBE_S_ZFZES
MR EREEBORE R fE
HEBER RE-THEEXFINZ
EERERER YR T =_—F L
FFRIE -

FE PR 2] 4B 5T B i A
BRERA (BEEHER
&35 |)
RENFETEIETBEBMBR
&= # 1|
REBRAFEERERUNTELES
RN A G WM EETE] KBTI BB
g LR -

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual BB MG mEER BoRE 2R
Framework 3% (BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use A ER 1EREE AR AT AT
£16% (BT K) EE
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts: Costs of BB e ER BREEAHN — B
Fulfilling a Contract 8375 (B &) TR K2 A
Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 9, BAMBREEA - BERBREEL
HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle Financial Instruments EZ-N\FEZZZ B (B
THEZFELE ) &@IA

The new/amendments to HKFRSs that effective from 1st
January, 2022 did not have significant financial impact on the
Group's accounting policies.
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APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO 2.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSSs") (continuea
New/amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies’

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting

Estimates'

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a

Single Transaction’

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and

Leaseback?

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 — Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

The amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose their
material rather than their significant accounting policies. The
amendments define what is ‘material accounting policy
information’ and explain how to identify when accounting
policy information is material. They further clarify that
immaterial accounting policy information does not need to be
disclosed. If it is disclosed, it should not obscure material
accounting information. The amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements provide guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures.
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APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO 2.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continvea)

New/amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not

FER#HE] EIETHE A
ﬁ#ﬁ%lﬁﬂu (TEBHBR
HEA])
EﬁE‘lﬁWﬁﬂEE;&mﬁﬁT/?@

yet effective (continued) nTE%ﬂ#ﬁiEﬂ:&E” (%)
Amendments to HKAS 8 — Definition of BEEETERE8H (1E5TX)—
Accounting Estimates Bil3i2ESE

The amendments clarify how companies should distinguish ZEBITABPARENWNESEE
changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting PR E g mE st b & & uﬂEqu

estimates. The distinction is important, because changes in
accounting estimates are applied prospectively to future
transactions and other future events, whereas changes in
accounting policies are generally applied retrospectively to past
transactions and other past events as well as the current
period.

Amendments to HKAS 12 — Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

The amendments require companies to recognise deferred tax
on transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal
amounts of taxable and deductible temporary differences. They
will typically apply to transactions such as leases of lessees and
decommissioning obligations, and will require the recognition
of additional deferred tax assets and liabilities. The
amendment should be applied to transactions that occur on or
after the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented. In addition, entities should recognise deferred tax
assets (to the extent that it is probable that they can be
utilised) and deferred tax liabilities at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period for all deductible and taxable
temporary differences associated with right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, and decommissioning, restoration and similar
liabilities, and the corresponding amounts recognised as part of
the cost of the related assets. The cumulative effect of
recognising these adjustments is recognised in retained
earnings, or another component of equity, as appropriate.
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APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO 2.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)
New/amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current

The narrow-scope amendments clarify that liabilities are
classified as either current or non-current, depending on the
rights that exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification is unaffected by the entity’s expectations or
events after the reporting date (e.g. the receipt of a waver or
a breach of covenant). The amendments also clarify what
HKAS 1 means when it refers to the ‘settlement’ of a liability.
The amendments could affect the classification of liabilities,
particularly for entities that previously considered
management'’s intentions to determine classification and for
some liabilities that can be converted into equity. They must
be applied retrospectively in accordance with the normal
requirements in HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors.

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants

The amendments deal with the classification of long-term loan
arrangements with covenants by specifying that covenants to
be complied with after the reporting date do not affect the
classification of loan arrangements as current or non-current at
the reporting date.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 — Lease Liability in
a Sale and Leaseback

The amendments add subsequent measurement requirements
for a sale and leaseback transaction, where the transfer of the
asset satisfies the requirements in HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers to be accounted for as a sale.
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APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO 2.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSS") (continued)
New/amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)
— Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify the extent of gains or losses to be
recognised when an entity sells or contributes assets to its
associate or joint venture. When the transaction involves a
business the gain or loss is recognised in full, conversely when
the transaction involves assets that do not constitute a
business the gain or loss is recognised only to the extent of
the unrelated investors’ interests in the joint venture or
associate.

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the
impact of adopting the above amendments to existing
standards to the Group. The Group has so far concluded that
the application of these new pronouncements will have no
material impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for financial instrument that are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
leasing that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

3.

FEEHTBR

GEREEE
AGIHBRRBEAD R RAKEA
FIFTEE B B B 5 WK - 18 A
TR - AIA D RERAG R 6 -

. has power over the investee; . AT EFITEEDN
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its . EH2 MK E T EEmESK

involvement with the investee; and
o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to
exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all three
of the following elements are present: power over the
investee, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the
investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those
variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of
these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position disclosed in
Note 30, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associate used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the
equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. Change in net assets of the associate other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's
share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in
that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in

identifiable assets and liabilities over

profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.

FEEHTBR

Interests in associates (continved) REEATZHEE @

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence AEENGRESAEEERERE S
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any NaEl =N IRRE - %@EE@
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the XEBER ZBERENZHEAEE
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in (EHEEE)eREETEGLERIFE36
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its SRUAE —HEEMNTT XETRER
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less Ao AR EE O £ %E (BN A
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment BEAQATERLEEXNANREE)HE

loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including

ﬁﬁﬁﬁ cEMEHERNBEBETE

goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of the SEIEMEE BEEE  HEK
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised ZIERE @EEEE’J*&B Do MZIBR
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable BRI E & EEEEN - BB BER

amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest is a
financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the associate
and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing the relevant interest in the associate is included

in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
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associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts NEZBE A BEZEEMREEERK
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in BEMTENMERER  FtALAE

relation to that associate on the same basis as would be
required if that associate had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or
loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant

associate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Joint arrangements

The Group is a party to a joint arrangement where there is a
contractual arrangement that confers joint control over the
relevant activities of the arrangement to the Group and at
least one other party. Joint control is assessed under the same
principles as control over subsidiaries.

The Group classifies its interests in joint arrangements as
either:

o Joint ventures: where the Group has rights to only the
net assets of the joint arrangement; or

o Joint operations: where the Group has both the rights to
assets and obligations for the liabilities of the joint
arrangement.

In assessing the classification of interests in joint

arrangements, the Group considers:

o the structure of the joint arrangement;

o the legal form of joint arrangements structured through
a separate vehicle;

o the contractual terms of the joint arrangement agreement;
and

o any other facts and circumstances (including any other

contractual arrangements).

The Group accounts for its interests in joint ventures in the
same manner as investments in associates.

The Group accounts for its interests joint operations by

recognising its share of assets, liabilities, revenues and

expenses in accordance with its contractually conferred rights
and obligations.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEHBE®
(continued)
Goodwill e

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of
the Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree over
the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities measured
as at the acquisition date.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities exceed
the aggregate of the fair value of consideration paid, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree, the excess is recognised in
profit or loss on the acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an
acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable
group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups
of assets. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, by comparing its
carrying amount with its recoverable amount, and whenever
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that financial year.
When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is
less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss
is first allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit, and then to the other assets of
the unit on a pro-rata basis on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. However, the loss allocated to each asset will
not reduce the individual asset’s carrying amount to below its
fair value less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its value in
use (if determinable), whichever is the higher. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not
reversed in subsequent periods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group's
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which
represents a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a part of a single co-ordinated plan to
dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with
a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal
or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as
held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the operation is
abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented on the face of the statement of profit or
loss, which comprises the post-tax profit or loss of the
discontinued operation and post-tax gain or loss recognised on
the measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on the
disposal, of the assets or disposal group constituting the
discontinued operation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added taxes or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may be
transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of the

3.
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goods or service is transferred over time if the Group's FEUTIER - BIE aa 3 AR 1 2 1% il 12
performance: Be s A7
. provides all of the benefits received and consumed . % P [A] B R K2 R R A 5 [ R 4V

simultaneously by the customer;

° creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a
point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods
or service.

(i)  Trading of mineral properties and supply chain

Customers obtain control of the uranium and dispersed
metals and electronics products when the goods are
delivered to and have been accepted. Revenue is thus
recognised upon when the customers accepted. There is
generally only one performance obligation. Invoices are
usually payable within 5-120 days after delivery dates
which depends on the credit quality of customers.

CNNC International Limited 2022 Annual Report

PRttt 2 P A s

. EARMBREFRAAEEBOR
FrEH 2 AR R

s UEEAHAKEMSEABENR
Rz EE BARASEEA R
B IT M B 5 PSR 2 B AT
W ER A 3R o

1&1’“&';@}2)%&5‘5‘2% HlERE R RER

:mi’]iﬁlﬂqﬂﬁ”@i’],\{iznﬁ
ERER - BB EREFPEE
ARG 2 E I 2 R R o

o
D%E\\ hi
%Fﬁr“‘i

iy REBEVELHER
%}EE/\P%DE 2 A5 BB Mg By g

S eBEMAEFEMZIE
%M%E AR ERNEPEXER
BHEA BETEA-HBEENEA
T-BRBBEANKIM B HIRS
EN0RAXN - RFEFEFPHIE
EEEME -



. ‘ S 'tO the C0n50|ldated FlnanCIa| Statements (continued)
BARHREMET o

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—HLLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continvea)
(i)  Interest income

Interest income is recognised on time-proportion basis
using effective interest methods.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the
other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before that
good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to
be provided by the other party.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEEFHERe

(continued)

Exploration and evaluation assets BiR R LEE

Exploration and evaluation assets are recognised at cost on BVER K AT A B B N 1)) 25 B SR R 1R B R
initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition, R -MTERE BDRERRTHEE
exploration and evaluation assets are stated at cost less any BRRAB AR REREBEYER -
accumulated impairment losses.

Exploration and evaluation assets include the cost of HIRNEEEDERERE 2R
exploration rights and the expenditure incurred in the search RERRARERRETRRZEAER
for natural resources as well as the determination of the EREMEMELRESAIITME S 2
technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting those X o

resources.

When the technical feasibility and commercial viability of EEBBRETHRERABERERN R
extracting natural resources become demonstrable, previously MELHIBATE BEEER 2
recognised exploration and evaluation assets are reclassified as REAEEESETIBREREE
either intangible assets or property, plant and equipment. EME -BMELEH BFEERE
These assets are assessed for impairment before o AR mBRER - AR
reclassification, and any impairment loss is recognised in profit BEEBERIEBZRNER-

or loss.

Leases (The Group as a leasee) HE(XEBEAXEMEN)
Definition of a lease HAEMT S

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the MENBBLIREMS TE—BEHE
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of NEH AR EECANERN - A%
time in exchange for consideration. BHEHENBREHE -

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business MR ERERAB BN 2B LB R
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the SEEBEHMEEANEGAME &
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based ERBEEEVBEREENEIRNTE
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification ERIE - 1S5 A B Uk EE A E (W@
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not B fEZzevetBERExe s
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract E -RIFEONBERRGEHEREEHR
are subsequently changed. B GRIGEEHNETTENTM -
Short-term leases and leases of low-value HHHERREESEHE

assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It
also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—HLLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (The Group as a leasee) (continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;
o any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date, less any lease incentives received,

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and

conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of
the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to
the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (The Group as a leasee) (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises

3.

FEEHTBR

HE (FREARBEAN)
#HERR
REEREE S EEZZARMNH

and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease HEMNRHAEERARGTEHERE -
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the RAHEBRENKBRER  SEEHAA
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the ERB B NS EERFXFE

incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liability as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case,
the exchange rates at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

CNNC International Limited 2022 Annual Report

3.

FEEHTBR

BEERE

RREE ZRIABRECEREEM
EREEZBERLS  HBEELA
EERERONEAEEBTARE
BHNERIHE  HEERANFTA
REEIZRA BEERECEHRER
RETEREERTAEUHEE -

A H ot B PR AR 0 R 2 R
RARS -

BABEFIRE
A AR PR A8 A 5 8 2 1 3R B IR R
BMARZAHURKERRMAX -

EHESERN
MHEERNNERREMHE BREE
BEMEXNHREN KGR EER -
FRENBEERMNERRFAX KRIF
A EAWBREEANRERK A
BHFFABERARA -

BERNBRENTMNEEENREEE
ARAMIEERFS FBREFR)
TR °



No esto the Consolidated-F"’_

For the year ended 31st December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit before tax.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit (loss) before tax’ as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of items or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on the tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
requirements of HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes to the leasing
transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net
basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
results in net deductible temporary differences.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,

statement of financial

if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of uranium are determined on the weighted
average cost method and cost of other inventories are
determined on the first-in-first-out method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter initial

period, to the net carrying amount on

recognition.
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Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—HLLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continuea)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows;

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding;

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
compressive income:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income (“OCI") if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term;

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontined
REVBRBRHEE @

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #H &

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)
In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

at FVTOCI is
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and

Investments in equity instruments
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject to impairment

assessment.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right
is established,
dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost

to receive the dividends unless the

of the investment.
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“"Notesto the Consolidated Financial Statements e
REMBERMEE

" For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_A=+—HLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continved)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
and other receivables, restricted cash and bank balances)
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (ontineq
REMKBmERMEE

For the year ended 31st December, 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continved)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external credit rating;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in

the regulatory, economic, or technological

environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet

its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.
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sto the Consolidated Financial ;St-atements )

BAMBERME

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—HLLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continved)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following

events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event; or

(¢) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontined
REVBRBRHEE @

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #H &

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continved)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over five years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in

Generally,

accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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“Notes to the Consolidated F

For the year ended 31st December, 2022

C|a| Statements (continued)
mE B EHRM

A Rton SR O

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continved)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continved)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in equity instrument which the Group has
elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI upon
application of HKFRS 9 is derecognised or such investment
becomes interests in associate, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified
to profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontined
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For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #H &

= SEaspe == O = ENIE A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

3.
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An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual WRATLADNERAEEBRINBAEMBE R

interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities including trade, bills and other payables,
bank borrowings and amounts due to an intermediate holding
company, ultimate holding company and fellow subsidiaries are
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subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective AWBARFIE) EERABERNEE
interest method. Hﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ$a‘|‘i °
Derecognition of financial liabilities RIFBERZFHE B

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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State me ntS (continued)
BAMBRRME

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—HLLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment losses on assets (other than
financial assets)

Property, plant and equipment

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

In addition, corporates assets are allocated to individual cash
generating units when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of cash generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate
assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating

units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

3.

FEETBRw

BE(FBESMEE)ZRIE
i
HE  BERRE
AEERRERRBHANE  BE
REZEEE AETREEFR
BrRSEENBAERE - iR
FEAREDR DG EHRAEEZT
WE S AEERESEWmE)Z
R

WE BEEEE2ATKESEEE
BMEET o i T RE BT E BB E 2 7T IR
e AKEERAZEEMBR
CELABEM 2RO SR -

N EEEERABHNEGEETZ
DREESEE@EMNREELEN -
SHIeRPEEA#MNGEE DR
EEZHNREELEM - AEEF
EREETRRANAEEAREL
WME- MRFEZER AIRARE
EMBNREELETRRESELE
TTHEAEERNWE SR W ERERER
TELAETARGELTHEHANEKHEE
BETHER-

AU Bl & 5B AN T E R IH B AN K fE
REEz®=E FHEERAEER
EET RN E RE T8 BB ATRE IR X
FHREERE ZHRERBRBEAD
BHE R EEZ S A RMERR
ReERERARABCEELRSEL
B2 BERR -

TRERAERRQA

—ZT-o—EER 123



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontined
REVBRBRHEE @

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #H &

= SEaspe == O = ENIE A

124

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment losses on assets (other than
financial assets) (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or the group of
cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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BARHREMET o

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—HLLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment losses on assets (other than
financial assets) (continved)

Exploration and evaluation assets

The carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets
is reviewed and assessed for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 /Impairment of Assets whenever one of the following
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable (the list is not exhaustive):

o the period for which the Group has the right to explore
in the specific area has expired during the period or will
expire in the near future, and is not expected to be
renewed;

o substantive expenditure on further exploration for and
evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area is
neither budgeted nor planned;

o exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area have not led to the discovery of
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and
the Group has decided to discontinue such activities in
the specific area; or

. sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed, the
carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset
is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful
development or by sale.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #H &

= SEaspe == O = ENIE A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.

FEEHTBR

Provisions and contingent liabilities BERSAEE

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or EARER -—FHUBAEEEHR AT
amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation BHAI AR AT 2 &BFERH 2
arising as a result of a past event, which it is probable will ERNETETCR  RNMEXEET

result in an outflow of economic benefits that can be reliably
estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Related parties
A person or a close member of that person’s family is related

to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

R BEEREE -

MELEBEMZ T RKATERFEERL - 5k
MEBBESBE TSGR BIA
Fﬁ%fiﬂ—r%?ﬁ&%ﬁ‘iﬁ‘ﬁﬁ B FERE
BN =0 B 2 AT B M AR G o EHF
(ﬁﬁE1§EE—IEEXﬁI§ﬁiI$1¢ZHj
RESHET)MBEERIAEE  FRIFE
OB 2 0m 2 T RE M RR G o

BAER
fHEIAT AL Blez ALsZB A
ITZERRBRASERHE

()  BAKEGEAES AR

=3
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i HAEAKEEBEAFEN X
(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the Group (i) AAEEXARRBFRAIZEE
or the Company’s parent. EEABR -
An entity is related to the Group if any of the following o — ) H BE LATET—J & - Bp &
conditions apply: KEBEBHE
() The entity and the Group are members of the same group () EBEROAAEFEER -—S£EZKE
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow UNEIRQIESEal S ESS/NST I == /N
subsidiary is related to the others). AIRERMNEBARKIEEEA
) o
(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other (i —HEBARZ EBZHMZEAR
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a KEEPEHS—ERBARXE
group of which the other entity is a member). NRAIZEEBHETKE AR 28
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BARHREMET o

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HE-_ZT_-_—_F+_A=+—BHLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related parties (continvea)

(iii)

(vii)

(viii)

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of key management personnel
of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
group or to the group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontined
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For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #H &
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current

and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements.

Power to exercise significant influence

Since 2020, the Group has owned 11.36% of the shareholder
voting rights of CNNC Financial Leasing Limited (“CNNC
Leasing”), a PRC financial leasing company. The Group has
adopted the equity method of accounting for its investment in
CNNC Leasing as it is considered to have significant influence

under HKFRSs.

Significant influence is defined as the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
HKFRSs
indicators that may provide evidence of significant influence,

is not control or joint control. identifies several
including representation on the board of directors of the

investee and participation in policy-making processes.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U N C E RTAI NTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
pOIiCiES (continued)

Power to exercise significant influence (continued)
In accordance with the articles of association of CNNC
Leasing, the Group can appoint 1 out of 7 directors to the
board of CNNC Leasing.

As a result, it is considered to have significant influence and
adopt the equity method.

Rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement

The directors have determined that the Group’s investment in
XXEM LLC should be accounted for as a joint operation rather
than a joint venture. Although the legal form of XXEM LLC
and the contractual terms of the joint arrangement indicate
that the arrangement is a joint venture, venturers are legally
obliged to take the entire output produced by XXEM LLC and
will be the only source of funding to settle its liabilities.

On this basis, the directors consider that, in substance, the
arrangement gives the venturers rights to the assets, and
obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement and
not rights to the net assets of the arrangements and therefore
is a joint operation.

Principal versus agent consideration (agent)
The Group is considered as an agent for its contracts with
customers relating to the uranium purchase transaction as the
Group did not obtain the control over uranium before passing
on to customers taking into consideration indicators such as
the Group is not exposed to inventory risk. When the Group
satisfies the performance obligation, the Group recognises a
commission income in the amount it expects to be entitled as
specified in the contracts, which amounted to 2% of the gross
amount of consideration as specified in the contracts.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recognised commission income relating to sales of uranium
purchase transactions amounted to HK$14,224,000.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
U N C E RTAI NTY (continued)
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Critical judgements in applying accounting AT BUR R B 82 FI B o)
policies (continued)
Principal versus agent consideration (principal) FANBEABEANZEE(FFT

The Group engages in trading of uranium. The Group
concluded that the Group acts as the principal for such
transactions as it controls the specified good before it is
transferred to the customer after taking into consideration
indicators such as the Group is primarily responsible for
fulfilling the promise to provide the uranium. The Group has
inventory risk and price risk. When the Group satisfies the
performance obligation, the Group recognises trading revenue
in the gross amount of consideration to which the Group

expects to be entitled as specified in the contracts.

December 2022,
recognised revenue relating to trading of uranium amounted
to HK$891,506,000.

During the year ended 31 the Group

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at end of
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment assessment on exploration and
evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment
when facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may exceed the recoverable amount. As detailed in
Note 15, the Group owns a number of exploration licenses
included in exploration and evaluation assets in Mongolia for
uranium mining which are subjected to Mongolia’s Law on
Nuclear Energy and Mongolia’s Law on Implementing
Procedures of the Law on Nuclear Energy being effective on
15th August, 2009 (collectively referred to as the
Laws").

“New
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U N C E RTAI NTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continved)
Impairment assessment on exploration and
evaluation assets (continued)

The Group commenced negotiating with the relevant
Mongolian authorities in respect of the implementation of the
New Laws from 2010 and consensus has been reached
between the Group and the relevant Mongolian authorities
that a joint venture would be established for holding the
Group’s mining licenses, which are currently under application,
with the Mongolia Government holding 51% of the equity
interest of the joint venture. During the year ended 31st
December, 2019, the Group has initiated the Lawsuit (as
defined in Note 15) claiming to confirm non-performance of
relevant Mongolian authorities in relation to application of the
mining licenses in accordance with the Mongolian laws and
reinstate the validity of the exploration licenses. However, the
result of the Lawsuit and the timing of obtaining the mining
licenses are highly uncertain.

In determining the recoverable amount of exploration and
evaluation assets, the management has assessed the
impairment based on higher of value in use or fair value less
costs of disposal. To measure the fair value, it requires
significant degree of judgment by management in selecting
the valuation techniques and applying key assumptions and
inputs to the impairment assessment model, including market
price of natural uranium and market observable transactions of
similar transactions related to the acquisition of companies
which hold mining project at preliminary stage, taking into
account the notice from the Mongolian authority, latest status
of the Lawsuit, regulatory requirements in Mongolia and the
arrangement for the Group’s mining licenses. Details of the
assessment have been set out in Note 15. Where there is
change in facts and circumstances which results in revision of
future cash flows estimation, reversal of impairment may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which such change takes place.

Impairment assessment of associates

Determining whether interests in associates are impaired
requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of relevant
associate, which is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. The calculation of fair value less
costs of disposal requires the Group to estimate the present
value of the future cash flows expected to generated by the
associate and the proceeds from the ultimate disposal of the
investment using suitable discount rates. Where the expected
future cash flows differ from the original estimation, an
impairment loss may arise.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #HE-_T-_—_F+-_A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. A RS EEE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with EERESHEAST
customers
Revenue of the Group represents amounts received or AEBEMNBAEREMRZ S RAS W
receivable arising from the trading of uranium and commission AT E A #) B sk B FRIE - NEE
income. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year from REEREFBELEEZBORADN
continuing operations is as follows: AN
Continuing operations FAEERY
Exploration
Trading of and selling of
mineral mineral
properties properties 2022 Total
we BERHEE —¥-C
REME REME st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
Revenue from contracts with RE-NEENE
customers within the scope of BB EER
HKFRS 15 at a point in time FISTEE B
EEEHERAN
Disaggregated by major products Z*EESKFHRE
or service lines HH %3
Trading of uranium i 22 5 891,506 — 891,506
Commission income from uranium X EX S HHE S
purchase transaction WA 14,224 — 14,224
905,730 — 905,730
Exploration
Trading of and selling of
mineral mineral
properties properties 2021 Total
U BRREHE —g-—%
REME REYZE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
Revenue from contracts with RE—FEMNE
customers within the scope of B F5iR & #A|
HKFRS 15 at a point in time 551550 &6 [E M 1Y
EREHEA
Disaggregated by major products #¥ EE RS RE
or service lines EHH %7
Trading of uranium i 5 280,639 — 280,639
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BARHREMET o

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HE-_ZT_-_—_F+_A=+—BHLEE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Revenue from trading of uranium is recognised at a point in
time when the control of uranium has transferred, being when
the wuranium have been delivered to customers’ specific
location. The normal credit term is 5 to 120 days after delivery
dates, which depends on the credit quality of customers.

Commission income from uranium purchase transaction is
recognised when the Group satisfies its promise to arrange for
the uranium to be provided by the suppliers to the customers
and in the amount of any fee or commission to which the
Group is entitled for arranging the uranium to be provided to
the end customers. Performance obligations are satisfied at a
point in time once control of goods has been transferred to
customers.

Segment information

Information reported to the Group’s executive directors, being
the chief operating decision maker (“CODM"), for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods delivered or services
provided. The Group’s operating and reportable segments
under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

Continuing operations:

e Trading of mineral — trading of uranium
properties
e Exploration and selling of — exploration and selling
mineral properties of uranium
Discontinued operation:
e Supply chain — selling of dispersed
metals and

electronics products,
including but not
limited to trading of
flash drives, memory
cards, etc.
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EARBRENE

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #HE-_T-_—_F+-_A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WA RSEEE

(continued)
Segment information (continved) SEER )
The following is an analysis for the Group's revenue and RAEEBZWARERBERERREESD
results by reportable and operating segments: HEDZ2oMAT
For the year ended 31st December, 2022 BE-_F_-_—F+-H=+—
Bt FEE
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
REGCEER BIEEEER
Exploration
Trading  and selling
of mineral of mineral Supply
properties properties Subtotal chain Total
B HMERHE
CEREDE RENE INgt 534 @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BRI BRI BRI
Segment revenue 2 EHA 905,730 - 905,730 - 905,730
Segment profit (loss) A EER (E8) 93,946 (4,029) 89,917 — 89,917
Bank interest income RITMEWA 1,541
Unallocated corporate income # % EZ (b 2 WA 2,397
Unallocated corporate costs 7 7 Bl b % K (22,247)
Share of result of =N
an associate 25,084
Unallocated finance costs & 2 B B1 7% i A& (8,602)
Profit before tax R 750 A it A 88,090
Less: Profit before tax from  Jil : &% [ A€ & ¥ /)
discontinued B %% A A
operation —
Profit before tax from FEEEEBRNRE
continuing operations Al % 7l 88,090
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For the year ended 31st December, 2022 B#E_—_TE_—F+_A=+—HLFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WA RSEEE «

(continued)
Segment information (continved) SEBER )
For the year ended 31st December, 2021 E_E - —Ff ZH="1—
H ik F &
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
FRIEE T BILEEXK
Exploration
Trading and selling
of mineral of mineral Supply
properties properties Subtotal chain Total
HMRREE
BEBENE BENE Nt i fE 5 wE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BET T BET T
Segment revenue R ILON 280,639 — 280,639 — 280,639
Segment profit (loss) 7 #i ¥l (B 18) 18,395 (3,947) 14,448 1,899 16,347
Bank interest income RITMEWA 825
Unallocated corporate income & 2 & © % Yt A 3,307
Unallocated corporate costs &9 B dEKAK (20,732)
Share of result of BB E RAIEER
an associate 15,065
Unallocated finance costs & 2 BRBF B A A& (9,834)
Profit before tax BR B AT & Rl 4,978
Less: Profit before tax from  Jil : R I & EHKH
discontinued bR B A% I
operation (1,899)
Profit before tax from REGEZBMRT
continuing operations Al 1 3,079
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the AN 3R EE - K& D E 2 BETHUR
same as the Group's accounting policies described in Note 3. BAREE S HEMAR - D3 /ﬁnf'J(JEﬁ
Segment profit (loss) represents the profit earned by (loss BIESHMBAEELEEN (BE) -
from) each segment without allocation of bank interest FIRTRBRA KD @EJJ:%W)\ .
income, unallocated corporate income, unallocated corporate RABBERAR  EBIEH 2 AREER
costs, share of result of an associate and unallocated finance &ﬁi’\ BE A B AR AN o T 1T B R
costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the SRR EDERRMMAEEEER
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment. RAZWMZFTEEH -
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For the year ended 31st December, 2022

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities

by reportable and operating segments:

W B 5 8B & o

SBMEERER

AEBEERBBRERLEED

Dz mT

2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—%
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
ASSETS BE
Segment assets DEEE
— Trading of mineral properties — RRTEEME 134,687 48,856
— Exploration and selling of mineral — BREHEE
properties BEYZ 4,456 4,466
139,143 53,322
Interests in associates Bt &N A R i 438,257 456,076
Unallocated corporate assets AOBRAREE 69,526 83,273
Consolidated assets FeREE 646,926 592,671
LIABILITIES BE
Segment liabilities SHEE
— Trading of mineral properties — RRTEEME 7,187 1,236
— Exploration and selling of mineral — WRREE
properties BEME 19,721 18,932
26,908 20,168
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOBEARAERE 228,410 237,848
Consolidated liabilities FmeafE 255,318 258,016
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WA RSEEE «

(continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (continved) PEHEEREE®

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and E‘Jiﬁkf?’\*ﬁf'aﬁ%ziﬁ& it 5 EB & IR

allocating resources between segments: s :

. Segment assets include property, plant and equipment, . SMEEBRFEBEERS BEE
exploration and evaluation assets, inventories, other iz BERREE - #F
receivables and prepayments and bank balances and cash R EE 78 HEfEEHK
which are directly attributable to the relevant reportable T8 2 FE A RRIE DA KR SR 1T 45 8 ) 3R
segment. & e

. Segment liabilities include other payables and accruals, . SHMEEREEBERS BEE
amount due to an intermediate holding company and FEMZETJMEH KIR DA K FEET R
income tax payable, which are directly attributable to the o BN AP EER A RIE
relevant reportable segment. &Fg%ﬂiﬁlﬂ T o

Other segment information Hth 53 2B & ¥

2022
onk- -
Continuing operations
RAGEER
Exploration
Trading and selling
of mineral of mineral
properties properties  Unallocated Total
GERE HRRHE
LES BRENE ROE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000

BT BT BT BT

Amounts included in the measure of segment HENREEISNEERTAZEE:
results or segment assets:

Addition to non-current assets REHRDEE - 209 15 24
Interests in associates BENFER — — 438,257 438,257
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 9% - BERNBEZNE 19 71 79 169
Share of result of an associate EEBEAREE — - (25,084) (25,084)
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WA RSEEE

((CSJ'TP:éi‘d)segment information (continued) HthpESEE o
2021
—E--F
Continuing operations
SEMEER
Exploration
Trading and selling
of mineral of mineral
properties properties Unallocated Total
BLEE BHRREE
S BEN% AR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETL BETL BETL BETL

Amounts included in the measure of segment HENBEEISPEERTAZEE
results or segment assets:

Addition to non-current assets REFRYEE — 51 230 281
Interests in associates EUNGIE — - 456,076 456,076
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W% BRELEE 27T E 20 4 71 95
Depreciation of right-of-use asset TREAENE — - m m
Share of result of an associate EEBERTEE — - (15,065) (15,065)
Geographical information W E&#
The Group’s revenue by geographical market (irrespective of REFPKRMIMEE D NEBNHE
the origin of the goods) based on the incorporation location of TH (T E MR R) 2 W A FEat
the customers are detailed below: N
Revenue
[N
2022 2021
—_Eg:-= —E -4
Continuing Discontinued Continuing  Discontinued
operations operation operations operation
FHEGEE RIEGEER HECEER RIEKEER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETR BT T BT T
Canada mER 348,032 — 180,539 —
The United Kingdom ES 208,644 — — —
PRC $ 205,763 — — —
Czech Republic A FE 142,318 — — —
Hong Kong B 973 — 53,580 —
Germany = —_ —_ 46,520 —
905,730 — 280,639 —
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SARBRRME o

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—HLLEFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Geographical information (continved)

The Group’s operation is principally located in the Mongolia,
PRC, and Hong Kong. Information about the Group’s non-
current assets by geographical location of the assets is detailed

KA B DEBEE

WESEE @

Bo-AEERHIFTHEE 2R E
DT BEBREINT

below:
Non-current assets
ERBEE
2022 2021
—g=-= T —4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
EBETR BT
PRC & 438,441 456,343
Mongolia = 164 48
Hong Kong B 12 30
438,617 456,421
Information about major customers FHAEEEFREH

Revenue from customers of the corresponding vyears

HMBAEEBKA10%KEZFRE

contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are HFERNHWADAT
as follows:
2022 2021
—EgE=-= T4
HK$'000 HK$'000
EETR BT T
Continuing operations FEKEET
Customer A BPEA 348,032 180,539
Customer B = FB 205,764 —
Customer C =96 142,318 —
Customer D %FD 106,493 —
Customer E = PE 102,151 —
Customer F* B PF* — 46,520
Customer G* ®PG* — 48,071
. The corresponding revenue in the year for this customer did not contribute over 10% . W R B B S 1 AR SR A

of the total revenue of the Group.

BT HEB10% ©

TRERAERRQA
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For the year ended 31st December, 2022

6. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 6. EEREENE
EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors and ERHREN TR ESE RITHRAE 2
the chief executive officer were as follows: cap N
Directors’ Salaries and Discretionary
fee allowances bonus Total
BN HeRERW BRtEd @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETR BETR BETR
Continuing operations REEEER
For the year ended BE_®-CH
31st December, 2022 +ZRA=+-BILEE
Executive director: noES:
Mr. Zhang Yi FEka 505 73 71 1,299
Non-executive directors: FHITES:
Mr. Wang Cheng? TR A — — - -
Mr. Zhong lie* BAFE — — — —
Mr. Wu Ge RREHE — — — —
Independent non-executive directors: BUNTES:
Mr. Chan Yee Hoi GG E & 250 — — 250
Mr. Cui Liguo ENEEE 250 — — 250
Mr. Zhang Lei REEE 250 - - 250
1,255 73 21 2,049
# Mr. Wang Cheng was appointed as a non-executive director on 27 October 2022. # FRAER-Z__F+A-T+tHEZTAK
* Mr. Zhong Jie resigned as a non-executive director on 27 October 2022. * zgiiﬁ;\:§::¢+ﬂ:+ta BHEFEHAT
BF-
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6. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 6. EEREEMNE
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors and EARSEN T &EE RITHREAZ 2 B
the chief executive officer were as follows: W
Directors' Salaries and Discretionary
fee allowances bonus Total
ik HeREH WERL st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT

fr
i
B
A iR

Continuing operations

For the year ended HE-ZT-—-&
31st December, 2021 TZAZT-HLEFE
Executive director: BIEE:
Mr. Zhang Yi RELE 529 58 163 750
Non-executive directors: FHITES:
Mr. Zhong Jie BARLE — — — —
Mr. Wu Ge RIEE - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHTES:
Mr. Chan Yee Hoi BLAE % & 250 - - 250
Mr. Cui Liguo E#FELE 250 — — 250
Mr. Zhang Lei REEE 250 - - 250
1,279 58 163 1,500
Notes: ftsE -
(i) The executive director’s emoluments shown above were for their services in connection (i) UEETFRTESME HEBRBRERAARR
with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group. REEER -
(i) The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their () A LBUERTEFMOEEEAAAALEE
services as directors of the Company. B o
(iii) The directors of the Company are entitled to discretionary bonus payments which are (iii) AR EFEREGIEL  ZEADRBEESH
determined based on the performance. EHEET -
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For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #H & = IS SR = S B

6. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 6. EERESENE
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
Of the five employees with the highest emoluments in the REBzZRAEERFMALH  —%
Group, one individual (2021: one individual) was director of —E - —F:—Z)ANTAERRAE
the Company whose emolument is included in the disclosure FRECHMESEF A LXFTE 2B’
set out above. The emoluments of the remaining four (2021: B THE(ZZEZ_—F:MA)A
four) employees were as follows: TzMewnT
2022 2021
—g=-= T —4F
HK$'000 HK$ 000
EETT BT T
Continuing operations FECEET
Salaries and other benefits B Ko L 42 A 4,194 3,757
Retirement benefit schemes contributions iR RAE B ET B R 157 184
4,351 3,941
2022 2021
—®-= —T-—
No. of No. of
employee employee
EBEEAH BB A%
Continuing operations BELCEER

Emoluments of the employees were within ~ EEB& N T T3I4HE7 :
the following bands:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z %= 1,000,000 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 7 #1,000,0017C =

75 #1,500,0007T 2 2
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to FR - AEBVERAENESSKAH
any of the directors or the five highest paid employees as an WAL EZIRERNNES  EAEF
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as EMAREESIMAREEE 2 828
compensation for loss of office. None of the directors has SEREE - MEEENFARER
waived any emoluments during the year. e -
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OTHER INCOME AND GAINS AND H fth Yt N\ LA B W 25 B 5 38
LOSSES, NET FEH
2022 2021
—®g=-= T —4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BT T
Continuing operations FEICE X
Interest income from banks RITH B WA 1,541 825
Others HAth 2,397 2,415
3,938 3,240
FINANCE COSTS BA 5 R A&
2022 2021
—®'=-= T4
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BETR BT T
Continuing operations HEK M%ﬁ%
Interest on loan from immediate holding KEBEEER
company A 8,602 1,047
Interest on bank borrowings RITIE KA B — 5,413
Interest on lease liability HEBENE — 2
Amortisation of loan front-end fee BRI E B — 3,372
8,602 9,834
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For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #H &

= SEaspe == O = ENIE A

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 9. BR¥ AT F
2022 2021
—g-= —E %
HK$'000 HK$'000
EBETT 7T T
Continuing operations FEKE X
Profit before tax has been arrived at Br Tt Bl s A -
after charging: BB T 5B I8
Directors’ emoluments (see Note 6) EE5Me (RHE6) 2,049 1,500
Other staff costs Efb 8 TR 15,534 13,290
Retirement benefit schemes contributions B RAR R FT 814 50
(see Note 27) (R 5E27) 1,108 1,470
Total staff costs BT AEEE 18,691 16,260
Depreciation of property, plant and M- -BWELRZEZ
equipment e 169 95
Depreciation of right-of-use asset TREEENE — 111
Total depreciation TERE 169 206
Auditor’s remuneration % EEN BN &
— Current year — KNFE 1,600 1,650
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense MR AR X 217 &K A 802,938 260,029
Expenses relating to short-term leases RHHEEBERX 660 680
Net exchange losses N = 2,339 —
and after (crediting): LA K (BF A) T 5]
FIEE
Interest income from banks RIT A B U A (1,541) (825)
Net exchange gains ERr Rk — (892)
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Hong Kong profits tax

On 21st March, 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the
“Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28th March, 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax of the qualifying group
entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the
estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits above HK$2 million.

PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT”)

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of a PRC subsidiary is 25%.

PRC withholding tax

The PRC withholding tax at a rate of 10% is levied on one of
the Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong in respect of
dividend distributions arising from profits of a PRC associate.

10. FNRIBLHE X

EEMEHR
—E-N\E=ZA=-+—H BELE
BB TQRMNIERE(EE])(FETSR)
BEHIERM)ER]D  3IATRRFE
MMESNE - ZEER_ZE—N\F=
AZ+tN\HEEBHKAEZEZ THREH
EERETIE - BREMBFESHHEE
FE AEREEEENE B
2,000,0007T FI & 1% #28.25% Y Fi =& #X
i+ i 78 #2,000,0007T LA & FI B #&
1£16.5% M B R EE o T4 ™R HIF
BREFNENEBEENN BB ESR
1#16.5% M) 85 — TR R @F -

At ERW DA KENET NG

2,000,000 5t & A&8.25% 1M B 1B 78
#2,000,0007T & fth 51 & &% B 8 A
16.5% o

;%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ%
BEPECEMSHE(CEMBH
EDREEMSHEERIES B
M@ N R AT K B25% o

T E RO B
BREBEAREENEEORESD
B YWARAEEBN—RF DK
10% 1) B & 44 B T -

2022 2021
—g=-= —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
EBETRT BT T
Continuing operations FELEXRRK
The charge (credit) comprises: BMIAX L (E2) B -
Current tax — Hong Kong profits tax RERRRIE — BHAEFNFEH
Charge for the year FAXE 4,624 965
Over provision in prior years BEFEBEEE — (10)
Current tax — PRC EIT REABIIE — PRI
Fr18 %t
Charge for the year REEZH 232 —
Under provision in prior years BEFEREBETR — 2
Withholding tax on dividend received from U BY — & B & X &) f% B
an associate RF 4N B0 7Y 2,391 1,500
7,247 2,457
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For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #HZEZ=Z= =

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit

10. FIRHRHEARX =«
74 45 80 1 T LA K B
.2 25 BT B B 50

~4 T
ﬁuﬁﬁ
e BX
K
ps

before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income as follows:

2022 2021
—g=-= - —F
HK$'000 HK$ 000
EETT BT T
Continuing operations FECEET
Profit before tax B B A1 it A 88,090 3,079
Tax calculated at domestic rates applicable in ZERBAMR R HE
respective jurisdictions 2 TIE 14,344 226
Tax effect of share of result of an associate JE{REtE QA ZEE 2
e (4,139) (3,957)
Tax effect of withholding tax on dividend —HBERAIEIREKE
declared by an associate R 40 A0 7840 0 B A 7S
TE 2,391 1,500
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BARBWA 2 T 5
purpose A= (360) (174)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax 7] 0% B 52 2 # 7%
purpose wE 1,725 4,969
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised WEBRABEEBRZ
MG & 794 66
Utilisation of tax losses previously not &) A 55 A R 1 R
recognised M EE (7,343) —
Over provision in prior years BAEFEBBERE — (8)
Income tax at concessionary rate BEBEMREH (165) (165)
Taxation for the year KFEHIA 7,247 2,457

Subsequent to the reporting period, the Group has received
the 2021/2022 final assessment on the profit tax of a
subsidiary assessed by the Inland Revenue Department
pertaining to the unused tax losses in the amount of
HK$28,907,000 available for offset against future profits.

At end of reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of HK$32,566,000 (2021: HK$77,066,000) available for offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised for the year due to the unpredictability of future
profits streams. The tax losses may be carried forward

indefinitely.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HE-_ZT_-_—_F+_A=+—BHLEE

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 1. BRILEEET
In 2021, the Company suspended its supply chain business. KRR T —FEHEEHEESE
With the last sale transaction entered into late 2020 and BoRxE—FHERGNR _T_ZTF
discontinued after the collection of the remaining trade REI WRZZTZ—F F¥FFRIE o

receivables with interest in first half of 2021.

The discontinued operation of the supply chain business BREEBMBREENESEFIEL
constituted discontinued operation under HKFRS 5 “Non- EE’J#‘}E@JQE&”U:@Mﬁ%%J B8
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” in IEEENEEEEBEN T - —F
2021, %}ﬂz%\%t%«%%ﬁ

Result of discontinued operation RINEEEFEE
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and HEHEmRRML TR ER

Other Comprehensive Income

Year ended

31st December,

2021

Hz-ZT=——F

+=-ZA=+—8H

IEFE

HK$'000

BT

Other income and gains and losses, net Hab Mg A R s & g5 18 5 1,899
Income tax expenses FriSBim (132)

Profit for the year from discontinued operation #% |F 4% & ¥ 75 59 & A )5 7 1,767
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continvea)

Result of discontinued operation (continved)
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

11. n‘& ltﬁ«ﬂéﬂh%ﬁ(ﬁﬁ)
RITEEEBES
GEHERER

Year ended

31st December,
2021
HE-_T-—F
+—-A=+—8
IEFE
HK$'000
BT T

Net cash inflow from operating activities (Note)

Net cash inflow from investing activities

KREEFHRDA
(B =E)
RELHHESRAFR

A
30,103
1,101

Net cash inflow

e mAFRE 31,204

Note:  The cash inflow from operating activities mainly represents the collection of trade
receivables incurred in 2021.

Profit before tax has been arrived at after crediting:

M KEEPREMATBE T —FRENED
JE W SR IR [l g

BB AT R A 2 MERATA

Year ended

31st December,
2021
HE-_ZT-—F
+=-A=+—8H
LFE
HK$'000
BT T

Interest income from overdue trade receivables

BMEKE S RRN

B U A (1,1701)

For the purpose of presenting the discontinued operation,
certain comparative figures in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of cash flows and the related notes have been re-
presented to present the results of the Supply Chain Business
as discontinued operation in the comparative period.
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EMBB/RERME @

N‘,-:‘ﬁ'i";'wF'or the year ended 31st December, 2022 BEZ-T=-—F+ A=+ —HIFE

e

12. DIVIDENDS 12. Ik B
No dividend was paid, declared or proposed during the current REFERBEFEAMERNSN 5
and prior years. The directors have determined that no MEBERE - EEERETGHE
dividend will be paid in respect of the year ended 31st BB FFT_A=+—HLFE
December, 2022 (2021: Nil). ENRE(ZEZ—F:8&)-
13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. Big & 7
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to KREl BB AEBLERERBF TR
the owners of the Company is based on the following data: BTOE®RAE -
2022 2021
—g=-= —E2-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BT T
Profit for the year attributable RARHERE NEGHFAN
to owners of the Company i A
— Continuing operations — BEEEED 80,843 622
— Discontinued operation — RIEREER — 1,767
80,843 2,389
2022 2021
—®-= —T=—F
Shares Shares
4 A%
Number of ordinary shares for the purposes & & & & T~ L @A
of calculation of earnings per share HE 489,168,308 489,168,308
2022 2021
—E=-Z= —E-—fF
HK cents HK cents
Al il
Earnings per share TR & F
— Continuing operations — BEREE 16.5 0.1
— Discontinued operation — RIEREER — 0.4
16.5 0.5
Diluted earnings per share for the vyears ended 31st s ——— —E-—%+=A
December, 2022 and 2021 were the same as basic earnings T+ —HIEFEsEREERNETG
per share as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue REXRRFER  BAEBAFELE
during the respective years. BEZEETEBK -
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For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #H & = IS SR = S B

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. M¥ - BERRE
Plant and
machinery Furniture
Leasehold Mining and other and Motor
improvements structure  equipment fixtures vehicles Total
RERME
HEMERE BRELHE DRAMRE HERKE RE hy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
COST A
At 1st January, 2021 RZE--%-F—H 138 4,500 33972 1,144 1,301 41,055
Exchange difference ERES — — - 14 - 14
Additions NE - — — 281 — 281
At 31st December, 2021  HZF=—F
+-A=+-H 138 4,500 33,972 1,439 1,301 41,350
Exchange difference R E - - () (63) (8 (76)
Additions NE — — 49 97 78 224
At 31st December, 2022 WH=-E=-=
TZA=+-H 138 4,500 34,016 1473 1371 41,498
DEPRECIATION AND wERRE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1st January, 2021 RZZZ—-5-H—-H 138 4,500 33,972 993 1,301 40,904
Exchange difference EXESR — — - 6 - 6
Depreciation for the year £ & - - - 95 - 95
At 31st December, 2021 RZZ=—%
+-A=+-H 138 4,500 33,972 1,094 1,301 41,005
Exchange difference ERES — - ) (35) - (36)
Depreciation for the year ~ FEHE — — 6 158 5 169

At 31st December, 2022 HZZT=ZZ

+-A=1+-8 138 4,500 33,977 1,217 1,306 41,138
CARRYING AMOUNTS FEE
At 31st December, 2022 WH=-E=-=

+ZR=T-H — - 39 256 65 360
At 31st December, 2021  RZZEZ—%
+-A=1+-H — - — 345 - 345
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For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HE-_ZT_-_—_F+_A=+—BHLEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives, after taking into
account of their estimated residual value, on a straight-line

basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements  Over the term of the leases or 5
years, whichever is the shorter
20 to 40 years

6%-20%

Mining structure

Plant and machinery and
other equipment

18%-33%

18%-25%

Furniture and fixtures

Motor vehicles

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION
ASSETS

The Group’s exploration and evaluation assets were mainly
arising from the acquisition of Western Prospector Group Ltd.
during the year ended 31st December, 2009 (“Mongolian

Mining Project”).

On 15th August, 2009, the Mongolian Law on Nuclear Energy
and Mongolian Law on Implementing Procedures of the Law
on Nuclear Energy (collectively referred to as the “New Law"”)
came into force. Under the New Laws, the Mongolia
Government has the right to take ownership without payment
of either not less than 51% of the equity interest in the
Group’s Mongolian subsidiaries if the Mongolia Government's
funding was used to determine the resource during
exploration, or not less than 34% of the equity interest in the
Mongolian subsidiaries if the Mongolia Government’s funding

was not used to determine the resource during exploration.

14.

15.
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15. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION 15. B RFEEE o

AS S ETS (continued)

The directors of the Company commenced negotiating with
the relevant Mongolian authorities in respect of the
implementation of various provisions under the New Laws
during the vyear ended 31st December, 2010. Based on
management’s discussions with the relevant Mongolian
authorities and the advice from its Mongolian legal adviser, the
Group will have the right to apply for mining licenses to mine
or extract the resources identified in the relevant areas covered
by the exploration licenses.

During the year ended 31st December, 2012, consensus has
been reached between the Company and the relevant
Mongolian authorities that a joint venture will be established
for holding the mining licenses, which are currently under
application, with the Mongolia Government holding 51% of
the equity interest in the joint venture. Upon the completion
of establishment of the joint venture, the Group’s mining
licenses together with the carrying amount of the Group’s
exploration and evaluation assets will be transferred to the
joint venture by way of a shareholder loan. In addition, the
Company has drafted the shareholders’ agreement, joint
venture agreement and memorandum and association of the
joint venture and has commenced negotiation with the
detailed terms of these documents with the relevant
Mongolian authorities and a pre-mining cooperation
agreement was signed on 26th June, 2012 to kick off the pre-
mining activities.

A notice was previously received in January 2014 from the
relevant Mongolian authorities which mentioned that the joint
venture would be expected to be established in 2014.
However, the establishment and the grant of mining licenses
had been postponed due to changes in government officials of
relevant Mongolian authorities in 2014, October 2017, and
June 2019. Further negotiations on the terms of the draft joint
venture agreement have been carried out with the new
government officials of relevant Mongolian authorities. In
2018, the Group received assistance from the Embassy of the
People’s Republic of China in Mongolia, to speed up the
application progress. Several
between the Embassy and the Mongolian government officials
regarding the application of the mining licence. In December
2019, the Group received a notice from the relevant
Mongolian authority, which suggested the Group to apply for
a court order in relation to the matters relating to resumption
of the application for the mining licenses for the reason that
the relevant exploration licenses have expired.

communications were made
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State me ntS (continued)
BAMBRRME

A Rton SR O

15. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION

ASSETS (continued)

Based on the advice from the Group’s Mongolian legal
advisers, on 9th January, 2020, Emeelt Mines LLC, an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, which is the holder
of the exploration licenses (as the applicant) has filed in the
Capital City Administrative Court of First-Instance of Mongolia
(the

the Mineral Resources and Petroleum Authority of Mongolia (as

“Court”) an administrative lawsuit (the “Lawsuit”) with
the respondent) claiming, among other things, to confirm the
non-performance of the respondent in relation to the granting
of the mining licenses in accordance with the Mongolian laws
and reinstate the validity of the exploration licenses. As
mentioned in the announcements dated 5th June and 6th
July, 2020, the Company has received the written judgment of
the Appellate Court regarding the hearing on 4th June, 2020
(the "Written According to the Group’s
Mongolian legal adviser, the Appellate Court did not consider

Judgment”).

the new evidence as it was not previously presented to Capital
City Administrative Court of First-Instance of Mongolia (the
“Court”). The Written Judgment concluded the decision of the
Court was right. In light of the new evidence, the Appellate
Court stated that the Group had the rights to make the
application with the new evidence to the Court again. After
receiving further advice of the Group’s Mongolian legal
adviser, the Group had made the application to the Court
again on 26th August, 2020.

On 29th October, 2020, a working committee (“Committee”)
includes, amongst others, representatives from the Mineral
Resources and Petroleum Authority of Mongolia (“MRPAM”,
the respondent of the Lawsuit) was set up with a view to help
resolve the disputes regarding the expiry of the exploration
licenses of the Company. The management believes it is a
positive sign of the MRPAM's intention towards resolving the
disputes, though at this stage, there is no guarantee that the

matter shall be resolved in favour of the Company.

Up to the date of this report, there is no further progress.
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15. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION 15. B RFEEE o

ASSETS (continued)

At 31st December, 2019, the directors performed an
impairment assessment and re-assessed the recoverable
amount of assets based on fair value less costs of disposal,
which is derived by using the market approach. The Group
engaged GCA Professional Services Group, an independent
qualified professional valuer, to perform the valuation for
assessment.

In determining the fair value, the valuer adopted the
comparable transaction method to calculate the value of the
assets. The fair value of the asset is a level 3 fair value
measurement. One of the key inputs to the method was the
measured resources from the uranium mines as market
observable transactions related to the acquisition of companies
which held mining project at preliminary stage, adjusted by the
measured and indicated price multiple, which was determined
as the market comparable projects. The valuer also applied an
adjusting factor with reference to the market price of natural
uranium. In addition to the valuation assessment, the directors
also applied another adjustment factor (adjustment factor for
the status of Lawsuit), taken into consideration the notice from
the relevant Mongolian authority, the uncertain outcome of
the Lawsuit, regulatory requirements in Mongolia and the
arrangement procedures for the Group’s mining licenses. The
directors are of the view that possibly unfavourable outcome
of the Lawsuit causes the recoverable amount of assets was
lower than the carrying value of the assets and a full
impairment loss on the exploration and evaluation assets
amounting to HK$210,367,000 was recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31st December, 2019.
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" For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_A=+—HLEFE

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

16. Rt B AT ZHER

2022 2021

—g=-Z T4

HK$000 HK$'000

BETT 7T T

Cost of unlisted investments FEEMEE 2R 919,456 919,456

Share of post-acquisition losses and FER W g 12 B 1B e EL A

other comprehensive income 2m WA (429,752) (454,836)
Dividend payment A% B 3+t (64,803) (40,894)

Exchange difference fEH =% 13,356 32,350

Interests in associates RNEE N T 2R 438,257 456,076
Particulars of the Group’s associates at 31st December, 2022 NR-_TB - —ER-_F—-—®+_ A
and 2021 are set out below: =+ —HB - AEBEBELARERBN

™

Attributable equity
interest held by the Group

Attributable voting rights
in the board of directors
held by the Group

Country of
incorporation ﬁﬁﬁﬂ‘]ﬁﬂ&ﬂ iﬁ’ﬁﬂ'ﬂig%ﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬁ
Name of associate and operation 2022 2021 2022 2021 Principal activity
AT EMAILT
BEATZE FEEREER —g-z T -z —E--F IE(HB
% % % %
Somina Republic of Niger 37.20 37.20 44.44 44.44  Mining
Somina A A EB® BERMK
CNNC Leasing The PRC 11.36 11.36 14.29 14.29  Provision of
financial leasing
services
hREE HE REREEERS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontined
REVBRBRHEE @
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16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
As at 31st December, 2022 and 2021, the unlisted investments
include:

37.2% equity interest in Société des Mines d’'Azelik
S.A. ("Somina”)

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Group
acquired 37.2% equity interest in Société des Mines
d'Azelik S.A. (“Somina”) through the acquisition of a
Ideal ("ldeal
Somina is accounted for using the equity

subsidiary known as Mining Limited
Mining”).
method in these consolidated financial statements. At
31st December, 2022 and 2021, the Group’s equity
interest in Somina is pledged to a bank for certain

banking facilities granted to Somina.

Due to the continued operating losses suffered over the
years, unfavourable market conditions for the sale of
uranium and insufficient cash flows for repayment of
outstanding bank borrowings, Somina has run into
serious going concern problems. The production of
Somina has been suspended since the first half of 2015
and it is highly uncertain whether Somina will resume

operation in the foreseeable future.

The directors of the Company considered Somina has no
material improvement noted during the year that can
support the reversal of the impairment loss made in
previous years.

11.36% equity interest in CNNC Financial Leasing
Company Limited (“CNNC Leasing”)

CNNC Leasing is a limited liability company incorporated
in Shanghai Pilot Free Trade Zone, PRC and principally
engaged in the provision of finance to its customers
under finance lease arrangements and factoring as
approved by the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC.
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No esto the Consolidated Fil

16. 75*531*& ASIZHEEE
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E1)11.36% M IRHE(E)

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuea
ii. 11.36% equity interest in CNNC Financial Leasing

Company Limited (“CNNC Leasing”) (continued)

The financial information of CNNC Leasing based on BHE_T-__R-_FT=_—%F
financial information prepared by management in +TZA=T—HIEFE £HE
accordance with accounting policies of the Group for the BEUVEBERAEENGTBER

year ended 31st December, 2022 and 2021 is set out LR ZBEENTFEENT

below:

2022 2021
—®g=-= T —4F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Financial position: B 75 ik 0
Non-current assets EMEBEE 16,390,727 20,478,170
Current assets mENEE 18,618,512 16,879,709
Current liabilities NBBE (17,335,942) (11,642,201)
Non-current liabilities FRBAE (13,919,301) (21,804,824)
Net assets attributable to the owners of H & N AR AFE(L
the associate BEEFE 3,753,996 3,910,854
Reconciliation of its net assets to the  B& AT EREEE
carrying amount of the interest in HEFEEMNERK -
associate:
Net assets attributable to the owners of B A =% A AFE(L
the associate BEEFE 3,753,996 3,910,854
Proportion of the Group's ownership ~ REBEBLE NG #HAE
interest in associate W 25 A LE B 11.36% 11.36%
Goodwill S 11,803 11,803
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest 7 5= B 73 B & 2 &) # %5
in associate E’]EEE{E 438,257 456,076
FRBEEERAR —T-—#4% 157
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For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #HE-_ZT -4+ _A=+—HBILFE

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continvea) 16. R E AT 2R )
ii. 11.36% equity interest in CNNC Financial Leasing i. PEMEESHERAT((PEA
Company Limited (“CNNC Leasing”) (continued) ED11.36% 89 # (&)
2022 2021
—Fg=-= —E2-—F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
EETR BT T
Revenue for the year REEZWA 1,445,935 1,343,212
Profit and total comprehensive income AN 4F [ 33 Al 2
for the year >HEWERE 220,813 139,341
Dividend received/declared during the ARFEEEWE,/ TIKH
year DHE 23,909 15,005
There are no significant restrictions on the ability of Ba R REEHUReERN
associates to transfer funds to the Group in the form of MASBEDAMENSBEXEE
cash dividends. K H PR 6] o
17. INTEREST IN A JOINT OPERATION 17. REEXHZHER

XXEM LLC (“XXEM") is a joint operation in which the Group
has joint control and 50% ownership interest. It principally

XXEM LLC ([ XXEM |) B A &£ E %A H
2 6l R50% BN E &% - %
engaged in the provision of electricity transmission services in NAZEREREFHREENEHR
Mongolia. % o

REBAERDNIFE EEBABRIKA

The Group is entitled to 50% share of the revenue earned and

bears 50% share of the joint operation’s expenses. Z50% 0 S & T 2 50% R X o

18. INVENTORIES 18. &8
2022 2021
—_®E-= —E -4
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETR BT T
Uranium concentrates Y 7R b 75,471 —
Consumable goods A H AR o 762 682
76,233 682
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For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—HLLEFE

19. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 19. H i FEY =K IE DL & T8 fF =&KX

PREPAYMENTS g
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—%
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETIT BT T
Other receivables H B W 5K TE 79 73
Deposits paid =RV 34 34
Prepayments T8 <P I8 1,231 1,102
Amount due from an associate (Note) & U Bt e N B FIR
(B %) — 13,505
1,344 14,714
Note:  The amount is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed term of repayment. FE3E: REMEER 28 METERY -
Details of impairment assessment of other receivables, deposits HE_ZT-_—_Fr=-ZE=-—F+=H8
paid and amount due from an associate for the years ended =t+—RALEFENEMEWRRKIE B
31st December, 2022 and 2021 are set out in Note 26(b) to 5T & I fE UL B 2 A B FIE R E R
the consolidated financial statements. There is no loss FBEENERE M SRR M 5E26(b) © M
allowance made during both years as the directors determined RESRAZSBEMTRE  ZMTE
the amount is insignificant. MY EFT R EREE -

hREEERAT —T-—®:% 159
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For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #H &

= SEaspe == O = ENIE A

20. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 20. RITHBG R &

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rate based on daily
bank deposit rate.

As at 31st December, 2022, the Group has cash and cash
equivalents denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
RMB61,295,000 (2021: RMB47,482,000), which are deposited
with banks in PRC.

RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies. Under the
PRC Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
foreign currencies through banks in the PRC that are
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

During the year, the Group performed impairment assessment
on bank balances and concluded that the probability of
defaults of the counterparty banks are unlikely and
accordingly, no loss allowance is provided.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances and cash
are set out in Note 26(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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21. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 21. %f&ﬂgﬁﬁlﬁuﬁﬂﬁ’rﬂ
2022 2021
—®g-= T —4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT 7T T
Interest payable FEAS FI B 2,529 1,047
Other payables E th & 5 IE 961 937
Other payable to the joint operator of HEMEMNEGEER
the joint operation (Note) & & 7E (K 17,816 16,411
Accruals FEET R 3K 6,459 5,205
27,765 23,600
Note:  The amount is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed term of repayment. Mict: HEREEF 2SREBETERE-
22. SHARE CAPITAL 22. g K
Number of ordinary shares Amount
LEREE o]
2022 2021 2022 2021
ol =Janlnt —E=-— —s=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
EETT BET T
Ordinary shares of FREEEK0ITZ
HK$0.01 each Tk
Authorised: ERE
At 1st January and R—A—BRk
31st December +ZA=+—H8 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000 10,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: BERITRAR:
At 1st January and R—HAH—AkK
31st December +-—A=+—8H 489,168,308 489,168,308 4,892 4,892
REREEARAT —T--F5% 161
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23. SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES 23. R E R G E

Share premium
The share premium represents premium arising from the issue
of shares at a price in excess of their par value per share.

Capital reserve
The capital reserve mainly represents the deemed capital
contribution.

Non-distributable reserve

The non-distributable reserve represents the aggregate amount
of the share premium of the subsidiaries as at the time of a
group reorganisation effected on 13th December, 2002 (the
“Group Reorganisation”).

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the difference between the
aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the
subsidiaries and the nominal amount of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange thereof pursuant to the Group
Reorganisation.

Statutory reserve
The statutory reserve is a reserve required by the relevant laws
in the PRC applicable to a subsidiary in the PRC for enterprise
development purpose.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations which are dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policies as set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme pursuant to a
resolution passed on 31st May, 2013 (“2013 Share Option
Scheme”). Under the 2013 Share Option Scheme, the
Company may grant options to eligible employees and
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for
shares in the Company. Additionally, the Company may, from
time to time, grant share options to outside eligible advisors
and consultants to the Company and its subsidiaries at the
discretion of its board of directors. The purpose of the 2013
Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees,
directors, consultants, advisers and shareholders of the Group
and to promote the success of the business of the Group.

The number of shares which may be issued under the schemes
are subject to the following limits:

(i) the maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the share option scheme
of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of
the total number of issued shares of the Company from
time to time;

(i) without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders,
the total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the share option scheme of the
Company is not permitted to exceed 48,916,830 shares,
representing 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company at the date approving the 2013 Share Option
Scheme; and

(iii)  the number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of such grant.
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Bl R RBREATRALAEEE
T EF ERMKRRREH/RBEINIZB
femieE RN E B X

REZEFIATETZENHEER
THIARIR

(i) REZFFAERARFEMEM
BB IERT BI AT RE IR B A A P OS
REMEE LR AR BB
ARBTHDEITRNDEEZ
30%

(i) FEAREBSARARBRES LA
AT ARIBRERESTEI T RE R LR
RS R2BHDEE  TEHEB
48,916,830k - HE RN £ = =
—=FERETEEBBRAR
AIEEITRAZI0% : &

(i) MER—FRARRERIMALER
HERE LR BN E - ~F
BBARBARZERLAHDH
TERARZ1% -
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24,

25.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable upon acceptance
of the grant of the option. The exercise price is determined by
the directors of the Company and will be at least the higher
of (i) the average of the closing prices of the ordinary shares
of the Company for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of the grant; (ii) the closing price of the
ordinary shares of the Company on the date of the grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of the ordinary shares of the Company.

Any options granted under the scheme must be exercised
during such option period as may be determined and notified
by the directors of the Company, which shall not exceed 10
years from the date of acceptance of the option.

No options have been granted under the 2013 Share Option
Scheme since their adoption.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share
capital and reserves as disclosed in the consolidated financial

statements.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
annually. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
assess the annual budget prepared by management of the
Company. Based on the proposed annual budget, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with capital. The directors of the Company also
balance its overall capital structure through new share issues,
dividend distribution as well as the issue of new debts.
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“No es to the Consolidated

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments

|- Statements (continued)
REMBHRRME o

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—HLLEFE

26. 24T H
(a) &RtTEZEM

2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—%
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Financial assets EHEE
Amortised cost 5 R AN 130,845 134,237
Financial liabilities ot =K
Amortised cost 5 P AN 250,166 257,712

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include other
receivables, bank balances and cash, other payables and
accruals, amounts due to immediate holding company,
an intermediate holding company, ultimate holding
company and loan from immediate holding company.
The risks associated with these financial instruments and
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31st December, 2022 and 2021, carrying amounts
of financial assets represent the maximum exposure to
credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.

TRERAERRQA

(b) &MEMEEBERERBR

AEEZTIEZoRTABSERM
EWHRIA - RITHEBRERES  H
it P& 3R R B RAR - ERAT R
FoHERE ENEEERA
Al —A R EERAF k& RE
BARFELRRAEEERAR
ERME - TXEIINEFSERT
ARz R R KA &I ERRZ
BUR °

15 & 5 Bz 70 5 (B 5F 125
HE_Z-__FR=-FT=_—%F
+-A=+—RH £2REENE
HeEEXEARBRNSZKE
%o NEBEWEIF A EMERD
Sl H fth 15 B 42 58 15 1 LA o 1 L B
HemEERENEERR -
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26. €t T H»
(b) 2RtEMEEEHERBE

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

pOliCiES (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Other receivables and amount due from

an associate

The credit risks on other receivables and amount due
from an associate are limited because the counterparties
have no historical default record and the directors expect
that the general economic conditions will not
significantly change for the 12 months after the
reporting date. Therefore, the credit rating is considered
to be low credit risk and the loss allowance is measured
on 12m ECL basis.

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 and 2021, the
Group assessed the ECL for other receivables and
amount due from an associate are insignificant and thus
no loss allowance was recognised.

In 2022, the Group has no significant concentration of
credit risk regarding other receivables with exposure
spread over a number of counterparties.

Bank balances and cash

The credit risks on bank balances and cash are limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit-
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
Therefore, the credit rating is considered to be low credit
risk and the loss allowance is measured on 12m ECL
basis.

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 and 2021, the
Group assessed the ECL for bank balances and cash
were insignificant and thus no loss allowance was
recognised.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk
regarding bank balances, with exposure spread over a
number of banks.
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea 26. R T B
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) £REAMBEEBERERRER
policies (continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 & /B B 70 ok (B 5F 15 =)
(continued)
Internal credit risk grading assessment A BB 15 A JEL e 5T AR AT A
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment RNEE RN E = A R B 5T ARG
comprises the following categories: BIEATER
Internal
credit rating Description Financial assets
P & 1= A F 4 i it EREE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and 12-month ECL
does not have any past-due amounts

AENS S RHPHFENEARBE BREETNAHSH 128 AEHEERR
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk  Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

since initial recognition through information
developed internally or external resources

-3 BERBERANERAENESIIFERDNS HEHEEERE — REGRRE
RN ERERBEEIEM

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
credit-impaired

& B ERBRAREEFEERRRE ZHEMEEEFE — ERARE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is Amount is written off

in severe financial difficulty and the Group has
no realistic prospect of recovery

B FREBRAGBALRRENSS 2R M
WE - MEAEERAERENRELAR
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinved) 26. €ER T R
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) £REAMBEEBERERRER
pOliCiES (continued) (#)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 & 5 Bz 70 ok (B 5F 125 =)
(continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TRFAMINE T AEENERHE
Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL ENERRRKBO XEHEE
assessment: E BT
External Internal
credit credit
rating rating 12-month or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
ShEB A
EREE EREE 2ERSZNEHGEEER BRELHE
2022 2021
—F--f —ZT-—%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i BETR BETZ
Financial assets at
amortised cost
BEEBATEN
SHMEE
Bank balances and cash 20 (Note) N/A 12-month ECL 130,732 120,625
RITERRRSE (FF3E) el NEARHEEER
Other receivables 19  NA Low risk 12-month ECL 79 73
H & KR TEA igEN NEARHGEERR
Deposits paid 19 NA Low risk 12-month ECL 34 34
EE NS NER BER REAEREEESR
Amount due from an 19 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL — 13,505
associate
JENW— R & A RIRIE NER EWEN A NEARHEEER
Note:  The credit risk is limited because the counterparties are banks and financial M : FERBRER BAHFHREERIN
institutions with high reputation. BITR SRR -
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State me ntS (continued)
BAMBRRME

A Rton SR O

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continvea)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Market risk

(1)

Foreign currency risk management
While most of the Group’s operations are
currencies of the

transacted in the functional

respective group entities, the Group undertakes
certain transactions denominated in foreign
currencies. The Group currently has not formulated
any hedging policies against its exposure to
currency risk. However, the Group manages its
foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the
movement of the foreign currency rate and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency

exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary
assets and monetary liabilities denominated in

26. €t T H»
(b) £RUEMEEHERBER

()
%5 [ Bg
() SN R EE

BEAKB AN ERTS
NESEEERBZEESR
EIT O EAREETET
MHONEFEZRS - A&
ERFETEREERERER
) E E A H R R R

m AEEEBEIEE
S [E R B B IR B AMNES
B YR ERERE
BEIHEAINE AR

AEBUAINEAE(BREE
B REERER(ER

foreign currencies (HK$, Mongolia Tughrik (“MNT") BR)RARE)ZEHKE
and RMB) at end of both reporting periods are as EREEBERMERS
follows: HRZEEENT :
HK$ MNT RMB
B E#ER ARE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
As at 31st December, 2022 Ww=-—®|=-Z=
+=-A=+—H
Assets BE 3,571 — 26,805
Liabilities BfE 227,670 17,635 318
As at 31st December, 2021 R-ZE-—%F
+=—A=+—8
Assets BE 5,698 2,986 485
Liabilities BE 238,363 18,575 —
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DT
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity T 5% 5 40 AR RR AN & B ¥ 48
to a 5% (2021: 5%) increase and decrease in the EES @?ﬁ%ﬁ’]lﬁ“b%ﬁ’fﬁmﬁ
functional currencies of the relevant group entities HEINERS% (2 = —
against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2021: F 5% )M B RE -
5%) represents management’s assessment of the 5% (ZZE = —F:5%)R
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange *EREHERSIEA A
rates. o & B R AT A o
FZBIBR AR AR

—To—F5FH% 169
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

26. €t T H»
(b) 2RtEMEEEHERBE

pOliCiES (continued) (#&)

Market risk (continued) ﬂ'f%n&?ﬂ’)

() Foreign currency risk management (ontinued) () SNEE B B FE )
Sensitivity analysis (continued) BRRE D)
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding BRESNEBRFEREER

foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at end of reporting period
for a 5% (2021: 5%) change in foreign currency
rates. A positive number below indicates an
increase in post-tax profits for the year where the

MIAINESENE B IR
B UaE®REHARFAREA
BmE - NS E KR E
5% (=T = —%F :5%)-°
AT E#ERRF AR K G

Figh HPEAEEE
BEH T g B AR E A M S
BN T5% (2T = —
F:5%) - WEBEEE
M B X AEINE
be an equal and opposite impact on the result for B B5% (= T — — F:
the year. 5%) Blg i FNERE
FREERNTE -

functional currencies of the relevant group entities
strengthen 5% (2021: 5%) against the relevant
currency. For a 5% (2021: 5%) weakening of the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities
against the relevant foreign currency, there would

2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—%

HK$'000 HK$'000

EETR BT T

HK$ oo 9,356 9,714
MNT BER 736 651

RMB AR (1,106) (20)

EFERARAFEHRR
By E th B R - iRIT A B
D/()Siiﬁ/i\‘fﬁﬁamﬁ %

AIRIERREEEZER
company denominated at the end of the reporting 7 WERFERE 5&5’]
period. W B PR o

This is mainly attributable to the exposure
outstanding on other receivables, bank balances
and cash, amount due to ultimate holding
company and loan from immediate holding
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continvea)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(1)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to loan from immediate holding
company (see Note 29(b) for details) in 2021. The
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR. The
Group manages its interest rate exposures by
assessing the potential impact arising from any
interest rate movements based on interest rate level
and outlook. The management will review the
proportion of borrowings in fixed and floating rates
and ensure they are within reasonable range.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
interest

based on the exposure to rates for

variable-rate bank borrowings. The analysis is
liability
outstanding at the end of the reporting period was
existed for the whole year. A 50 (2021: 50
points

management’s assessment of the

prepared assuming the amount of

) basis

increase or decrease represents
reasonably

possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 (2021: 50) basis
points higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group's post-tax profit for the
year ended 31st December, 2022 would have
increased/decreased by HK$910,000 (2021:
increased/decreased by HK$2,138,000)

26. €t T H»
(b) £RUEMEEHERBER

(%)

45 B B )

(11)

TRERAERRQA

T 3 & g
K%IF_Y_—ﬁﬁx
EHEERZERARIER (G
RKIEE29(b)) » REEAIR
eRmENERBFEER
E?%ﬁTH%ﬁEW&
g o AEBEREF EKF
KAT R AR A R EH)
EENEETEXRERA
FlEREBR BEEERESE
IE*'JTW/%EJJ?T'J < &R
LBl WHEREESE
#HERA o

BRRE D
PATT U E 5 17 2 AR 0%
@ﬂzﬁﬁ%%mﬂﬁﬂ

SHETH - DM EBRZRN
AEEHRNOKREEER

SHEEFERE2FHNRER
EeEP - EEELHAN
AR bMFTEE
SOfE BB IR (ZFE = —
& SoMEER) -

R FE EF T BES0ME
AM(ZT = —F:50
@) - I B FTH A&
RETE AAEEEE
- _F+=ZA=+-—
HIEFENT %R (S
B mm DB
910,000 (=T = — F :
0, A 7 #2,138,000
TT) °

—z-——5FH% 17



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontined
REVBRBRHEE @

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #H & = IS SR = S B

26. €t T H»
(b) 2RtEMEEEHERBE

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

pOliCiES (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of the
Company, the directors of the Company have given
careful consideration to the future liquidity of the Group
in light of the fact that the Group incurred a net profit
of HK$80,843,000 for the year ended 31st December,
2022 and as of that date, the Group had net current
assets of HK$134,991,000.

The directors of the Company have performed an
assessment of the Group’s future liquidity, cash flows,
and available unutilised short-term banking facilities.

The directors of the Company consider that the Group
will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations for at
least the next twelve months from the date of approval
of the consolidated financial statements.
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continvea 26. €T H»
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) £REAMBEEBERERRER
policies (continued) (&)
LiQUidity risk (continued) %Ef%ﬁﬁﬂﬁ(@)
Weighted On demand or Total
average less than undiscounted Carrying amount

interest rate 3 months 4-12 months  1-2 years  2-5 years  cash flows at 31.12.2022

k- et
i &R mE i +-A=+-A8
THHE  PR=MER +-ER -E@E WELE ReRESH FRE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R BETT BETT BETR  BETR BETT BETT
2022 —E-CE
Non-derivative instruments ~ FE#TET 8
Other payables and accruals H o e B R EE R N/A
TER 27,765 - - - 27,765 21,765
Amount due to immediate ERERERARANA N/A
holding company TER 519 - - - 519 519
Amount due to an intermediate & — R /iR AR N/A
holding company REFIE TER 1,905 — — - 1,905 1,905
Amount due to ultimate holding & — & &} N/A
company RARFRE RER 1977 - - - 1977 1,977
Loan from immediate holding ~ KA EZERAFNER
company 3.95 3,104 42,516 187,889 - 233,509 218,000
35,270 42,516 187,889 — 265,675 250,166
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 26. QEEIE%?)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) £REAMBEEBERERRER
pOliCiES (continued) (#&)
LiQUidity risk (continuea) ;}ﬁﬂgﬁﬁﬂﬁ(@
Weighted On demand or Total
average less than undiscounted  Carrying amount

interest rate 3 months  4-12 months ~ 1-2 years  2-5 years cash flows at 31.12.2021

—EC-—F
i RE% nzE AHB +tZA=T-8
FHHE SRR +ZdR —ZMF MELF HeREAH FEE
% HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BAL BETT BETT AT ABTr BETT BETT
2021 —E--F
Non-derivative instruments FHETR
Other payables and accruals H A B RROB R JE AT RK N/A
EN 1 23,600 - - - 23,600 23,600
Amount due to immediate EREZERARNE N/A
holding company TER 232 — — — 232 232
Amount due to an intermediate [E{S — RN R N/A
holding company NGE THEA 1,903 — — — 1,903 1,903
Amount due to ultimate holding & — i & & ]} N/A
company INSE S THEA 1,977 — — — 1,977 1,977
Loan from immediate holding ~ K EAEZERATNER
company 252 1428 16307 41324 185740 244,799 230,000
29,140 16307 4134 185,740 272,50 257,712
(c) Fair value measurement of financial (c) ERMTHZAFEHEE
instruments
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities TREERCREBEZATETD
are determined in accordance with generally accepted NBFIRIR S REN T AEERE
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis. EBARZIEBEAET -
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying AKRBIEERE NEEYVHEHR
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities KANIREHEAART Rz 2REE
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial kemaEREERARNTEE
statements approximate to their fair values. e
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Hong Kong

Effective from 1st December, 2000, the Group has participated
in a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
for all its eligible employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme
is registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the control of an
independent trustee. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at rates specified in the rules. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme
is to make the required contributions under the scheme. No
forfeited contributions are available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years.

Mongolia

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the
Mongolia, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes (“the Schemes”) organised by the
Government of Mongolia whereby the Group is required to
make contributions to the Schemes at a rate of 11%-13.5%
of the eligible employees’ salaries. Contributions to the
Schemes vest immediately. Any forfeited contributions may not
be used by the employer to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

PRC

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the
Company’'s PRC subsidiary is required to participate in a
defined contribution retirement scheme administrated by the
local municipal government. The Group’s PRC subsidiary
contribute funds which are calculated on certain percentage of
the average employee salary as agreed by local municipal
government to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits of
the employees. The principal obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme. Any forfeited
contributions may not be used by the employer to reduce the
existing level of contributions.

Overall

During the year, the total amount contributed by the Group to
the relevant retirement benefit schemes is HK$1,108,000
(2021: HK$1,470,000).

State me ntS (continued)
BAMBRRME

" For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_A=+—HLEFE

27. IRREFET 21

&

AEEH _ZTEEF+_A-—BER
EREMABAEREES B AR
Mot E(TRESFTE] - BE
DERTEIRIB R G QB2 5 B GRHIE
BREEATEEFEETEBEM - ®E
TR CEERBILETAES &
AEEZEENHABE REBRES
AEZARR - BEREEBERBAR
MAEEZ L R EMEL R &
SERRESFERAZE-BEEIR
RIBAEMERABHR - NREEME
282 U R AR P R R E AT 2 it

=
e

E 3]

REBREZHEE TERRRM - K
SE2EILTBAEMR 2 EBAHERER
KEMAE(ZEFE]D Bt A
SEBERCERBEFEZZNNE
13.5% A% FaT B fFHEHR - M ER
FZHRHASHRE - B TFHH
AT 2R WA KRR IR B R KF

&

REBEFBEMERERLEAR  ARRHE
RESEANFRRLAZ MBI T
B EENEEETENRTE - N
EOREEATFRARAREBBRERE
MBE T ¥ TEN— Bl Akt &
R AR INERE - AEE
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B
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28. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED 28. ZFEBRERERMEE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing METHMELEEBENED
activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TRV ASEREETHMELEARE
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- WEHFE BRAESRFER
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are Ho-METHMELAGENRERSE
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, PR BERAEEEERERER
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows AN BERKEMESTHNEESRE °

as cash flows from financing activities.

Amount Amount due
due to an Amount due to a joint operator Loan from Interests payable
intermediate  to ultimate holding Amounts due to (included in  immediate holding (included in
holding company company fellow subsidiaries other payables) company Lease liability other payables)  Bank borrowings
EfaE
EBWES
Ef-H Ef&E ERAZ HE REER ERHE
PR BRAE KEAT (FFARAE BRAE (BfERE
ATRE HE HE ER7E S¢S RERR EHAE RITER
HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
LS EL R EL R EL R EL R EL S EL S EL A
As at 1st January, 2021 R=®z-%-F-8 1692 1977 140 16,960 - m 63 28,125
Changes from financing cash BARSRELY:
flows:
Interest paid — — — — — — (5,476) -
Repayments of borrowings — — — — — — — (285,497)
New borrowing from immediate BRRRADMHER
holding company — — — — 230,000 — — —
Repayments to fellow subsidiaries R AN B2 AER - - (140) - - - - -
Repayments to a joint operator AEERER - - - (644) - - - -
Interest elements of lease rental paid B fEEREHF|SHH - - - - - vl - -
Capital elements of lease rental paid 2 HEEREHERHS - - - - - (17 - -
Other changes: £ge:
Exchange differences EfZE 11 - - 95 - - - -
Early termination REA) - - - - - ) - -
Finance costs BEER - - - - - 2 6,460 -
Front-end fees amortisation L& 34 - - - - - - - 331
As at 31st December, 2021 R-Bz-£
+ZR=t-8 1,903 1977 - 16,411 230,000 - 1,047 -
Changes from financing cash HERSRELY:
flows:
Interest paid 278 - - - - - - (7,120) -
Repayments of borrowings ERER - - - - (12,000 - - -
Advance from a joint operator RE-2A87H55 - - - 1,405 - - - -
Other changes: £gs:
Exchange differences EiZR 2 - - - - - - -
Finance costs HBER - - - - - - 8,602 —
As at 31st December, 2022 Ak Juba: 3
+ZR=t-8 1,905 1977 — 17816 218,000 - 2529 -
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‘Notesto the Consolidated |

iéi State me ntS (continued)
BAMBRRME

_ > “For the year ended 31st December, 2022 BZE-ZE- -~ +-A=+—BLLFE

28. ZFERERERMTE
HERSRHESE

28. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continved)
Total cash outflow for leases
During the period, the total cash outflow for leases including R -aEREAEEANEERS
short-term leases amounted to approximately HK$376,000 AR B 4B #376,000L (= F
(2021: HK$771,000). All lease payments of the Group are — 4 #HET771,0000T) c NEBEFTA
fixed. HEMREEREE -

29.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The following transactions and balances were entered into

during the year or outstanding at end of reporting period

respectively.

29.

BAER W=

AT RZ REHRD IR FRNET LK

N
R
N

WEHREREER -

(a) Amounts due to immediate holding (a) EFf—EBEEERATR
company, an intermediate holding E —RBYdPEERATR
company and ultimate holding company ERRBERATIRIE
The amount due to an intermediate holding company is FENR— A EERA G RIALE
denominated in USD. The amounts due to immediate TLHE o BN —BEEER AR
holding company and ultimate holding company are FRIB R B AT R A B SRIB LA B #E
denominated in HK$. All these balances are unsecured, HE MEHAEER 2ER
interest-free and repayable on demand. BIRERKEE -

(b) Loan from immediate holding company (b) REEEERATIHNER

2022 2021
—_E-= —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR ok e
Loan from immediate holding company 7K & & # %M 2 & &
=E 218,000 230,000
Less: Current portion of loan B B BENEAE o (36,000) (12,000)
Non-current portion of loan ERGERNEE 182,000 218,000
The loan was denominated in HK$, unsecured, interest ZERNBEE BEER &
bearing at HIBOR+2.45% per annum and repayable as R EHIBOR+2.45%+H 8 - AR
follows: AT R EE
HK$'000
ST T
Within 1 year —FN 36,000
Between 1 year and 2 years —FEMERN 182,000
218,000
hRERERAN —Z-—F#% 177



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (ontineq

SAMBERME o

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #HE-_T-_—_F+-_A=+—HIFE

29. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continved) 29. BHEH I EE o
(b) Loan from immediate holding company (b) REEEERATIHNER

(continued) (#&)
The directors of the Company considered that the RARESERAE BEEERAA

carrying amount of loan from immediate holding MEREHEREAFEES -

company approximate to the fair values.

The interest payable in relation to the loan from MIRBEETERARNERER

immediate holding company was recognised in the B A B [ E SR IE K B BT
“Other payables and accruals”. RERIAMER °
(c) Remuneration of directors and other (c) EERHBFTEEHEMN
members of key management EZiMe
The remuneration of directors and other members of key FAESREMFTETEERKE
management during the year was as follows: ZHMenT
2022 2021
—Fg=-= —E2-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETR BT T
Short-term benefits %2 HA 4@ A 5,370 5,199
Post-employment benefits RIKIE1E T 211 241
5,581 5,440

FHEZEEERESRETETH
ABZERRBRMIZEBHEE
EREZH M -

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market

trends.
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‘Notes to the Consolidated Financial :Statements )
' REVKBERMT @

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—HLLEFE

29. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (onined) 29. BEFIEE

(d) Other related party transactions (d) HEMEAEARS

Nature of transactions Name of related companies 2022 2021

XHHE BB A B &M —F=-= —E-—fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
EBTR BT T

Trading of uranium? Intermediate holding company 205,764 —

BE AR Rl /NC]

Commission income Subsidiary of intermediate

from uranium purchase* holding company 14,224 —

KB #hER S B A & A SIS NI NG

Rental expenses Fellow subsidiaries 441 449

HeRx CES )= WG]

Rental expenses Immediate holding company 284 231

He X HEERRQA

Loan interest expenses Immediate holding company 8,602 1,047

ERMEFX BHEERAA

* The related party transactions constitute a disclosed continuing connected # FEARHERBRESF ETARAE

transaction as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the BZATHERBERERS -

Stock Exchange.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontined
REVBRBRHEE @

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #HE-_T-_—_F+-_A=+—HIFE

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 30. KATMBIRAR REHER
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) NBEWREATMFER
Company at end of reporting period S
2022 2021
—g=-= T —fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT 7T T
Non-current assets FERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHBARZEE 60,010 60,010
Amount due from a subsidiary NG S 242,223 396,003
302,233 456,013
Current assets mENEE
Other receivables and prepayments H b E SR IE A
T8I RIE 151 151
Prepaid tax SCANE TN — 229
Bank balances and cash WITHEHR LR 3,038 1,805
3,189 2,185
Current liabilities mEaE
Other payables and accruals H b B RIBIA R
FEFT R R 3,934 3,377
Amount due to a subsidiary FE A — R BT B A A
KIB 171,302 170,167
175,236 173,544
Net current liabilities mEaEFE (172,047) (171,359)
Net assets BEFE 130,186 284,654
Capital and reserves B AR K 1
Share capital [N 4,892 4,892
Share premium and reserves &% 17 4 (B I & 18 125,294 279,762
130,186 284,654
On behalf of the directors REEZER
Wang Cheng Zhang Yi
2 R
Director Director
EZE EZE
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“Notes to the Consolidated i'él' Stétements )
REMHBRMET «

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—HLLEFE

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 30. AT MBRARFEER

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continuea) (#)
(b) Statement of changes in equity (b) HEREBER
Non-
Share Share Capital distributable Translation Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total

k% Rihg® A%EG TUSREE RERE  RHER it
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
EETL BT  RMTRT  B%TR BT RETR  B¥Tx

At 1st January, 2021 WZE-—%
—-A—A 4,892 868,805 30,748 98,291 2,308 (718,679) 286,365
Profit for the year FRRET — — — — — 244 244
Exchange differences arising HBEMEEL 7 ERZH
on translation — — — — (1,955) — (1,955)
At 31st December, 2021 R-ZZ--%
+-A=+-H 4,892 868,805 30,748 98,291 353 (718,435) 284,654
Loss for the year FRER - - — — — (153,974)  (153,974)
Exchange differences arising MEMEEZERZH
on translation — — — — (494) — (494)

At 31st December, 2022 i
+-A=1+-H 4,892 868,805 30,748 98,291 (141) (872,409) 130,186
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (ontineq
REKBERME

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 #HE-_T-_—_F+-_A=+—HIFE

31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 31. A A TIM B AT H1E

COMPANY
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at end of both reporting RWREHREER A2 Z2MBE QT
periods are as follows: HBWT
Issued and Proportion of ownership
Name of Place of Place of fully paid share/ interest/voting power Principal
subsidiary incorporation operation registered capital held by the Company activities
ERTRAR FAERAEES/
WBARER AR H EENY i/ #RRE RERZILE IERH
Directly Indirectly
E& R
2022 2021 2022 2021
—%-Cf -T--% ZBICZE -—ZT--%
% % % %
China Nuclear International ~ British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 - — Trading of uranium
Corporation ("BVI") US$50,000
PRERERERAT EERLES B LB BRE£50,0007 #E5
CNNC (HK) Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 - —  Investment holding
HK$10,000
% (EB) Bk Bk L3 R8%10,0007T RERR
CNNC International Holdings ~ PRC PRC Registered capital 100 100 - — Dormant
(Shenzhen) Limited (Note (i)) HK$60,000,000
FHERER(RINERLA #8 HE HMEAAEE FER
(FEE() 60,000,0007T
deal Mining BVI Hong Kong Registered capital 100 100 - — Investment holding
US$50,000
BEEXARAA EBRRES B i1 & 2% £50,0007 RERR
Western Fortune Limited Labuan, Malaysia Labuan, Malaysia Registered capital 100 100 - — Investment holding
US$100

SRAREABHEARLD BRAEME SRASME  EMEAEL100T

Emeelt Mines LLC Mongolia Mongolia Registered capital - —
US$10,000

Emeelt Mines LLC 5t £ HMERE£10,0007

Notes: ft &

(i) CNNC International Holdings (Shenzhen) Limited is a wholly foreign owned enterprise (i)

established in the PRC.

(ii) None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of 2022 and 2021. (ii)
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100 100 Mineral exploration in the
Mongolia

REHRR

PRE B CRYID BR AR REP BRI
[BE RS
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Notesto the Consolidated Financial Statements (onines

REMBRRME @

For the year ended 31st December, 2022 HE-ZZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—HIEFE

32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 32. EFRKiIE
As at 31st December, 2022 and 2021, the Group had no RZEBEZZFRZFE=_—F+=A8
significant capital commitments. =+—H FEEHEERERNAE-
33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 33. FARER
As at 31st December, 2022 and 2021, the Group had no RZE-_—_FR-_ZT-_—F+_H
significant contingent liabilities. =t—B FAEERESAIAEE -
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Financial Summary

BRE

Set out below is a financial summary of the Group for each of the

five years ended 31st December, 2022:

UWTEHIWAEFEE T -_—_F+=A4

ST HALAEFESEFZHBEHME

RESULTS ¥4
For the year ended 31st December,
BE+-RA=t-HL%EE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
ZT-N\F ZT-NE e 3 —EI-F k- et 2
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BRI
(Re-presented)
(aE5)
Revenue W& 1,992,052 3,169,836 662,994 280,639 905,730
Profit (loss) before tax BRAER (BR) 4292 (217,406) (7,038) 4978 88,090
Income tax expense (credit) FERAL(E2) 19,321 (1,917) (2,553) (2,589) (7.247)
Profit (loss) for the year EREF (EB)
From continuing operations RERELEEHR 23613 (219,323) (9,591) 622 80,843
From discontinued operation REERIEE2EH — — (36,506) 1,767 -
23,613 (219,323) (46,097) 2,389 80,843
Earnings (loss) per share FREH(BE)
— Basic (HK cents) — ERCEN)
From continuing operations KREREQGEER 48 (44.8) 2.0 0.1 16.5
From discontinued operation RACKIEEZEE - - (7.4) 0.4 -
4.8 (44.8) (9.4) 0.5 16.5
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAEE
As at 31st December,
R+=-A=t+-8
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
ZT-N\E ZT-NE e 33 ZE--F k- oot 2
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BRI
Total assets BEE 610,767 1,147,144 617,854 592,671 646,926
Total liabilities BERE (44,073) (812,222) (308,787) (258,016) (255,318)
Equity attributable to owners of NG ON
the Company En 566,694 334,922 309,067 334,655 391,608

Note:  The figures for the years 2020 and 2021 are for the Group’s continuing operations and exclude Mid: —FT-TER-TZ-ENEFTDHALAEEFELCE
WHIRAREEEEBOERT  MEMFHRERE

RERDERIEEENET -

the figures relating to Supply Chain Business, while the other years include figures for both
continuing and discontinued operations.
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